A SUSTAINABLE MUNICIPAL GIS STUDY WITH URBAN DESIGN CRITERIA AND POLICY

KENTSEL TASARIM KRİTERLERİ VE POLİTİKASI İLE SÜRDÜRÜLEBİLİR BİR BELEDİYE CBS ÇALIŞMASI

MURAT BAŞEĞMEZ

PROF. DR CEVDET COŞKUN AYDIN

Supervisor

Submitted to

Graduate School of Science and Engineering of Hacettepe University as a Partial Fulfillment to the Requirements for the Award of the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

in Geomatics Engineering

2024

To my beloved wife and son, Selva and Ömer Ertuğrul BAŞEĞMEZ, Infinite love and boundless joy, our journey together is my greatest treasure.

ABSTRACT

A SUSTAINABLE MUNICIPAL GIS STUDY WITH URBAN DESIGN CRITERIA AND POLICY

Murat BAŞEĞMEZ

Doctor of Philosophy, Department of Geomatics Engineering Supervisor: Prof. Dr. Cevdet Coşkun AYDIN

June 2024, 135 pages

The escalating population in urban areas underscores the critical importance of managing and planning cities effectively. Ensuring the sustainability of cities and creating livable spaces for people necessitates the planning or improvement of cities based on objective criteria and needs analyses. Since cities are communal spaces shared by all their inhabitants, planning according to urban design criteria is essential for enhancing the livability of cities. The consideration of numerous criteria in urban planning directly influences the decision-making processes of planners. The integration of Geographic Information System (GIS) and Multi-Criteria Decision Making (MCDM) methods into a Municipal GIS (MGIS) model presents an effective approach for addressing emerging issues and conducting planning based on objective criteria. This study aims to develop an efficient urban planning and management model, MGIS, by utilizing GIS and MCDM methods together, and employing the Game Theory method to minimize the differences among selected MCDM methods. Within this context, urban design criteria identified for this study have been analyzed using the Analytical Hierarchy Process (AHP), Entropy Weight Method (EWM), Game Theory, and Weighted Linear Combination (WLC) methods, and applied in the Konak district of Izmir. Furthermore, to enable local governments to manage their limited resources effectively, identify areas for investment, and rank these areas according to their importance, the Technique for Order of Preference by Similarity to Ideal Solution (TOPSIS) method has been integrated into the MGIS model. The findings of the study reveal that the proportion of the most livable areas in the application site is 17.92% according to the AHP method, 19.86% according to the EWM method, and 18.67% according to Game Theory. The weighted ranking by AHP and Game Theory identified the primary investment area as I_12, whereas the EWM method indicated this area as I_9. In the equal-weighted ranking, I_9 was determined to be the most prioritized investment area across all methods.

Keywords: GIS, MGIS, MCDM Methods; Game Theory, Urban Design

ÖZET

KENTSEL TASARIM KRİTERLERİ VE POLİTİKASI İLE SÜRDÜRÜLEBİLİR BİR BELEDİYE CBS ÇALIŞMASI

Murat BAŞEĞMEZ

Doktora, Geomatik Mühendisligi Bölümü Tez Danışmanı: Prof. Dr. Cevdet Coşkun AYDIN Haziran 2024, 135 sayfa

Kentlerin artan nüfusuyla birlikte ortaya çıkan sorunlar, kentlerin yönetilebilmesinin ve planlanabilmesinin önemini ortaya koymaktadır. Kentlerin sürdürülebilirliğinin sağlanması ve insanlara yaşanabilir alanların oluşturulabilmesi için kentlerin nesnel kriterlere ve ihtiyaç analizlerine göre planlanması ya da iyileştirilmesi hayati önem taşımaktadır. Şehirler, bu alanlarda yaşayan tüm insanların ortak paylaşım alanları olduğu için planlamada kent tasarım kriterlerine göre bir planlanmasının yapılması kentlerin yaşanabilirlik seviyelerinin arttırılması için gerekli bir unsurdur. Kentlerin planlanmasında birçok kriterin dikkate alınması plan yapıcıların karar süreçlerini doğrudan etkilemektedir. Geographic Information System (GIS) and Multi-Criteria Decision Making (MCDM) yöntemlerinin entegre edildiği Municipal GIS (MGIS) modelinin planlamalarda uygulanması, ortaya çıkan sorunların ortadan kaldırılması ve nesnel kriterlere dayalı planlama yapılması için etkili bir yöntem oluşturmaktadır. Bu çalışma GIS ile MCDM yöntemlerinin bir arada kullanıldığı ve seçilen MCDM yöntemleri arasındaki farkı azaltan Game Theory yöntemiyle etkin bir kent planlama ve yönetim modeli olan MGIS'in oluşturulmasını amaçlanmaktadır. Bu kapsamda belirlenen kent tasarım kriterleri Analytical Hierarchy Process (AHP), Entropy Weight Method (EWM), Game Theory, and Weighted Linear Combination (WLC) yöntemleriyle birlikte analiz edilerek İzmir'in Konak ilçesinde uygulanmıştır. Ayrıca yerel yönetimlerin sınırlı kaynaklarını etkin şekilde yönetebilmek, yatırım yapabilecek alanların tespitlerini sağlamak ve bu alanların önem derecelerine göre sıralamalarının yapılabilmesi için MGIS modeline entegre olan The Technique for Order of Preference by Similarity to Ideal Solution (TOPSIS) yöntemi uygulanmıştır. Çalışma sonucunda; uygulama alanındaki en yaşanabilir alanlarının oranının AHP yöntemine göre %17,92, EWM yöntemine göre %19,86 ve Game Theory yöntemine göre ise %18,67 olduğu tespit edilmiştir. AHP ve Game Theory'nin ağırlıklı sıralamasında en öncelikli yatırım alanının I_12 yatırım alanı olduğu belirlenmiştir. EWM yönteminde ise bu alanın I_9 olduğu görülmüştür. Eşit ağırlıklı sıralamada ise I_9 yatırım alanının tüm yöntemlere göre en öncelikli yatırım alanı olduğu tespit edilmiştir.

Anahtar Kelimeler: GIS, MGIS, MCDM Yöntemleri; Game Theory, Kent Tasarımı

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First of all, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor, Prof. Dr. Cevdet Coşkun AYDIN, for his guidance, support, and encouragement throughout my thesis studies. At every stage of this thesis, he supported me with his knowledge, experience, and motivation.

I would like to thank my thesis committee members, Prof. Dr. Fevzi KARSLI, Prof. Dr. Mehmet ALKAN, Prof. Dr. Oğuz GÜNGÖR, and Assoc. Prof. Berk ANBAROĞLU, for their valuable suggestions, comments, and contributions.

I wish to extend my thanks to all colleagues at the Department of Geomatics Engineering for their support and collaborations.

Finally, a special thank goes to my wife, Selva, for her endless support, tolerance, and love throughout this thesis. I would not complete this thesis without her support and encouragement. I also would like to thank my son and family for their unconditional love and support.

Murat BAŞEĞMEZ

June 2024, Ankara

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	i
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	v
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vi
LIST OF FIGURES	viii
LIST OF TABLES	ix
ABBREVIATIONS	xiii
1. INTRODUCTION	1
2. URBAN DESIGN	5
3. URBAN DESIGN PRACTICE	9
4. MATERIAL AND METHOD	11
4.1. Study Area	11
4.2. Data	12
4.3. Database Design	15
4.4. Determination of Criteria	20
4.4.1. Walkability	20
4.4.2. Transportation	
4.4.3. Connectivity	24
4.4.4. Climate Change	
4.4.5. Environment	
4.5. MCDM Methods	
4.5.1. AHP	
4.5.2. EWM	
4.5.3. Game Theory	
4.5.4. WLC	
4.5.5. TOPSIS	
4.6. Definition of Models for The Concept of MGIS	
4.6.1. GIS	
4.6.2. MGIS	41
4.6.3. Design of Model	51

5. APPLICATION STAGE	. 53
5.1. Determination of Criteria Weights with AHP	. 53
5.2. Determination of Criteria Weights with EWM	. 58
5.3. Determination of Criteria Weights with Game Theory	. 61
5.4. Analysis	. 65
6. RESULTS	. 72
6.1. Evaluation of MGIS Solution Model with AHP	. 72
6.2. Evaluation of MGIS Solution Model with EWM	. 73
6.3. Evaluation of MGIS Solution Model with Game Theory	. 74
6.4. Comparison of AHP and EWM Methods in MGIS Solution Model	. 75
6.5. Comparison of AHP and Game Theory Methods in MGIS Solution Model	. 77
6.6. Comparison of EWM and Game Theory Methods in MGIS Solution Model	. 79
6.7. Ranking of Investment Sites with TOPSIS	. 81
7. CONCLUSIONS	. 99
8. COMMENT	102
9. REFERENCES	104
ATTACHMENTS	136
APPENDIX 1 – SURVEYS	136
APPENDIX 2 - PUBLICATIONS DERIVED FROM THE DISSERTATION	137
APPENDIX 3 - DISSERTATION ORIGINALITY REPORT	138
CURRICULUM VITAE	139

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Importance of urban structure generally in meeting some criteria	10
Figure 2. Study area	12
Figure 3. Database design	15
Figure 4. Design of MGIS solution model	52
Figure 5. AHP hierarchy	54
Figure 6. Suitability maps (C ₁₋₄)	66
Figure 7. Suitability maps (C ₅₋₈)	66
Figure 8. Suitability maps (C9-11)	67
Figure 9. Suitability maps (C ₁₂₋₁₄)	67
Figure 10. Suitability maps (C ₁₅₋₁₇)	68
Figure 11. Suitability maps (C ₁₈₋₂₁ ; C ₂₂₋₂₅)	68
Figure 12. Suitability maps (C ₂₆₋₂₉)	69
Figure 13. Suitability maps (C ₃₀₋₃₄)	70
Figure 14. Decision maps	71
Figure 15. Alternative investment sites map (AHP)	81
Figure 16. Alternative investment sites map (EWM)	82
Figure 17. Alternative investment sites map (Game Theory)	82
Figure 18. Compare of investment sites' rankings with different methods	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Objectives of urban design	.7
Table 2. Urban design issues	.9
Table 3. Urban design criteria used in the application 1	12
Table 4. Layers of data used in the application 1	13
Table 4. Layers of data used in the application (continue)	14
Table 5. Criteria and sub-criteria 1	15
Table 5. Criteria and sub-criteria (continue)1	16
Table 5. Criteria and sub-criteria (continue)1	17
Table 5. Criteria and sub-criteria (continue)1	18
Table 5. Criteria and sub-criteria (continue)1	19
Table 5. Criteria and sub-criteria (continue)	20
Table 6. The sub-criteria of walkability2	21
Table 6. The sub-criteria of walkability (continue) 2	22
Table 7. The sub-criteria of transportation 2	24
Table 8. The sub-criteria of connectivity	26
Table 9. The sub-criteria of climate change 2	28
Table 10. The sub-criteria of environment	30
Table 11. AHP importance scale	31
Table 11. AHP importance scale (continue)	32
Table 12. GIS applications used in local governments	12
Table 12. GIS applications used in local governments (continue) 4	13
Table 12. GIS applications used in local governments (continue) 4	14
Table 12. GIS applications used in local governments (continue) 4	15
Table 12. GIS applications used in local governments (continue) 4	16
Table 12. GIS applications used in local governments (continue) 4	17
Table 13. Benefits and implementation costs of GIS in city management	18
Table 13. Benefits and implementation costs of GIS in city management (continue) 4	19
Table 13. Benefits and implementation costs of GIS in city management (continue) 5	50
Table 14. The pairwise comparisons matrix of groups	55
Table 15. The pairwise comparisons matrix of walkability sub-criteria 5	55
Table 16. The pairwise comparisons matrix of environment sub-criteria	56

Table 17. The pairwise comparisons matrix of connectivity sub-criteria50	б
Table 18. The pairwise comparisons matrix of transportation sub-criteria50	б
Table 19. The pairwise comparisons matrix of climate change sub-criteria57	7
Table 20. The weight of criteria according to AHP 57	7
Table 20. The weight of criteria according to AHP (continue)	8
Table 21. The pairwise comparisons matrix of groups 58	8
Table 22. The pairwise comparisons matrix of walkability sub-criteria	9
Table 23. The pairwise comparisons matrix of environment sub-criteria	9
Table 24. The pairwise comparisons matrix of connectivity sub-criteria	9
Table 25. The pairwise comparisons matrix of transportation sub-criteria	0
Table 26. The pairwise comparisons matrix of climate change sub-criteria	0
Table 27. The weight of criteria according to EWM	0
Table 27. The weight of criteria according to EWM (continue)	1
Table 28. The weight of groups 62	2
Table 29. The weight of walkability sub-criteria	2
Table 30. The pairwise comparisons matrix of environment sub-criteria	2
Table 31. The pairwise comparisons matrix of connectivity sub-criteria	3
Table 32. The pairwise comparisons matrix of transportation sub-criteria	3
Table 33. The pairwise comparisons matrix of climate change sub-criteria	3
Table 34. The weight of criteria according to AHP, EWM, and Game Theory	3
Table 34. The weight of criteria according to AHP, EWM, and Game Theory (continue	;)
	4
Table 34. The weight of criteria according to AHP, EWM, and Game Theory (continue	;)
6	5
Table 35. Area analysis of AHP and EWM decision maps according to their suitable	e
values7'	7
Table 36. Area analysis of AHP and Game Theory decision maps according to their	r
suitable values	8
Table 37. Area analysis of EWM and Game Theory decision maps according to their	r
suitable values	0
Table 38. Alternative investment sites' values according to pixel values with AHI	Р
(Walkability)82	3

Table 39. Alternative investment sites' values according to pixel values with AHP
(Environment)
Table 40. Alternative investment sites' values according to pixel values with AHP
(Connectivity)
Table 41. Alternative investment sites' values according to pixel values with AHP
(Transportation) (continue)
Table 42. Alternative investment sites' values according to pixel values with AHP 85
(Climate Change)
Table 43. Alternative investment sites' values according to pixel values with EWM
(Walkability)
Table 44. Alternative investment sites' values according to pixel values with EWM
(Environment)
Table 44. Alternative investment sites' values according to pixel values with EWM
(Environment) (continue)
Table 45. Alternative investment sites' values according to pixel values with EWM
(Connectivity)
Table 46. Alternative investment sites' values according to pixel values with EWM
(Transportation)
Table 47. Alternative investment sites' values according to pixel values with EWM 88
(Climate Change)
Table 47. Alternative investment sites' values according to pixel values with EWM 89
(Climate Change) (continue)
Table 48. Alternative investment sites' values according to pixel values with Game
Theory (Walkability)
Table 49. Alternative investment sites' values according to pixel values with Game
Theory (Environment)90
Table 50. Alternative investment sites' values according to pixel values with Game
Theory (Connectivity)90
Table 50. Alternative investment sites' values according to pixel values with Game
Theory (Connectivity) (continue)
Table 51. Alternative investment sites' values according to pixel values with Game
Theory (Transportation)91

Table 52. Alternative investment sites' values according to pixel values with Game
Theory (Climate Change)92
Table 53. Alternative investment sites' values according to equal weights (AHP)93
Table 54. Alternative investment sites' values according to AHP weights
Table 54. Alternative investment sites' values according to AHP weights (continue)94
Table 55. Alternative investment sites' values according to equal weights (EWM)94
Table 56. Alternative investment sites' values according to EWM weights
Table 56. Alternative investment sites' values according to EWM weights (continue)95
Table 57. Alternative investment sites' values according to equal weights (Game Theory)
Table 58. Alternative investment sites' values according to Game Theory weights96
Table 59. Comparison of rankings of investment sites with AHP, EWM and Game Theory
96
Table 59. Comparison of rankings of investment sites with AHP, EWM and Game Theory
(continue)

ABBREVIATIONS

Abberviations

AHP	Analytic Hierarchy Process
CI	Consistency Index
CR	Consistency Ratio
ESA	European Space Agency
ESRI	Environmental Systems Research Institute
EUKN	European Urban Knowledge Network
EWM	Entropy Weight Method
GIS	Geographical Information Systems
IDW	Inverse Distance Weighting
LST	Land Surface Temperature
MCDM	Multi-Criteria Decision Making
MGIS	Municipal Geographical Information System
MoEUaCC	Ministry of Environment, Urbanization and Climate Change
MoNE	Ministry of National Education
NASA	National Aeronautics and Space Administration
NIS	Negative Ideal Solution
PIS	Positive Ideal Solution
RI	Random Consistency Index
TOPSIS	Technique for Order Preference by Similarity to Ideal Solution
TUCBS	Türkiye National Geographic Information System
UN	United Nations
UTM	Universal Transverse Mercator
WLC	Weighted Linear Combination
WUC	World Urban Campaign

1. INTRODUCTION

Throughout history, cities have emerged as areas with sparse populations. However, with the onset of the Industrial Revolution, people became more interested in cities, leading to increased migration. The advancement of technology has further accelerated this inclination towards cities. The increasing demands of people for education, health, employment, and a comfortable life are significant factors contributing to the rise in urban populations. A United Nations report predicts that the global population will rise to 8.5 billion by 2030, 9.7 billion by 2050, and 10.4 billion by 2100 [1,2]. This anticipated increase suggests a potential rise in urban populations.

The growth of urban populations significantly increases the land area utilized by cities. It is estimated that developing countries' urban population will double and their cities' land area will triple from 2000 to 2030. This situation implies that existing problems will further escalate in the absence of necessary measures in health, education, economy, infrastructure planning, and urban planning [3].

Thus, the creation of sustainable urban models is of vital importance for solving the problems caused by rapid urbanization due to population growth worldwide. To this end, governments are defining their plans in government programs, strategic plans, and development plans. Moreover, international organizations such as the World Urban Campaign (WUC), European Urban Knowledge Network (EUKN), and the UN, along with universities, are conducting studies within their institutions to contribute to the development of healthy, livable, and sustainable cities [4–9]. An example of this can be seen with the UN. In response to the challenges of urbanization globally, the UN has produced various projects and published "The Sustainable Development Goals" report, which aims to make cities and human settlements inclusive, safe, resilient, and sustainable [10]. This document serves as a guide for addressing urban challenges.

In Türkiye, which is among the developing countries, the increase in population has led to a rise in the urban population. For instance, as of 2023, Türkiye's population is 85,372,377, with 93% living in urban areas and 7% in rural areas [11]. This situation underscores the need for well-planned urban development processes and the improvement of current conditions. For this reason, in Türkiye, the Ministry of Environment, Urbanization and Climate Change (MoEUaCC) and local governments are responsible for sustainable urban planning, enhancements and designs. Additionally, research centers established by universities also contribute to the formulation of public policies and studies on urban design [12–19]. The MoEUaCC aims to establish a system through its urban design guide that enhances people's quality of life, plans for the future of cities, preserves local cultures, and fosters the development of sustainable cities. Furthermore, the Twelfth Development Plan (2024-2028) published by the Presidency of the Republic of Türkiye calls for the creation of city models that preserve historical urban textures and for institutions to work towards livable cities and a sustainable environment. In this context, the goals include establishing a highly accessible transportation system and creating infrastructure resilient to disasters and climate change. Additionally, the other targeted objectives are forming a sustainable production and consumption mechanism, implementing long-term integrated urban planning and design, and effective disaster management [20].

The efforts to create livable cities in Türkiye and around the world encompass a wide range of criteria. Factors such as walkability, adaptability, connectivity, parking, transportation, traffic density, green spaces, and landscape play a significant role in the planning of cities where people can live in peace, happiness, and prosperity [21–27]. In addition to these planning criteria, urban planners and other stakeholders also consider the balanced and harmonious evaluation of livability, economy, social life, cultural environment, land use, and environmental development criteria [28–31].

These significant criteria in urban planning enhance the livability of these areas. However, many cities around the world are still grappling with numerous structural issues. Cities often face challenges such as urban sprawl, environmental degradation, poor living conditions, and serious accessibility problems [3]. The resolution of these issues faced by cities and the creation of sustainable urban environments depend on the management of information related to settlement areas. Spatial information, in particular, plays a fundamental role in urban planning and management practices. Most of the information used by planners is geographical in nature, in terms of utilizing topographic maps or being linked to a geographic location through a coordinate reference, a street address, or an administrative region [32]. However, the inability of large datasets related to settlement areas to interrelate leads to challenges in managing this information. GIS technology has emerged as a powerful toolset for managing and analyzing spatial data [33–37]. With these features, GIS is seen as a solution for the problems faced by local governments. In this regard, by leveraging the efficient structure of GIS, the MGIS approach put forth by UN-Habitat is emphasized as an important and effective factor in enhancing the management and organizational capacities of cities by local governments [37].

The worldwide impact of GIS on the formation and planning of sustainable and livable cities is demonstrated through its effective structure. GIS assists local administrators in identifying and developing city landscapes and green spaces, water management, designing walkable areas, creating energy sectors, and addressing issues such as transportation, climate change, and land use [5,38–44].

In Türkiye, MoEUaCC, which formulates urban and environmental policies, has developed the "Türkiye National Geographic Information System (TUCBS) Atlas" application. This application gathers data from all geographic data producers in Türkiye within this information system. With this system, the MoEUaCC ensures the implementation of policies in both urban and rural areas across the country based on objective criteria and an analysis of the current situation. Moreover, each municipality contributes to the management of areas within its jurisdiction by creating its own GIS portal [45–48].

The creation of livable cities has become a significant objective, both globally and in Türkiye. To accomplish this objective by utilizing cutting-edge technology, policymakers have begun to actively use GIS technologies. In this context, the MGIS approach has emerged as a crucial tool for managing cities, ensuring their sustainability, and facilitating effective planning. Thus, the objective of this study is to contribute to the development of urban design policies and the creation of livable spaces in the Konak district of Izmir by utilizing an MGIS model that combines urban design criteria with GIS and MCDM methodologies. To determine this, the weights of the criteria were first established using the MCDM methods, AHP, and EWM.

Thereupon, the equilibrium points were identified using the Game Theory method, and the weights of these points were determined. Subsequently, livable areas in the application site were revealed by applying the WLC method with GIS. The study thence compared the livable areas resulting from the separate applications of AHP, EWM, and Game Theory methods, and the results were examined. The TOPSIS method was also used to identify priority investment areas to increase livable spaces in the study area, and policy recommendations were presented. Additionally, the impact of urban design criteria on the study was evaluated by assessing the criteria within themselves.

2. URBAN DESIGN

Urban design is the art of creating spaces for people. This concept evaluates the functioning of spaces, community safety, and other issues. Through these evaluations, the planning processes for villages, towns, and cities are carried out by establishing connections between people and spaces, movement and urban form, and nature and the built environment [49].

Urban design is a crucial part of creating sustainable developments and conditions for a growing economic life, prudent use of natural resources, and social progress. A well-designed project can play an inclusive role in creating vibrant spaces with distinct characters. With all these features, urban design brings together many elements of planning to create beautiful places and diverse identities [50]. It also benefits from related fields such as planning and transportation policy, architectural design, development economics, landscape, and engineering. Good urban design is necessary to offer places that create social, environmental, and economic value sustainably. Ensuring the optimal design of these places is a priority for everyone involved in shaping and maintaining the built environment [51,52].

Urban design, which plays a key role in making cities more livable and in creating distinct characters within them, is not solely of interest to a particular profession or interest group. This was highlighted in 1998 when five professional institutes came together with other organizations to form the Urban Design Alliance, which aimed to find a common purpose across their disciplines. These professions (urban planners, landscape architects, surveyors, architects, and civil engineers) all play significant roles in creating strong impacts for better urban design [27,49,53].

In sustainable planning, it is first necessary to analyze the city's social, cultural, economic, environmental, and governance issues [54]. To help planners and local administrators create sustainable cities and livable environments, a quality analysis process paves the way for a planning process that has very few drawbacks in terms of land use, plans

developed for the city's growth, transportation, walkability, planning of green spaces, biodiversity, and conservation of natural areas. In this context, as indicated by the urban working group, the best way to encourage successful and sustainable renewal, conservation, and creation of new places is to consider urban design from the beginning of the planning and development process. Leaving urban design to the final stage can slow down the planning process, become a source of conflict among people, and negatively affect achieving the desired outcome in terms of city quality [49].

For successful urban design, a comprehensive understanding of the factors that directly contribute to the sustainability, livability, and character of cities is essential. This includes the identification of conditions that enable urban development and the implementation of appropriate decisions. The outcome of the design process and the types of spaces created are determined or influenced by several factors, including the following:

- A clear framework provided by development planners and consistently provided complementary guidance for the development of those plans,
- A response based on local desires,
- Facts about what is possible in terms of economic and market conditions,

An innovative and appropriate design approach by those designing the city's development and managing the planning process [27,49].

Combining these top factors is vital for successful and quality planning. Moreover, applying specific criteria is necessary for successful streets, spaces, villages, towns, and cities. These criteria assist planners and decision-makers in understanding the conditions required to create quality spaces. These criteria are defined in Table 1 [49].

Criteria	Explanation	
"Character"	"Promoting the character in the cityscape and landscape by	
	responding to and reinforcing local patterns of development,	
	landscape, and culture."	
"Continuity	"Encouraging the continuity of street frontages and the	
and Enclosure"	enclosure of spaces through development that clearly defines	
	private and public areas."	
"Quality of the Public	"To promote public spaces and routes that operate in an	
Realm"	attractive, safe, orderly, and efficient manner for everyone in	
	society, including individuals with disabilities and the	
	elderly."	
"Ease of Movement"	"By creating interconnected and easily navigable spaces,	
	prioritizing people over traffic, and integrating land uses	
	with transportation, to encourage accessibility and local	
	permeability."	
"Legibility"	"To promote legibility through development that provides	
	recognizable routes, intersections, and landmarks to assist	
	individuals in navigating their way."	
"Adaptability"	"To promote adaptability through development that can	
	respond to changing social, technological, and economic	
	conditions."	
"Diversity"	"Through a mixture of harmonious developments and uses	
	working together to create livable places that respond to local	
	needs, and to encourage diversity and choice."	

Table 1. Objectives of urban design

Urban design, which utilizes a multitude of resources to create a livable city with a distinct identity, defines both human and physical geography as planning tools [51]. In this context, spaces within cities must primarily sustain human life. Buildings and open spaces should be designed to be comfortable and safe. Furthermore, in a good planning process, factors such as how secure people feel, the ease of moving around, accessibility of transport, proximity of shops and commercial centers, the presence of state or privately-owned facilities and schools, and the availability of safe places for children to play should

be considered [27,55,56]. For such planning purposes, knowing the demands and identities of local communities is necessary. Urban planning tailored to the needs of communities will enhance the quality of living spaces and affect every aspect of life. In this thesis, the criteria in urban planning have been identified by considering these needs.

3. URBAN DESIGN PRACTICE

Urban design practices today are of significant interest, particularly to municipalities and local governments. These practices integrate factors such as habitat, design, environment, and landscape, serving as tools for planners to redesign urban areas. The initial step in this planning process involves determining how urban mapping technologies and digital strategies for cities can be used to assess the identified factors for sustainable design, and how to obtain the necessary urban data [57]. Although the first step of urban design applications has a complex structure, the interoperability of design principles with technological methods can provide significant data for many institutions [58–60]. In addition to this feature, urban design studies aim to offer better services to people, create safe and responsive spaces that can improve people's quality of life, and plan places where people can experience joy and happiness [49,61,62]. For instance, design studies have a direct relationship with social amenity areas, transportation and security, as well as a significant impact on comfort. Thus, the main goal of urban design studies is to analyze the components related to cities and environmental factors together (Table 2) [49]. This stage is crucial for assessing the current situation, identifying planning-related issues, conducting quality design work, and making necessary adjustments to the design.

"Places for	"Enrich	"Make Connections"	"Design for Change"
People"	Existing"		
"Urban design	"Urban design	"The designer should plan	"Urban redesign works
should allow	should be at a	the places in a way that is	should be sufficiently
people to live in	level that will	accessible and easily	flexible to meet the needs of
lovely, safe,	allow the	integrated with their	future changes. At this
vibrant, and	enrichment of	surroundings. Physical	point, lifestyle,
attractive places."	the quality of	accessibility by foot,	demography, public spaces,
	life."	bicycle, and public	infrastructure services,
		transport are also very	parking, and traffic
		important."	management are also
			important issues."

T 11 A	T T 1	1 .	•
Table 7	Irhon	docion	1001100
I aDIC Z.	UTDan	uesign	ISSUES

Sustainable models must be developed to increase the livability levels of cities and to enhance their designs. Hence, the concept of sustainability holds great significance for our urban environments today. Map engineers, urban planners, and environmentalists frequently utilize this concept to create more livable cities [63]. In addition, sustainable urban design is a subject that merges numerous aspects such as economy, visual harmony, aesthetic appearance, and social life. It also has a strong association with aspects of social life, including transportation, traffic management, parking, engineering planning, infrastructure services, and landscaping. In other words, urban design involves creating vision and innovation within a certain area and utilizing the necessary skills and resources to complete this process. However, different fields and disciplines are represented by various data that need to be collected in a precise, reliable, and swift manner. Therefore, the data collection phase is crucial for implementing the envisioned project. Another key feature of urban design is its ability to establish connections between buildings, building facades, streets, sidewalks, open spaces, parks, and urban areas. Thus, it is important for the components related to urban structures, such as habitat, culture, streets, and pedestrian areas, as well as the landscape and environmental harmony of the urban area, to have good integration (Figure 1) [49].



Figure 1. The importance of urban structure generally in meeting some criteria

Figure 1 demonstrates some criteria related to the development of urban structures. Local governments also play roles in the implementation and maintenance of projects, considering the criteria mentioned above. The integration of these criteria with policies laid out by policymakers to further improve people's lives can contribute to enhancing the livability of cities and the formation of sustainable urban models.

4. MATERIAL AND METHOD

This study develops a decision-making approach that evaluates multiple criteria for a location-based urban design, integrating GIS, MCDM methods, and Game Theory into urban design criteria for creating and assessing sustainable and livable urban models. In this context, the workflow of the study is constructed to ensure the repeatability of the proposed approach in different regions. The procedures carried out towards this objective are:

- Conducting a literature review,
- Identifying criteria and sub-criteria for the WLC method,
- Determining the weights of main criteria and sub-criteria using AHP and EWM methods,
- Balancing the weights of AHP and EWM with Game Theory to a point of Nash-equilibrium,
- Acquiring existing data and maps,
- Transferring the criteria into a GIS environment in a common coordinate system,
- Classifying layers according to the values of sub-criteria,
- Weighting the layers according to each MCDM method and Game Theory, and determining the most suitable areas with the WLC method,
- Identifying priority investment areas with the TOPSIS method,
- Determining the study area.

4.1. Study Area

A study area (Figure 2) has been determined for the application of specified urban design criteria to assess the livability of residential areas. The study was conducted in the Konak district of Izmir (38°.428673, 27°.134898). The Konak district is home to 7.45% of the population of Izmir. According to 2023 data, Konak is the 5th most populous district in Izmir with a population of 332,300 [64].

STUDY AREA (KONAK)



Figure 2. Study area

4.2. Data

In this study, national and international legislation and academic studies have been reviewed to determine the criteria for urban design and assess the livability of residential areas. Following the literature review, five main criteria and twenty-five sub-criteria were identified, which were then used in the analysis phase (Table 3-4). Some of these sub-criteria have been evaluated under more than one main criterion.

Table 3. Urban design criteria used in the application

No	Criteria
1	Walkability
2	Environment
3	Connectivity
4	Transportation
5	Climate Change

Data Layer Name	Data Type	Date	Data Source	References
Green Spaces	Polygon	2023	Open Street Map	[65]
Subway Station	Point	2023	Open Street Map	[65]
Bus Station	Point	2023	Open Street Map	[65]
Railway Station	Point	2023	Open Street Map	[65]
Bike Sharing Station	Point	2023	Open Street Map	[65]
Parking	Point	2023	Open Street Map	[65]
Bank	Point	2023	Open Street Map	[65]
Religious Area	Point	2023	Open Street Map	[65]
Public Sector Area	Point	2023	Open Street Map	[65]
School	Polygon	2023	Ministry of National Education (MoNE)	[66]
Health Facility	Point	2023	Open Street Map	[65]
Culture, Art, and Entertainment Areas	Point	2023	Open Street Map	[65]
Museums and Historic Sites	Point	2023	Open Street Map	[65]

Table 4. Layers of data used in the application

Data Layer Name	Data Type	Date	Data Source	References
Sports Facility	Polygon	2023	Open Street	[65]
			Map	
Road	Line	2022	Open Street	[65]
Subway	Line	2022	Map	[65]
Railway	Line	2022	Open Street	
			Map	[65]
			Open Street	
			Map	
Cycling Path	Line	2023	Open Street	[65]
			Мар	
LST	Raster	2023	National	[67]
			Aeronautics and Space	
			Administration	
			(NASA)	
Temperature	Raster	2023	European Space	[68]
			Agency (ESA)	
Precipitation	Raster	2023	University of	[69]
			East Anglia	
SO2	Raster	2023	ESA	[70]
СО	Raster	2023	ESA	[70]
Land Cover	Raster	2023	Copernicus and	[71,72]
			ESRI	
Slope	Raster	2023	NASA	[73]
Landslide	Raster	2023	MoEUaCC	[74]

Table 4. Layers of data used in the application (continue)

4.3. Database Design

ArcGIS 10.3 software was used to analyze and manage the data. Additionally, the Universal Transverse Mercator (UTM) projection Zone 35N coordinate system was chosen for the data. The necessary data were digitized in raster, point, line, and polygon formats (Figure 3). Furthermore, the scores for the sub-criteria are shown in Table 5.



Figure 3. Database design

Criteria	Sub-Criteria	Score
Green Spaces	<250 m	5
	250–500	4
	500-750	3
	750–1000	2
	1000<	1

Table 5. Criteria and sub-criteria

Criteria	Sub-Criteria	Score
Subway Station	<250 m	5
	250-500	4
	500-750	3
	750–1000	2
	1000<	1
Bus Station	<250 m	5
	250-500	4
	500-750	3
	750–1000	2
	1000<	1
Railway Station	<250 m	5
	250-500	4
	500-750	3
	750–1000	2
	1000<	1
Bike Sharing	<250 m	5
Station	250-500	4
	500-750	3
	750–1000	2
	1000<	1
Parking	<100 m	5
	100–200	4
	200-300	3
	300–400	2
	400<	1

Table 5. Criteria and sub-criteria (continue)

Sub-Criteria	Score
<250 m	5
250–500	4
500-750	3
750–1000	2
1000<	1
<250 m	5
250–500	4
500-750	3
750–1000	2
1000<	1
<500 m	5
500-1000	4
1000-1500	3
1500–2000	2
2000<	1
<500 m	5
500-1000	4
1000-1500	3
1500-2000	2
2000<	1
<500 m	5
500-1000	4
1000-1500	3
1500-2000	2
2000<	1
	Sub-Criteria <250 m

Table 5. Criteria and sub-criteria (continue)

Criteria	Sub-Criteria	Score
Culture, Art, and Entertainment Areas	<500 m	5
	500-1000	4
	1000–1500	3
	1500-2000	2
	2000<	1
Museums and Historic Sites	<500 m	5
Instone Sites	500-1000	4
	1000-1500	3
	1500-2000	2
	2000<	1
Sports Facilities	<250 m	5
	250-500	4
	500-750	3
	750–1000	2
	1000<	1
Road	<50 m	5
	50-100	4
	100–150	3
	150-200	2
	200<	1
Subway	<250 m	5
	250-500	4
	500-750	3
	750–1000	2
	1000<	1

Table 5. Criteria and sub-criteria (continue)

Criteria	Sub-Criteria	Score
Railway	<250 m	5
	250–500	4
	500–750	3
	750–1000	2
	1000<	1
Cycling Path	<250 m	5
	250–500	4
	500-750	3
	750–1000	2
	1000<	1
Land Surface	<20 C	2
remperature (LST)	20-30	3
	30<	1
Temperature	<17 C	1
	17-18	2
	18<	3
Precipitation	<604.7 mm	1
	604.7-755.748	0
SO2	<1.30 mol/m ²	5
	1.30–1.50	4
	1.50–1.70	3
	1.70–1.90	2
	1.90<	1

Table 5. Criteria and sub-criteria (continue)

Criteria	Sub-Criteria	Score
СО	<0.51 mol/m ²	3
	0.51–0.56	2
	0.56<	1
Slope	<5°	5
	5 - 10	4
	10–15	3
	15–20	2
	20<	1
Landslide	Risk-Free	5
	Low Risk	4
	Risky	3
	Very Risky	2
	Most Risky	1

Table 5. Criteria and sub-criteria (continue)

4.4. Determination of Criteria

4.4.1. Walkability

Walkability holds a significant place in determining the quality of life in cities. It contributes to the formation of a human-centered environment by evaluating the amenities within cities under the scope of needs and values. Therefore, it has become one of the fundamental components of public policies designed for urban areas in recent years [75–80]. The goal of these emerging policies is to enhance the quality of life in cities.

The quality of life in cities largely depends on the accessibility of services, facilities, activities, and places. The ability to walk to central areas where people can socialize and use as venues for activities is an important aspect. Hence, the creation of a walkable environment is very important for a healthy and livable environmental design as it also reduces vehicle usage [53,81–83].
When examining studies on walkability, it is observed that the majority of global studies focus on higher planning criteria like street networks or accessibility to destinations, or on studies that reveal the relationship between walkability and the environment [84–87].

In Türkiye, some higher planning criteria have been established on this subject. For instance, the 12th Development Plan published by the Presidency of the Republic of Türkiye, in Article 2/91, emphasizes the need to promote public transportation and walking by reducing car dependency to lower the carbon footprint. Additionally, it is mentioned that the creation of mixed-use areas for walking or biking and planning decisions will be encouraged [20].

Fourteen sub-criteria have been identified in the study area (Figure 2) after considering the needs of people and the walkability studies conducted in Türkiye and around the world. The details of the identified sub-criteria are listed below (Table 6).

Walkability Sub-Criteria	Definition	References
Green Spaces	These are areas created by parks, gardens, and forest areas where people meet their health and physical needs.	[88–92]
Subway Station	A type of station established for the subway.	[93–96]
Bus Station	The place where buses start and end their routes.	[97–100]
Railway Station	The location with one or more buildings and platforms where trains stop for people to board or alight.	[101–104]

Table 6. The sub-criteria of walkability

Walkability Sub-Criteria	Definition	References
Bike Sharing Station	Places where bicycles are parked.	[105–109]
Parking	Areas where vehicles are left for a certain period.	[53,110,111]
Bank	An institution or place where individuals and businesses can invest, borrow, and exchange foreign currency.	[112,113]
Religious Area	Places of worship related to religion.	[114,115]
Public Sector Area	Places owned or controlled by the government.	[116–118]
School	Places where children go to receive education.	[119–124]
Health Facility	Locations where people receive health services.	[125–128]
Culture, Art, and Entertainment Areas	Venues where people engage in social and cultural activities.	[129–132]
Museums and Historic Sites	Areas where historical artifacts or sites are located.	[133–135]
Sports Facility	Spaces where people perform or watch sports activities.	[136–138]

Table 6. The sub-criteria of walkability (continue)

4.4.2. Transportation

Transportation is a fundamental element in the economic development of a society [139]. Therefore, the transportation networks of cities are a significant indicator of a country's level of development. The demand for vehicles, especially in developed and developing countries, directly demonstrates this. The growth of cities, population increase, improvement of living standards, and the expansion of business and industrial areas have

led to an increasing demand for transportation services in urban areas [140]. Consequently, there is a strong relationship between the level of development of countries and their urban transportation networks. As a result of this strong relationship, transportation networks, which are a critical criterion of urban design, need to be well-planned in cities. For this planning to be possible, local governments need to establish transportation policies. Involving experts from various fields such as engineering, architecture, urban planning, landscaping, and transportation planning in these policy processes contributes to the creation of livable cities and healthy living spaces [141–143].

The effective management of policy processes created for transportation planning plays a significant role in developing sustainable urban models and solving the problems of cities. For this reason, various studies are conducted worldwide specifically for these processes. These studies generate applications and policy suggestions aimed at reducing traffic, air pollution, noise pollution, and traffic accidents [144–150].

In Türkiye, reducing the impact of the transportation factor on climate change holds an important place in the 12th Development Plan published by the Presidency of the Republic of Türkiye. Additionally, it aims to reduce traffic and transportation problems, increase pedestrian traffic, and further develop highways with electric vehicles, smart transportation systems, and autonomous systems compatible with new smart roads [20].

The increase in studies on the transportation problems of cities in recent years and the desire to develop sustainable urban models highlight the effectiveness of decision-making processes. Considering the impact of making decision processes based on objective and scientific values in policy development processes, it has enabled both central and local governments to actively use GIS technologies in the fields of transportation and urban planning [123,144,148,149,151–153]. The utilization of these systems in directing investments to the correct locations contributes to improving the quality and livability of cities.

Information on the sub-criteria related to transportation from studies conducted worldwide and in Türkiye is presented in Table 7.

Transportation Sub-Criteria	Definition	References
Road	Areas formed by parks, gardens, and forested areas that serve people's health and physical needs.	[88–92]
Subway	One of the most important and busiest points of a city's transportation network.	[93–96]
Railway	The rail system on which trains travel.	[154–156]
Cycling Path	A designated path for cycling.	[157–159]
Subway Station	A type of station established for the subway.	[160–162]
Bus Station	The place where bus services start and end.	[163–165]
Railway Station	Locations with one or more buildings and platforms where trains stop for people to board or alight.	[166–168]
Bike Sharing Station	Places where bicycles are parked.	[169–172]

Table 7. The sub-criteria of transportation

4.4.3. Connectivity

Emerging as a fundamental concept in urban design, connectivity refers to the relationship between urban transportation networks, infrastructure, and social spaces within cities [173,174]. Additionally, connectivity is identified as a crucial element that not only links various transportation routes within urban areas but also integrates the

social and physical fabric of cities [53]. Therefore, connectivity is not merely a concept describing the relationship between roads or transportation lines; it also stands out as an integral part of a sustainable urban model that meets people's needs and creates livable cities. With these characteristics, connectivity significantly aids policymakers by making cities greener, more accessible, and more resilient during the planning processes [175].

Understanding how and in what ways people move is vitally important for urban policymakers and planners during the planning processes of cities. Planning in newly designed neighborhoods and residential areas particularly focuses on human movement. During this planning process, a city's central point is determined, and planning is developed around it. Additionally, land uses and types of buildings within walking distance are defined to form the content of the planning process. This process concludes with the design of narrow or wide roads, the planning of pedestrian-friendly streets, and the establishment of a high level of connectivity to unify all planning elements [53,174,176–178].

In all planning studies, especially the general layout of connection roads and street networks is one of the most fundamental elements of urban planning. Academic research on street networks around the world demonstrates that high levels of road connectivity are associated with reduced travel times for pedestrians, indicating good planning. Furthermore, evidence suggests that such planning will shape land use patterns and densities over time [174,179–181].

Studies conducted in Türkiye highlight the significant role of connectivity in various aspects such as children's transportation and walking behaviors, the impact of residential area planning on crime rates and security perception, identifying the quality of transportation networks, improving green infrastructure, and urban planning topics [182–184].

All these planning processes not only contribute to the sustainable structure of cities but also have various effects on people. Studies have shown that well-organized streets and neighborhoods significantly impact people's quality of life and health [80,185–189].

Studies on connectivity in the world and Türkiye have been reviewed, and the determined sub-criteria are presented in Table 8.

Transportation Sub-Criteria	Definition	References
Road	Areas formed by parks, gardens, and forested areas that serve people's health and physical needs.	[190–192]
Subway	One of the most important and busiest points of a city's transportation network.	[193–196]
Railway	The rail system on which trains travel.	[155,197–200]
Cycling Path	A designated path for cycling.	[201–204]

Table 8. The sub-criteria of connectivity

4.4.4. Climate Change

Climate change is increasingly emerging as a global issue causing serious environmental, economic, and social impacts worldwide. The primary cause of climate change, seen as one of the most significant problems in recent years, is the increase in greenhouse gases released into the atmosphere through the burning of fossil fuels and deforestation. These gases prevent the reflection of sunlight, causing it to remain on the earth's surface, which leads to an increase in global temperatures worldwide [205–207]. Furthermore, climate change particularly results in negative effects in various areas such as weather events, rising sea levels, loss of biodiversity, environmental pollution, fires, reduction in land use, and agriculture [208–212]. Due to these effects, climate change creates serious impacts not only on the natural environment but also on cities, urban planning, and the livability of cities [213–217].

Cities are areas where people live densely. According to a study by World Urbanization Prospects in 2019, the population living in urban areas is projected to increase by 68% worldwide by 2050. The projected urban population growth in less developed regions is expected to reach two billion by 2050, with a 90% increase in Asia and Africa [218]. This anticipated population increase is expected to lead to significant changes in current land use and land cover in urban areas. The main reasons for these changes are assessed to be rapid and unplanned urbanization, lack of green spaces, and environmental degradation [219–221].

The increasing impact of climate change on the environment, cities, and people necessitates the adoption of global measures to solve emerging problems. In this context, immediate actions to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and a swift systemic transformation to enable communities to adapt to the effects of climate change have been brought to the forefront [222]. Although there may be some obstacles to cities taking the lead in transforming quickly to combat climate change, city administrations' close connections with the populace and access to local knowledge provide a significant advantage in reaching climate goals [223,224]. Moreover, the ability of local and central governments to enact laws and regulations, effective communication, and purchasing authority to reduce carbon emissions in cities and work towards climate adaptation contributes significantly to the systemic transformation. Thus, it is projected that by 2050, the effects of climate change on nearly 80% of the world's population that lives in cities will be mitigated if the measures adopted in cities are regularly implemented and controlled [225].

It is vital to address the issues posed by climate change in cities through planning, urban policy formulation, management, and development of sustainable urban models. Various studies are conducted worldwide focusing on these processes. These studies aim to reduce land surface temperatures, prevent the spread of urban heat islands in cities, reduce air pollution, take measures against flooding events, and create urban designs that ensure thermal comfort for people [226–230].

In Türkiye, the highest-level program in this fight is the 12th Development Plan. This plan sets goals in many areas such as achieving a green transformation against climate change, increasing the resilience of cities against natural resource-based disasters, reducing emission levels, planning livable environments, sustainable transportation, agricultural production, energy efficiency, and forest conservation [20]. Furthermore, academic studies are conducted in Türkiye on issues such as tourism, agriculture, drought, desertification, and sustainable development due to climate change. These studies lead to policy recommendations that help Türkiye mitigate the effects of climate change [231–234].

Studies on climate change conducted worldwide and in Türkiye have been reviewed, and the determined sub-criteria are shown in Table 9.

Transportation Sub-Criteria	Definition	References
Temperature	The measured amount of temperature at a location.	[235–237]
Precipitation	Especially, water falling from clouds to the ground in the form of rain or snow.	[238–240]
Land Surface Temperature (LST)	A measure of the land being hot enough to touch.	[241–243]
SO2	A sharp-smelling, colorless, non-flammable, poisonous gas.	[244,245]
СО	A colorless, odorless, and tasteless poisonous gas.	[246,247]

Table 9. The sub-criteria of climate change

4.4.5. Environment

As a result of the global population growth, migration to cities has increased to meet people's health, education, and economic needs. This situation has led to more than 60%

of people living in urban areas [248]. As a result of these developments, cities are facing serious environmental issues such as air pollution, heat islands, and habitat loss, alongside various health problems [249–252]. Therefore, planning according to environmental criteria characteristics is crucial for the formation of livable urban models to solve these problems in cities.

Globally, various studies are conducted to reduce environmental risks in cities and increase livable spaces. One such study focuses on the planning of green spaces. Efforts are made to increase green areas in cities or create green spaces in suitable locations for newly planned areas [253–256]. The main goal of these studies is to enhance the livable and sustainable structures of cities. However, these processes also encounter certain challenges. Thus, in effect, providing public access to green spaces, which is an essential choice and integral part of environmental planning, poses some problems for both planners and local governments. These problems, which include criteria such as topography, walkability, proximity to housing and main roads, emerge as significant factors affecting the design of green spaces [27]. Despite these challenges, green spaces planned according to the above-mentioned criteria are crucial for sustainable urban models as they not only reduce environmental issues but also improve people's health and living spaces.

Another important factor for creating a livable environment and sustainable urban planning is the slope. Slope has an impact on many aspects of urban planning, such as walkability, transportation, and the effects of natural disasters on cities [257–260]. These impacts influence cities in terms of economy, society, and sustainability. Overcoming these adversities is essential to creating sustainable and livable urban areas, which highlights the importance of carefully selecting sites for transportation, commerce, and social areas based on slope criteria.

In Türkiye, similar studies are conducted to improve the existing conditions of cities. These studies involve organizing park areas, planning and distribution of building surroundings, aesthetic planning, and many other areas [261–264].

Studies conducted on the environment worldwide and in Türkiye have been reviewed, and the determined sub-criteria are presented in Table 10.

Transportation Sub-Criteria	Definition	References
Green Spaces	Areas formed by parks, gardens, and forested areas that serve people's health and physical needs.	[253–255]
Slope	A surface at a certain angle to the horizontal, with some points higher than others.	[257–259]
Landslide	A mass of rock and soil moving suddenly and swiftly down a steep slope.	[265–267]

Table 10. The sub-criteria of environment

4.5. MCDM Methods

Multi-criteria decision making is an effective method for analyzing alternatives that involve a variety of environmental, social, and economic impacts. This method allows for the integration of data by comparing the ratios of alternatives to each other, taking into account the selected criteria. This integration also permits the simultaneous analysis of many criteria related to location and characteristics, as well as the management of numerous variables [268].

There are many multi-criteria decision-making methods used in site selection studies. The common ones are listed below.

- Weighted linear combination [269,270]
- Weighted multiplication [271]
- Cost/benefit function-based approaches [272]

- TOPSIS method [271]
- ELECTRE method [273]
- Analytic hierarchy process [274]

4.5.1. AHP

The Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP), one of the MCDM methods, was developed by Thomas L. Saaty in 1977 [275]. This method uses discrete and continuous pairwise comparisons in a multi-level hierarchical structure [276]. The Analytic Hierarchy Process employs a hierarchical model consisting of objectives, criteria, possible sub-criteria levels, and alternatives for all problems [277]. Starting from the general objective, criteria, and sub-criteria rankings are obtained, followed by the determination of alternatives. Decision-makers decide how important one criterion is relative to another when forming pairwise comparison matrices [278]. The purpose of creating the matrix is to transform the preferences of decision-makers into a calculable scale. This transformation is performed using scales shown in Table 11 [279]. Moreover, this scaling approach ensures the homogeneous determination of the weights of criteria. Pairwise comparison matrices are created using all criteria. Subsequently, the eigenvalue vector method is applied to quantitatively calculate the weights of the criteria [280].

AHP also allows for the mathematical determination of inconsistencies in decisionmakers' judgments. The consistency ratio (CR) can be calculated based on the characteristics of the comparison matrices. If (CR) is less than 0.1, the pairwise comparisons are considered acceptable. Otherwise, the matrices must be reconstructed, and then the new (CR) value must also be checked for consistency [279].

Important Values	Value Definitions
1	Equally important, likely or preferred
3	Moderately more important, likely or preferred

Table 11. AHP importance scale

Important Values	Value Definitions
5	Strongly more important, likely or preferred
7	Very strongly more important, likely or preferred
9	Extremely more important, likely or preferred
2, 4, 6, 8	Intermediate values to reflect compromise

Table 11. AHP importance scale (continue)

4.5.2. EWM

The concept of entropy, a parameter that measures the degree of randomness or disorder, originates from thermodynamics. It also represents the heat energy that cannot be used to produce work [281]. In 1948, Claude Shannon expanded the use of entropy beyond its original application by applying it to information theory, thereby demonstrating that entropy methodology could be used to measure the order of a system [282].

The application of EWM in information theories, especially in decision problems, has become widespread. The simplicity of EWM's mathematical algorithm for ease of use in decision-making problems has increased its adoption by decision-makers [283,284]. However, since the mathematical model of EWM is based on data differences, it overlooks the potential correlation among criteria. Due to this feature, criteria with lower weights can easily influence criteria with higher weights in this method [285].

EWM follows the following processes until the solution phase [286–288] :

Construct of decision matrix based on criteria,

$$DM = \begin{bmatrix} x_{11} & x_{12} & \dots & x_{1n} \\ x_{21} & x_{22} & \dots & x_{2n} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \dots & \vdots \\ x_{m1} & x_{m2} & \dots & x_{mn} \end{bmatrix}$$
(1)

 x_{ij} , is the performance value of alternative i for criterion j (i =1, 2, ..., m; j = 1, 2, ..., n)

Creation of normalized matrix with decision matrix (N),

$$n_{ij} = \frac{x_{ij}}{\sum_{i=1}^{m} x_{ij}}$$
(2)

N denotes the normalized value of alternative i for criterion j.

$$\mathbf{N} = \begin{bmatrix} n_{11} & n_{12} & \dots & n_{1n} \\ n_{21} & n_{22} & \dots & n_{2n} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \dots & \vdots \\ n_{m1} & n_{m2} & \dots & n_{mn} \end{bmatrix}$$
(3)

Entropy values (E_j) are calculated,

$$E_{ij} = -k \sum_{i=1}^{m} n_{ij} \ln n_{ij}, (k = 1/\ln m)$$
(4)

"k" is a constant.

Calculate the degree of diversification (d_j),

$$d_j = 1 - E_j \tag{5}$$

A high d_j value means that the c_j criterion is a more important criterion for the problem presented.

Calculate criteria weights (w_j),

$$w_{j} = \frac{d_{j}}{\sum_{j=1}^{n} d_{j}}, w_{1} + w_{2} + \ldots + w_{n} = 1$$
(6)

4.5.3. Game Theory

Game theory is a theory that influences the decision-making processes of decision-makers in independent and interdependent situations. It is a decision-making method used in processes where the outcome depends on the decisions about the process made by two or more independent players and no single player has complete control over the outcomes [289–292].

Game theory is expressed as an important branch of modern mathematics. Fundamentally, game theory examines the relationship between competitive choices and optimization strategies. The main objective of a game is to find a balanced combination that maximizes the common interests of all players [293,294]. The operational steps of game theory are stated below [295–297].

Step 1

Based on N weighting methods, n weights are obtained, and then the basic weight vector set $W = \{w_1, w_2, ..., w_n\}$ is formed. A possible set of weights is combined with n vectors in the form of an arbitrary linear combination:

$$W = \sum_{k=1}^{n} a_k w_k^T (a_k > 0)$$
(7)

where w is a possible weight vector in set W, and a_k is the weight coefficient.

According to the concept of Game Theory, determining the most balanced weight vector w^* among possible weight vector sets is the primary objective. This indicates that a compromise has been reached among the n-weight values. Such a situation shows that optimization of the weight coefficient a_k , which is a linear combination value, has been achieved. The goal of optimization is to minimize the deviation between w and w_k using the following formula:

$$\min ||\sum_{j=1}^{n} a_j \times w_j^T - w_i^T||2 \ (i = 1, 2, ..., n)$$
(8)

The condition of the optimal first derivative according to the differentiation property of the matrix in formula (9) is as follows:

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} a_j \times w_i \times w_j^T = w_i \times w_i^T \ (i = 1, 2, ..., n)$$

$$\tag{9}$$

The corresponding system of linear equations is

$$\begin{bmatrix} w_{1}.w_{1}^{T} & w_{1}.w_{2}^{T} & \dots & w_{1}.w_{n}^{T} \\ w_{2}.w_{1}^{T} & w_{2}.w_{2}^{T} & \dots & w_{2}.w_{n}^{T} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \dots & \vdots \\ w_{n}.w_{1}^{T} & w_{n}.w_{2}^{T} & \dots & w_{n}.w_{n}^{T} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} a_{1} \\ a_{2} \\ \vdots \\ a_{n} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} w_{1}.w_{1}^{T} \\ w_{2}.w_{2}^{T} \\ \vdots \\ w_{n}.w_{n}^{T} \end{bmatrix}$$
(10)

Step 3

The weight coefficient $(a_1, a_2, ..., a_n)$ is calculated according to formula (11). After that, it is normalized with formula (12):

$$a_k^* = \frac{a_k}{\sum_{k=1}^n a_k} \tag{11}$$

Finally, w* is obtained from formula (13):

$$w^* = \sum_{k=1}^n a_k^* . w_k^T \tag{12}$$

4.5.4. WLC

The WLC method is one of the simplest and most widely used methods in multi-criteria decision making. This method is particularly popular in unidimensional decision-making problems. It is based on the decision maker assigning weights to each criterion. For each option, the assigned weight value is multiplied by the corresponding criterion's scaled value to obtain a total score [298].

For instance, if there are M alternatives and n criteria, each alternative is scored separately for each criterion. Next, weights are given to each criterion to indicate its importance relative to other criteria. Subsequently, the weighted average score for all alternatives is calculated according to the following equation [299–301]:

$$A(i) = \sum_{j=i}^{n} a(i,j) w(j) \quad (i = 1, 2, 3, ...)$$
(13)

A(i): Weighted total score of alternatives (i)

A(i,j): Score of alternatives (i) according to (j) criteria

W(j): Weight of j criteria

4.5.5. TOPSIS

The TOPSIS approach was developed by Kwangsun Yoon and Lai Hwang Ching in 1981 [302]. This approach offers an easy solution to MCDM problems encountered in applications. TOPSIS is a powerful MCDM method that operates by determining the

optimal solution as the one furthest from the Negative Ideal Solution (NIS) and closest to the Positive Ideal Solution (PIS). In the TOPSIS methodology, PIS is defined as the alternative with the most favorable values for all criteria, while NIS is a hypothetical alternative representing the worst possible values for the criteria. This approach assists decision-makers in effectively comparing alternatives to determine the best solutions for complex problems. It is particularly helpful for engineers and decision-makers in evaluating and prioritizing a set of alternative options to address encountered problems [303–307].

In the TOPSIS methodology, the ranking of alternatives is determined based on their closeness to PIS and distance from NIS. The product of the two distances determines the closeness coefficient, and hence the solution with the highest closeness coefficient is considered the optimal solution [308,309]. The mathematical model of the TOPSIS method is shown below [310–313].

Step 1. Determination of criteria weights and formation of the decision matrix

The first step requires the preparation of a decision matrix based on the performance values of the criteria.

$$\mathbf{R} = (\mathbf{r}_{ij})_{mxn} = \begin{bmatrix} A_1 \\ A_2 \\ \vdots \\ A_m \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} u_1 & u_2 & \cdots & u_n \\ r_{11} & r_{12} & \cdots & r_{1n} \\ r_{21} & r_{22} & \cdots & r_{2n} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ r_{m1} & r_{m2} & \cdots & r_{mn} \end{bmatrix}$$
(14)

where r_{ij} is the value of the jth attribute in the ith alternative.

Step 2. Calculation of the normalized decision matrix

The normalized decision matrix is obtained using the following equation.

$$\mathbf{r}_{ij} = \mathbf{x}_{ij} / \sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{m} (\mathbf{x}_{ij})^2}, (i = 1, 2, \dots, m; j = 1, 2, \dots, n)$$
(15)

Step 3. Calculation of the weighted normalized decision matrix

In this step, the values of the normalized decision matrix (r_{ij}) are multiplied by the normalized weights of the parameters (v_j) to determine the weighted normalized values (v_{ij}) .

$$v_{ij} = v_j \times r_{ij}, (i = 1, 2, ..., m; j = 1, 2, ..., n)$$
 (16)

Step 4. Determination of PIS and NIS values

PIS is valuable because it maximizes benefits while minimizing costs simultaneously. NIS produces the opposite outcome. The following equations are used to obtain these values:

$$A^{+} = [v_{1}^{+}, ..., v_{j}^{+}, ..., v_{n}^{+}], v_{j}^{+} = max_{i}\{v_{ij}\}, i = 1, 2, ..., m$$
(17)

if the jth parameter is beneficial,

$$A^{-} = [v_{1}^{-}, ..., v_{j}^{-}, ..., v_{n}^{-}], v_{j}^{-} = min_{i}\{v_{ij}\}, i = 1, 2, ..., m$$
(18)

where A^+ defines PIS, and A^- defines NIS.

$$v_j^+ = min_i\{v_{ij}\}, i = 1, 2, ..., m$$
 (19)

if the jth parameter is not beneficial,

$$v_j^- = max_i\{v_{ij}\}, i = 1, 2, ..., m$$
 (20)

Step 5. Calculation of the separation value

In TOPSIS two separation measures are utilized, one is for Positive Ideal Distinction (s_i^+) and another one is Negative Ideal Distinction (s_i^-) .

$$S_{i}^{+} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left| v_{ij} - v_{j}^{+} \right| = \sum_{j=1}^{n} D_{ij}^{+}$$
(21)

$$S_{i}^{-} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left| v_{ij} - v_{j}^{-} \right| = \sum_{j=1}^{n} D_{ij}^{-}$$
(22)

Step 6. Calculating relative closeness (RC_{i}^{+}) to the PIS

In this step, the Relative Closeness value of the ith alternative is calculated using the following equation.

$$RC_{i}^{+} = (S_{i}^{-})/(S_{i}^{+} + S_{i}^{-})$$
(23)

Larger RC values indicate a better position for the ith alternative, while a smaller RC value indicates a worse situation.

4.6. Definition of Models for The Concept of MGIS

4.6.1. GIS

GIS is a multidisciplinary field with applications across various disciplines such as earth sciences, geography, environmental sciences, and urban and regional planning. GIS technology is a powerful tool used for the collection, storage, processing, analysis, and visualization of spatial data [314]. This technology plays a crucial role in supporting

decision-making processes and policy development and offers convenience to practitioners [34,315]. The fundamental components of GIS are location information (coordinates) and attribute data associated with these locations. These systems can perform various functions, including data collection, data management, data analysis, and data visualization. Specifically, GIS provides advanced analytical tools for extracting meaningful information from large and complex datasets [316–319].

Recent advancements in GIS technologies for data analysis have expanded its application areas. This expansion has increased the importance of GIS in various fields, including urban planning, disaster management, agriculture, forestry management, water resources management, and environmental monitoring [320–322]. For example, in urban planning, GIS is used to plan city development, manage infrastructure projects, and optimize traffic flow [323]. In disaster management, GIS serves as a fundamental tool for assessing disaster risks, developing emergency response plans, and conducting post-disaster damage analyses [324].

Another significant application area of GIS technology is environmental monitoring. In this field, GIS is utilized to track environmental changes, assess habitat loss, and support the sustainable management of natural resources [325]. Moreover, in climate change research, GIS has become an indispensable tool for analyzing climate models and assessing the potential impacts of climate change [326].

The development of GIS technology also encompasses integration with technologies such as big data, artificial intelligence (AI), and machine learning. This integration significantly enhances GIS analytical capabilities, thus, enabling the processing and analysis of more complex datasets [327]. With all these features and applications, GIS actively contributes to decision-making processes, aids in policy creation, and provides conveniences to practitioners.

4.6.2. MGIS

MGIS is a system designed to facilitate the management and planning of cities through the use of information technologies. This system includes the necessary tools to optimize and organize decision-making processes, urban planning, and infrastructure management for local governments. The primary aim of MGIS is to create a database essential for understanding and directing various aspects of urban development. MGIS provides a structure that helps city planners, engineers, and policymakers examine the physical and social structure of cities in detail, thereby assisting them in making more informed and effective decisions. MGIS offers both local administrators and policymakers the opportunity to evaluate issues such as urban expansion, transportation networks, the distribution of public services, and environmental impact assessments [328].

The applications of MGIS are broad and include areas such as infrastructure management, land-use planning, transportation and traffic management, environmental protection, distribution of public services, and disaster management are the main areas supported by this system. Furthermore, local governments or governments are responsible for the longterm health, safety, and welfare of citizens. Therefore, broader issues need to be considered, including incorporating public values into the decision-making process, ensuring that services are delivered fairly and equitably, and representing the views of citizens in collaboration with elected officials [328]. Typical GIS applications, therefore, include monitoring public health risks, managing the housing stock, allocating social aid funds, and monitoring crime. Similar to geo-demographic analyses, geographical information systems are also used for operational, tactical, and strategic decision-making in law enforcement, health services planning, and education system management [37]. GIS applications available for local governments are detailed in Table 12 [37,314]. In this context, local governments can use MGIS to collect citizens' needs and expectations through an internet-based system, analyze this data to gain a better understanding of citizen demands, and shape their services accordingly.

"GIS Application	"Inventory	"Policy Analysis	"Management/
Area"	Applications	Applications	Policymaking
	(Locating property	(E.g. number of	(E.g. more efficient
	information such as	features per	routing, modelling
	ownership and tax	area, proximity to a	alternatives,
	assessments by	reature	forecasting
	clicking on	or land use,	future needs, work
	a map)"	correlation of	ach a dulin a)"
		demographic features	scheduling)
		with	
		geological features)"	
"Economic	"Location of major	"Analysis of resource	"Informing
Development"	businesses	demand by potential	businesses
	and their primary	local	of availability of
	resource	supplier"	local
	demands"		suppliers"
"Transportation	"Identification of	"Analysis of	"Identification of
Planning and Service Routing"	sanitation	potential	ideal
	truck routes,	capacity strain, given	high-density
	capacities,	development in	development
	and staffing by area;	certain	areas, based on
	identification of	areas; analysis of	criteria
	landfills and	accident	such as established
	recycling sites"	patterns by type of	transportation
		site"	capacity"

Table 12. GIS applications used in local governments

"Housing"	"Inventory of	"Analysis of public	"Analysis of funding
	housing stock	support	for
	age, condition, status	for housing by	housing
	(public, private,	geographic	rehabilitation,
	rental, etc.),	area, travel time from	location of related
	durability, and	low-income areas to	public facilities;
	demographics"	needed	planning
		service facilities,	for capital
		etc."	investment
			in housing based on
			population growth
			projections"
"Infrastructure"	"Inventory of roads,	"Analysis of	"Analysis to
	sidewalks, bridges,	infrastructure	schedule
	utilities	conditions by	maintenance and
	(locations, names,	demographic	expansion"
	conditions,	variables such as	
	foundations, and	income	
	most	and population	
	recent maintenance)"	change"	
"Health"	"Locations of	"Spatial, time-series	"Analysis to pinpoint
	persons with	analysis	possible sources of
	particular health	of the spread of	disease"
	problems,	disease;	
	locations of health	effects of	
	facilities"	environmental	
		conditions on	
		disease"	

Table 12. GIS application	s used in local governments	(continue)
---------------------------	-----------------------------	------------

"Property Taxation"	"Identification of	"Analysis of tax	"Projecting tax
	ownership	revenues	revenue
	data by land plot"	by land use within	changes due to land-
		various	use
		distances from the	changes"
		city	
		centre"	
"Land	"Identification of	"Analysis of land	"Analysis to map out
Administration"	ownership	tenure and	effective land control
	data by land parcels"	land development"	mechanisms"
"Human Services"	"Inventory of	"Analysis of match	"Facility siting,
	neighbourhoods	between	public
	with multiple social	service facilities and	transportation
	risks	human services need	routing,
	indicators; location	and capacities of	programme
	of existing	nearby	planning,
	facilities and services	residents"	and place-based
	designated		social
	to address these		intervention"
	risks"		

Table 12. GIS applications used in local governments (continue)

"Law Enforcement"	"Inventory of	"Analysis of police	"Reallocation of
	location of	visibility	police
	police stations,	and presence;	resources and
	crimes,	officers	facilities
	arrests, convicted	in relation to the	to areas where they
	perpetrators, and	density of	are
	victims;	criminal activity;	likely to be most
	plotting police beats	victim	efficient
	and	profiles in relation to	and effective;
	patrol car routing;	residential	creation of
	alarm and	populations;	random routing maps
	security system	police experience	to
	locations"	and beat"	decrease
		duties	predictability of
			police beat"
"Land Use	"Parcel inventory of	"Analysis of	police beat" "Evaluation of land
"Land Use Planning/District Profiling"	"Parcel inventory of zoning	"Analysis of percentage	police beat" "Evaluation of land use plan
"Land Use Planning/District Profiling"	"Parcel inventory of zoning areas, flood plains,	"Analysis of percentage of land used in each	police beat" "Evaluation of land use plan based on
"Land Use Planning/District Profiling"	"Parcel inventory of zoning areas, flood plains, industrial	"Analysis of percentage of land used in each category, density	police beat" "Evaluation of land use plan based on demographic
"Land Use Planning/District Profiling"	"Parcel inventory of zoning areas, flood plains, industrial parks, land uses,	"Analysis of percentage of land used in each category, density levels by	police beat" "Evaluation of land use plan based on demographic characteristics of
"Land Use Planning/District Profiling"	"Parcel inventory of zoning areas, flood plains, industrial parks, land uses, trees, green	"Analysis of percentage of land used in each category, density levels by neighbourhoods,	police beat" "Evaluation of land use plan based on demographic characteristics of nearby
"Land Use Planning/District Profiling"	"Parcel inventory of zoning areas, flood plains, industrial parks, land uses, trees, green space, etc."	"Analysis of percentage of land used in each category, density levels by neighbourhoods, threats	police beat" "Evaluation of land use plan based on demographic characteristics of nearby population (e.g. will
"Land Use Planning/District Profiling"	"Parcel inventory of zoning areas, flood plains, industrial parks, land uses, trees, green space, etc."	"Analysis of percentage of land used in each category, density levels by neighbourhoods, threats to residential	police beat" "Evaluation of land use plan based on demographic characteristics of nearby population (e.g. will a
"Land Use Planning/District Profiling"	"Parcel inventory of zoning areas, flood plains, industrial parks, land uses, trees, green space, etc."	"Analysis of percentage of land used in each category, density levels by neighbourhoods, threats to residential amenities,	police beat" "Evaluation of land use plan based on demographic characteristics of nearby population (e.g. will a smokestack industry
"Land Use Planning/District Profiling"	"Parcel inventory of zoning areas, flood plains, industrial parks, land uses, trees, green space, etc."	"Analysis of percentage of land used in each category, density levels by neighbourhoods, threats to residential amenities, proximity to locally	police beat" "Evaluation of land use plan based on demographic characteristics of nearby population (e.g. will a smokestack industry be sited upwind of
"Land Use Planning/District Profiling"	"Parcel inventory of zoning areas, flood plains, industrial parks, land uses, trees, green space, etc."	"Analysis of percentage of land used in each category, density levels by neighbourhoods, threats to residential amenities, proximity to locally unwanted land uses"	police beat" "Evaluation of land use plan based on demographic characteristics of nearby population (e.g. will a smokestack industry be sited upwind of a respiratory disease
"Land Use Planning/District Profiling"	"Parcel inventory of zoning areas, flood plains, industrial parks, land uses, trees, green space, etc."	"Analysis of percentage of land used in each category, density levels by neighbourhoods, threats to residential amenities, proximity to locally unwanted land uses"	police beat" "Evaluation of land use plan based on demographic characteristics of nearby population (e.g. will a smokestack industry be sited upwind of a respiratory disease hospital?)"

Table 12. GIS applications used in local governments (continue)

"Parks and	"Inventory of park	"Analysis of	"Modelling
Recreation"	holdings/	neighbourhood	population
	play areas, trails by	access to parks and	growth projections
	type, etc."	recreation	and potential future
		opportunities,	recreational
		age-related proximity	needs/play
		to	area uses"
		relevant play areas"	
"Environmental	"Inventory of	"Analysis of spread	"Modelling potential
Monitoring	environmental	rates and	environmental harm
	hazards in relation to	cumulative pollution	to specific local
	vital resources such	levels;	areas;
	as	analysis of potential	analysis of place-
	groundwater;	years	specific
	layering of	of life lost in a	multilayered
	nonpoint pollution	particular	pollution
	sources"	area due to	abatement plans"
		environmental	
		hazards"	
"Natural Resource	"Inventory of natural	"Analysis of how	"Evaluation of how
Management	resources such as	people	human activities
	land,	interact with natural	affect
	water, soils, plants"	landscapes"	the natural
			environment
			(e.g. is deforestation
			for agriculture use
			sustainable?)"

Table 12. GIS applications used in local governments (continue)

"Municipal Services"	"Identification of	"Analysis of basic	"Evaluation of how	
	administrative	services to	the basic services are	
	boundaries	be provided to the	available to all	
	and identification of	citizens"	citizens	
	the citizen		within their areas of	
	needs"		jurisdiction"	
"Emergency	"Location of key	"Analysis of	"Modelling effect of	
Management"	emergency	potential effects	placing emergency	
	exit routes and their	of emergencies of	facilities and	
	traffic	various	response	
	flow capacity and	magnitudes on exit	capacities in	
	critical	routes,	particular	
	danger points (e.g.	traffic flow, etc."	locations"	
	bridges			
	likely to be destroyed			
	by an			
	earthquake)"			
"Citizen Information/	"Location of persons	"Analysis of voting	"Modelling effect of	
Geodemographics	with	characteristics of	placing information	
	specific demographic	particular	kiosks at particular	
	characteristics such	areas"	locations"	
	as voting			
	patterns, service			
	usage and			
	preferences,			
	commuting			
	routes, occupations"			

Table 12. GIS applications used in local governments (continue)

The significance of MGIS in urban management is its power to solve complex urban problems and achieve sustainable development goals. MGIS enables cities to be managed more efficiently and effectively which also contributes to energy savings and improves traffic flow, air quality, and conservation of green spaces. This system also aids in reducing the environmental impacts of urban growth and enhancing the livability of cities [328]. The benefits of using GIS applications in local governments, along with the implementation costs, are shown in Table 13 [37,329].

"Benefits"	"Explanation"	"Implementation Costs"	"Explanation"
"Cost Savings"	"A GIS allows	"Technical	"Establishing and
	management to	Resources"	maintaining a GIS
	consider the role of		requires resources
	geography. It plays a		such as
	role in improving the		computers,
	delivery and		software, and
	utilization of a		supporting
	service."		peripherals."
"Improved Accuracy"	"GIS technology	"Skilled Staff"	"The operation
	combines sources of		and maintenance
	information		of a GIS require
	providing accurate		both technical and
	and up-to-date facts.		office personnel."
	Accurate information		
	enables better		
	products, decisions,		
	analyses, reports, and		
	development		
	solutions."		

Table 13. Benefits and impl	ementation costs	of GIS in cit	y management
-----------------------------	------------------	---------------	--------------

"Benefits"	"Explanation"	"Implementation	"Explanation"
		Costs"	
"Effective Communication	"A GIS can compile	"Training"	"Staff training
and Collaboration"	and share various		will be a relatively
	pieces of information		high proportional
	in a way that is		cost due to the
	understandable and		need for acquiring
	beneficial for staff		essential skills
	working in various		initially to
	municipal		manage the
	departments, external		system
	stakeholders,		successfully."
	business partners,		
	and the public."		
"Improve Transparency	"Maps can be a	"Data Purchase	"Creating a
and Accountability"	valuable part of	or Collection"	comprehensive,
	government		high-quality
	transparency since		database is a
	they help citizens		challenging task,
	quickly visualize and		especially in a
	understand what the		developing
	government is doing		country.
	in areas important to		Moreover, not all
	them."		data are created
			equal; the type,
			scale, accuracy,
			compatibility, and
			currency of the
			information are
			concerns
			wherever data are
			analyzed."

Table 13. Benefits and implementation costs of GIS in city management (continue)

"Benefits"	"Explanation"	"Implementation	"Explanation"
		Costs"	
"Support Decision Making"	"A GIS officiently	"Institutional	"A CIS
Support Decision Making	A OIS efficiently	Institutional	A OIS
	and swiftly runs	Issues"	department should
	multiple scenarios		function as an
	and offers multiple		interdepartmental
	alternatives for		unit that assists
	examination."		other departments
			within the
			municipality. A
			lack of
			coordination
			between the GIS
			unit and other
			departments can
			pose a threat and
			may result in
			wasted effort and
			cost."
"Build an Information Base"	"Organizing data in a		
	GIS creates reusable		
	and geographically		
	referenced datasets "		
	rererenceu uatasets.		

Table 13. Benefits and implementation costs of GIS in city management (continue)

It is expected that the importance of MGIS will continue to increase in the future. With the integration of technologies such as artificial intelligence and machine learning, MGIS will be capable of conducting more advanced analyses and offering more predictable models. These developments will make urban planning more dynamic and flexible, thus allowing cities to respond more quickly and effectively to rapidly changing needs.

With all these features, MGIS is an indispensable part of urban planning and management. This system makes significant contributions to the sustainable development of urban areas and will continue to play a crucial role in shaping the future of city life. The effective use of this powerful tool by local governments is critical in building more livable, efficient, and sustainable cities.

4.6.3. Design of Model

Planning issues and the creation of sustainable urban models in city areas significantly affect the livability levels of cities. In recent years, policies have been developed and various methods have been applied to overcome these problems [56,58,330–332]. Additionally, there is a desire to give cities an identity to increase their desirability among people and to create sustainable urban models.

In this study, a model design is created that can analyze the current and future needs of cities and facilitate the creation of sustainable urban models (Figure 4). However, the TOPSIS method is not included in the MGIS model design. The reason for not incorporating the TOPSIS method into the model design is that this method is used only for identifying areas for investment and can be applied to different methodologies at the discretion of decision-makers.



Figure 4. Design of MGIS solution model

5. APPLICATION STAGE

The objective of this study is to develop an MGIS approach that integrates urban planning criteria with GIS, MCDM methods, and Game Theory. This approach will allow for the evaluation of urban planning criteria to determine the current state of cities and identify their livability levels using the applied methods.

In this context, initially, data related to urban planning criteria were first transferred to a GIS environment for a preliminary assessment. Subsequently, the criteria and sub-criteria to be used in the study were identified (Figure 3), and a survey was conducted with twenty individuals. The survey included expert geomatic engineers, urban planners, architects, and professionals from other engineering disciplines.

During the application phase, both AHP and EWM were used to calculate the weights of the criteria. Therefore, survey participants were asked to evaluate the criteria in comparisons using a priority score ranging from 1 to 9. The geometric means of the data obtained from the survey results were calculated to determine the scores to be used in AHP and EWM methods. Thence, the Game Theory methodology was used to determine the final weights of the criteria, taking into account the differences in criteria weights that would arise between methods. Afterwards, the WLC method was used to create decision maps based on the weight results obtained, and the resulting data was compared. The pixel values of the created decision maps were evaluated in the TOPSIS methodology to determine the priority order of areas requiring investment for enhancing the livability and sustainability of cities, and the findings were compared.

5.1. Determination of Criteria Weights with AHP

In the study, pairwise comparison matrices of AHP were created to obtain the weight of each criterion. In doing so, all criteria--walkability, environment, connectivity, transportation, and climate change-- were divided into five main groups according to their domains of influence (Figure 5). These five groups were evaluated independently, and

their weights were calculated separately. Subsequently, the sub-criteria were also evaluated according to the characteristics of their groups, and their weights were determined (Tables 14-20). The CR value has been calculated as acceptable for all pairwise comparison matrices.



Figure 5. AHP hierarchy

А	B_1	B ₂	B ₃	B_4	B ₅	W
B ₁	1	1/2	1/2	1/2	1/2	0.1078
B_2	2	1	1	1	2	0.2490
B ₃	2	1	1	1/2	1/2	0.1705
B_4	2	1	2	1	2	0.2798
B ₅	2	1/2	2	1/2	1	0.1929

Table 14. The pairwise comparisons matrix of groups

CR= 0.044, B₁: Walkability, B₂: Environment, B₃: Connectivity, B₄: Transportation, B₅:Climate Change

B ₁	C ₁	C ₂	C ₃	C ₄	C ₅	C ₆	C ₇	C ₈	C ₉	C ₁₀	C ₁₁	C ₁₂	C ₁₃	C ₁₄	W
C ₁	1	2	2	3	6	3	8	3	5	2	2	3	7	2	0.1614
C_2	1/2	1	2	2	7	3	8	4	4	2	2	5	5	3	0.1477
C_3	1/2	1/2	1	2	6	3	6	4	4	2	2	3	4	2	0.1198
C_4	1/3	1/2	1/2	1	4	1	5	2	2	1/2	1/2	3	4	1/2	0.0627
C_5	1/6	1/7	1/6	1/4	1	1/4	2	1/3	1/4	1/7	1/6	1/6	1/3	1/6	0.0154
C_6	1/3	1/3	1/3	1	4	1	3	2	2	1/2	1/2	3	4	1/2	0.0574
C_7	1/8	1/8	1/6	1/5	1/2	1/3	1	1/2	1/3	1/8	1/8	1/4	1/3	1/5	0.0139
C_8	1/3	1/4	1/4	1/2	3	1/2	2	1	1	1/4	1/4	1	1	1/4	0.0313
C ₉	1/5	1/4	1/4	1/2	4	1/2	3	1	1	1/4	1/4	1/2	1/2	1/4	0.0298
C_{10}	1/2	1/2	1/2	2	7	2	7	4	4	1	1	4	6	2	0.1065
C_{11}	1/2	1/2	1/2	2	6	2	7	4	4	1	1	4	5	2	0.1038
C_{12}	1/3	1/5	1/3	1/3	6	1/3	4	1	2	1/4	1/4	1	2	1/3	0.0398
C ₁₃	1/7	1/5	1/4	1/4	3	1/4	3	1	2	1/6	1/5	1/2	1	1/3	0.0278
C_{14}	1/2	1/3	1/2	2	6	2	5	4	4	1/2	1/2	3	3	1	0.0826

Table 15. The pairwise comparisons matrix of walkability sub-criteria

CR= 0.039, C₁: Green Spaces, C₂: Subway Station, C₃: Bus Station, C₄: Railway Station,

C₅: Bike Sharing Station, C₆: Parking, C₇: Bank, C₈: Religious Area

C₉: Public Sector Area, C₁₀: School, C₁₁: Health Facility,

 C_{12} : Culture, Art and Entertainment Areas, C_{13} : Museums and Historic Sites, C_{14} : Sport Facility

B ₂	C ₁₅	C ₁₆	C ₁₇	W
C ₁₅	1	2	1	0.4000
C_{16}	1/2	1	1/2	0.2000
C ₁₇	1	2	1	0.4000

Table 16. The pairwise comparisons matrix of environment sub-criteria

CR=0.000, C_{15} : Green Spaces, C_{16} : Slope, C_{17} : Landslide

Table 17. The pairwise comparisons matrix of connectivity sub-criteria

B ₃	C ₁₈	C ₁₉	C ₂₀	C ₂₁	W
C ₁₈	1	2	2	3	0.4168
C ₁₉	1/2	1	2	2	0.2695
C ₂₀	1/2	1/2	1	2	0.1928
C ₂₁	1/3	1/2	1/2	1	0.1209
CR= 0.026,	C ₁₈ : Road,	C ₁₉ : Subway,	C ₂₀ : Railway,	C ₂₁ : C	Lycling Path

Table 18. The pairwise comparisons matrix of transportation sub-criteria

D	G	0	a	a	a	a	a	a	
\mathbf{B}_4	C_{22}	C_{23}	C_{24}	C_{25}	C_{26}	C_{27}	C_{28}	C_{29}	W
C ₂₂	1	1	2	3	1	1	2	2	0.1629
C ₂₃	1	1	2	4	1	2	2	3	0.1927
C_{24}	1/2	1/2	1	3	1/2	1/2	1	4	0.1063
C ₂₅	1/3	1/4	1/3	1	1/4	1/3	1/3	1	0.0443
C ₂₆	1	1	2	4	1	1	2	5	0.1848
C ₂₇	1	1/2	2	3	1	1	2	3	0.1560
C_{28}	1/2	1/2	1	3	1/2	1/2	1	4	0.1063
C ₂₉	1/2	1/3	1/4	1	1/5	1/3	1/4	1	0.0468

CR= 0.026, C₂₂: Road, C₂₃: Subway, C₂₄: Railway, C₂₅: Cycling Path, C₂₆: Subway Station, C₂₇: Bus Station, C₂₈: Railway Station, C₂₉: Bike Sharing Station
B ₅	C ₃₀	C ₃₁	C ₃₂	C ₃₃	C ₃₄	W
C ₃₀	1	1/2	1/2	1/3	1/3	0.0882
C ₃₁	2	1	2	1/2	1/2	0.1830
C ₃₂	2	1/2	1	1/2	1/2	0.1397
C ₃₃	3	2	2	1	1	0.2945
C ₃₄	3	2	2	1	1	0.2945

Table 19. The pairwise comparisons matrix of climate change sub-criteria

CR= 0.016, C₃₀: Temperature, C₃₁: Precipitation, C₃₂: LST, C₃₃: SO₂, C₃₄: CO

Goal A	Hierarchy B	Hierarchy C	W
А	B_1	C ₁	0.0174
		C_2	0.0159
		C ₃	0.0129
		C_4	0.0068
		C ₅	0.0017
		C_6	0.0062
		C_7	0.0015
		C_8	0.0034
		C ₉	0.0032
		C_{10}	0.0115
		C11	0.0112
		C ₁₂	0.0043
		C ₁₃	0.0030
		C_{14}	0.0089
	B_2	C ₁₅	0.0996
		C ₁₆	0.0498
		C ₁₇	0.0996
	B ₃	C_{18}	0.0711
		C ₁₉	0.0459
		C ₂₀	0.0329
		C ₂₁	0.0206

Table 20. The weight of criteria according to AHP

Goal A	Hierarchy B	Hierarchy C	W
	B_4	C ₂₂	0.0456
		C ₂₃	0.0539
		C_{24}	0.0297
		C ₂₅	0.0124
		C ₂₆	0.0517
		C ₂₇	0.0436
		C_{28}	0.0297
		C ₂₉	0.0131
	\mathbf{B}_5	C ₃₀	0.0170
		C ₃₁	0.0353
		C ₃₂	0.0269
		C ₃₃	0.0568
		C ₃₄	0.0568

Table 20. The weight of criteria according to AHP (continue)

5.2. Determination of Criteria Weights with EWM

In the study, the pairwise comparison matrix of AHP was used to obtain the weight of each criterion, followed by the application of the mathematical model of EWM to calculate the weights of the five groups and their sub-criteria (Tables 21-27).

А	B_1	B_2	B ₃	B_4	B ₅	W
B ₁	1	1/2	1/2	1/2	1/2	0.0686
B_2	2	1	1	1	2	0.1207
B ₃	2	1	1	1/2	1/2	0.2685
\mathbf{B}_4	2	1	2	1	2	0.1444
B ₅	2	1/2	2	1/2	1	0.3978

Table 21. The pairwise comparisons matrix of groups

 B_1 : Walkability, B_2 : Environment, B_3 : Connectivity, B_4 : Transportation, B_5 :Climate Change

B ₁	C_1	C ₂	C ₃	C ₄	C ₅	C ₆	C ₇	C ₈	C ₉	C_{10}	C ₁₁	C ₁₂	C ₁₃	C ₁₄	W
C ₁	1	2	2	3	6	3	8	3	5	2	2	3	7	2	0.0377
C_2	1/2	1	2	2	7	3	8	4	4	2	2	5	5	3	0.0881
C ₃	1/2	1/2	1	2	6	3	6	4	4	2	2	3	4	2	0.0939
C_4	1/3	1/2	1/2	1	4	1	5	2	2	1/2	1/2	3	4	1/2	0.0742
C_5	1/6	1/7	1/6	1/4	1	1/4	2	1/3	1/4	1/7	1/6	1/6	1/3	1/6	0.0325
C_6	1/3	1/3	1/3	1	4	1	3	2	2	1/2	1/2	3	4	1/2	0.0809
C_7	1/8	1/8	1/6	1/5	1/2	1/3	1	1/2	1/3	1/8	1/8	1/4	1/3	1/5	0.0340
C_8	1/3	1/4	1/4	1/2	3	1/2	2	1	1	1/4	1/4	1	1	1/4	0.0572
C ₉	1/5	1/4	1/4	1/2	4	1/2	3	1	1	1/4	1/4	1/2	1/2	1/4	0.0547
C_{10}	1/2	1/2	1/2	2	7	2	7	4	4	1	1	4	6	2	0.1006
C_{11}	1/2	1/2	1/2	2	6	2	7	4	4	1	1	4	5	2	0.0979
C_{12}	1/3	1/5	1/3	1/3	6	1/3	4	1	2	1/4	1/4	1	2	1/3	0.0743
C_{13}	1/7	1/5	1/4	1/4	3	1/4	3	1	2	1/6	1/5	1/2	1	1/3	0.0736
C_{14}	1/2	1/3	1/2	2	6	2	5	4	4	1/2	1/2	3	3	1	0.1004

Table 22. The pairwise comparisons matrix of walkability sub-criteria

C1: Green Spaces, C2: Subway Station, C3: Bus Station, C4: Railway Station,

C₅: Bike Sharing Station, C₆: Parking, C₇: Bank, C₈: Religious Area

C₉: Public Sector Area, C₁₀: School, C₁₁: Health Facility,

C12: Culture, Art and Entertainment Areas, C13: Museums and Historic Sites, C14: Sport Facility

B ₂	C ₁₅	C ₁₆	C ₁₇	W
C ₁₅	1	2	1	0.3333
C ₁₆	1/2	1	1/2	0.3333
C ₁₇	1	2	1	0.3333

Table 23. The pairwise comparisons matrix of environment sub-criteria

C₁₅: Green Spaces, C₁₆: Slope, C₁₇: Landslide

Table 24. The pairwise comparisons matrix of connectivity sub-criteria

B ₃	C ₁₈	C ₁₉	C ₂₀	C ₂₁	W
C ₁₈	1	2	2	3	0.1904
C ₁₉	1/2	1	2	2	0.3883
C ₂₀	1/2	1/2	1	2	0.2748
C ₂₁	1/3	1/2	1/2	1	0.1465

C₁₈: Road, C₁₉: Subway, C₂₀: Railway, C₂₁: Cycling Path

B ₄	C ₂₂	C ₂₃	C ₂₄	C ₂₅	C ₂₆	C ₂₇	C ₂₈	C ₂₉	W
C ₂₂	1	1	2	3	1	1	2	2	0.0705
C ₂₃	1	1	2	4	1	2	2	3	0.1024
C ₂₄	1/2	1/2	1	3	1/2	1/2	1	4	0.1664
C ₂₅	1/3	1/4	1/3	1	1/4	1/3	1/3	1	0.0864
C_{26}	1	1	2	4	1	1	2	5	0.1262
C_{27}	1	1/2	2	3	1	1	2	3	0.1661
C_{28}	1/2	1/2	1	3	1/2	1/2	1	4	0.1664
C ₂₉	1/2	1/3	1/4	1	1/5	1/3	1/4	1	0.1157

Table 25. The pairwise comparisons matrix of transportation sub-criteria

 $\overline{C_{22}}$: Road, C_{23} : Subway, C_{24} : Railway, C_{25} : Cycling Path, C_{26} : Subway Station, C_{27} : Bus Station, C_{28} : Railway Station, C_{29} : Bike Sharing Station

Table 26. The pairwise comparisons matrix of climate change sub-criteria

B ₅	C ₃₀	C ₃₁	C ₃₂	C ₃₃	C ₃₄	W
C ₃₀	1	1/2	1/2	1/3	1/3	0.1244
C ₃₁	2	1	2	1/2	1/2	0.3251
C ₃₂	2	1/2	1	1/2	1/2	0.2035
C ₃₃	3	2	2	1	1	0.1735
C ₃₄	3	2	2	1	1	0.1735
C ₃₀ : Temper	rature, C ₃₁ :	Precipitation,	C ₃₂ : LST,	C ₃₃ : SO _{2,}	C _{34:} CO	

Table 27. The weight of criteria according to EWM

Goal A	Hierarchy B	Hierarchy C	W
А	B_1	C_1	0.0026
		C_2	0.0060
		C_3	0.0064
		C_4	0.0051
		C5	0.0022
		C_6	0.0055
		C ₇	0.0023
		C_8	0.0039
		C ₉	0.0038
		C_{10}	0.0069

Goal A	Hierarchy B	Hierarchy C	W
		C ₁₁	0.0067
		C_{12}	0.0051
		C ₁₃	0.0050
		C_{14}	0.0069
	B_2	C ₁₅	0.0402
		C ₁₆	0.0402
		C ₁₇	0.0402
	B ₃	C_{18}	0.0511
		C ₁₉	0.1043
		C ₂₀	0.0738
		C ₂₁	0.0393
	B_4	C ₂₂	0.0102
		C ₂₃	0.0148
		C ₂₄	0.0240
		C ₂₅	0.0125
		C ₂₆	0.0182
		C ₂₇	0.0240
		C_{28}	0.0240
		C ₂₉	0.0167
	B_5	C ₃₀	0.0495
		C ₃₁	0.0129
		C ₃₂	0.0810
		C ₃₃	0.0690
		C ₃₄	0.0690

Table 27. The weight of criteria according to EWM (continue)

5.3. Determination of Criteria Weights with Game Theory

In the study, the mathematical model of Game Theory was applied to the weights determined by AHP and EWM methods to finalize the weights of criteria and sub-criteria. In this process, the weights obtained through the AHP method were initially defined as subject weight (SW), and those obtained through the EWM method were defined as object weight (OW). Weight matrices W_1 and W_2 were formed with the weights derived from the AHP and EWM methods, respectively.

The transpose of the created W₁ and W₂ matrices were obtained as W1T and W2T. Utilizing Formula 10, $w_i \times w_j^T$ matrix was first derived, followed by the $w_i \times w_i^T$. Next, by multiplying the inverse of the $w_i \times w_j^T$ matrix with the $w_i \times w_i^T$ matrix, the weight coefficient matrix was obtained in the form of $a_k^* = a_{1,a_2}$. This matrix was normalized to calculate the normalized weight coefficient matrix (Formula 12).

The weight matrix w^* was derived by multiplying each row of the W_k^T matrix, created by taking the transpose of the W_1 and W_2 matrices, with the a_k^* matrix (Formula 13). The weights obtained according to the applied methodology are shown in Tables 28-34.

Table 28. The weight of groups

Methods	B_1	B ₂	B ₃	\mathbf{B}_4	B ₅
AHP	0.1078	0.2490	0.1705	0.2798	0.1929
EWM	0.0686	0.1207	0.2685	0.1444	0.3978
Game Theory	0.0780	0.1515	0.2450	0.1768	0.3486

 $a_1 = 0.2398, a_2 = 0.7602,$

B1: Walkability, B2: Environment, B3: Connectivity, B4: Transportation, B5:Climate Change

Table 29. The weight of walkability sub-criteria

B1	C_1	C_2	C_3	C_4	C_5	C_6	C_7	C_8	C ₉	C_{10}	C_{11}	C_{12}	C ₁₃	C_{14}
AHP	0.1614	0.1477	0.1198	0.0627	0.0154	0.0574	0.0139	0.0313	0.0298	0.1065	0.1038	0.0398	0.0278	0.0826
EWM	0.0377	0.0881	0.0939	0.0742	0.0325	0.0809	0.0340	0.0572	0.0547	0.1006	0.0979	0.0743	0.0736	0.1004
Game Theory	0.1550	0.1446	0.1185	0.0633	0.0163	0.0586	0.0149	0.0326	0.0311	0.1062	0.1035	0.0416	0.0302	0.0835

 $a_1 = 0.9487, a_2 = 0.0513,$

C1: Green Spaces, C2: Subway Station, C3: Bus Station, C4: Railway Station, C5: Bike Sharing Station,

C₆: Parking, C₇: Bank, C₈: Religious Area, C₉: Public Sector Area, C₁₀: School, C₁₁: Health Facility,

C12: Culture, Art and Entertainment Areas, C13: Museums and Historic Sites, C14: Sport Facility

Table 30. The pairwise comparisons matrix of environment sub-criteria

B ₂	C ₁₅	C ₁₆	C ₁₇
AHP	0.4000	0.2000	0.4000
EWM	0.3333	0.3333	0.3333
Game Theory	0.4000	0.2000	0.4000

 $a_1 = 1.0000, a_2 = 0.0000,$

C₁₅: Green Spaces, C₁₆: Slope, C₁₇: Landslide

т	'ah	10 21	The	nairwice	comparisons	matrix of	connectivity	z sub_criter	ria
T	aD	10 31	. The	pairwise	comparisons	matrix of	connectivity	sub-criter	14

B ₃	C ₁₈	C ₁₉	C ₂₀	C ₂₁					
AHP	0.4168	0.2695	0.1928	0.1209					
EWM	0.1904	0.3883	0.2748	0.1465					
Game Theory	0.3230	0.3187	0.2268	0.1316					
$a_1 = 0.5855, a_2 =$	$a_1 = 0.5855$ $a_2 = 0.4145$								

 $a_1 = 0.3633, a_2 = 0.4143,$ C₁₈: Road, C₁₉: Subway, C₂₀: Railway, C₂₁: Cycling Path

Table 32. The pairwise comparisons matrix of transportation sub-criteria

B ₄	C ₂₂	C ₂₃	C ₂₄	C ₂₅	C ₂₆	C ₂₇	C ₂₈	C ₂₉
AHP	0.1629	0.1927	0.1063	0.0443	0.1848	0.1560	0.1063	0.0468
EWM	0.0705	0.1024	0.1664	0.0864	0.1262	0.1661	0.1664	0.1157
Game Theory	0.1334	0.1639	0.1255	0.0577	0.1661	0.1592	0.1255	0.0688

 $a_1 = 0.6810, a_2 = 0.3190,$

C22: Road, C23: Subway, C24: Railway, C25: Cycling Path, C26: Subway Station, C₂₇: Bus Station, C₂₈: Railway Station, C₂₉: Bike Sharing Station

Table 33. The pairwise comparisons matrix of climate change sub-criteria

B ₅	C ₃₀	C ₃₁	C ₃₂	C ₃₃	C ₃₄
AHP	0.0882	0.1830	0.1397	0.2945	0.2945
EWM	0.1244	0.3251	0.2035	0.1735	0.1735
Game Theory	0.1029	0.2409	0.1657	0.2453	0.2453
$a_1 = 0.5929, a_2 = C_{30}$: Temperature	0.4071, c, C ₃₁ : Pre	cipitation,	C ₃₂ : LST,	C ₃₃ : SO _{2,}	C _{34:} CO

Table 34. The weight of criteria according to AHP, EWM, and Game Theory

Goal A	Hierarchy B	Hierarchy C	W (AHP)	W (EWM)	W (Game Theory)
Α	\mathbf{B}_1	C_1	0.0174	0.0026	0.0121
		C_2	0.0159	0.0060	0.0113
		C_3	0.0129	0.0064	0.0092
		C_4	0.0068	0.0051	0.0049
		C_5	0.0017	0.0022	0.0013
		C_6	0.0062	0.0055	0.0046

Goal A	Hierarchy B	Hierarchy C	W (AHP)	W (EWM)	W (Game Theory)
		C ₇	0.0015	0.0023	0.0012
		C_8	0.0034	0.0039	0.0025
		C ₉	0.0032	0.0038	0.0024
		C_{10}	0.0115	0.0069	0.0083
		C ₁₁	0.0112	0.0067	0.0081
		C ₁₂	0.0043	0.0051	0.0032
		C ₁₃	0.0030	0.0050	0.0024
		C_{14}	0.0089	0.0069	0.0065
	B_2	C ₁₅	0.0996	0.0402	0.0606
		C ₁₆	0.0498	0.0402	0.0303
		C ₁₇	0.0996	0.0402	0.0606
	B ₃	C_{18}	0.0711	0.0511	0.0791
		C ₁₉	0.0459	0.1043	0.0781
		C_{20}	0.0329	0.0738	0.0556
		C ₂₁	0.0206	0.0393	0.0322
	\mathbf{B}_4	C ₂₂	0.0456	0.0102	0.0236
		C ₂₃	0.0539	0.0148	0.0290
		C ₂₄	0.0297	0.0240	0.0222
		C ₂₅	0.0124	0.0125	0.0102
		C ₂₆	0.0517	0.0182	0.0294
		C ₂₇	0.0436	0.0240	0.0281
		C_{28}	0.0297	0.0240	0.0222
		C ₂₉	0.0131	0.0167	0.0122

Table 34. The weight of criteria according to AHP, EWM, and Game Theory (continue)

Goal A	Hierarchy B	Hierarchy C	W (AHP)	W (EWM)	W (Game Theory)
	B 5	C ₃₀	0.0170	0.0495	0.0359
		C ₃₁	0.0353	0.0129	0.0840
		C ₃₂	0.0269	0.0810	0.0578
		C ₃₃	0.0568	0.0690	0.0855
		C ₃₄	0.0568	0.0690	0.0855

Table 34. The weight of criteria according to AHP, EWM, and Game Theory (continue)

5.4. Analysis

The main aim of implementing the MGIS Solution Model was to identify livable areas in the study area. For this purpose, criteria such as Green Spaces, Subway Stations, Bus Stations, Railway Stations, Bike Sharing Stations, Roads, Subway, Railway and Cycling Paths were scored in different criterion groups in this study and received varying points according to their relative importance within each group. The purpose of this is to demonstrate that criteria in urban planning can have different levels of importance depending on their use or planning purpose.

To identify livable areas in the study area, rasta data were created by first analyzing the criteria listed in Table 5 in accordance with the sub-criteria. The analysis of climate change raster data (C_{30-34}) was conducted at a cell resolution of 100m x 100m, while the analysis of other raster data was performed at a 30m x 30m cell resolution. Moreover, the inverse distance weighting (IDW) method was used in creating the climate data. Suitability maps (Figure 6-13) were reclassified in the ArcGIS software and scored between one and five. Thus, unsuitable areas were represented with one point, and the most suitable areas were represented with five points.

All the resulting suitability maps were multiplied separately by the weights determined in the AHP, EWM, and Game Theory methods according to the methodology shown in Figure 4 in a GIS environment (ArcGIS 10.3, Raster Calculator Tool) and summed up to produce weighted decision maps with a cell resolution of 30m x 30m (Figure 14).



Figure 6. Suitability maps (C1-4)



Figure 7. Suitability maps (C₅₋₈)



Figure 8. Suitability maps (C9-11)



Figure 9. Suitability maps (C₁₂₋₁₄)



Figure 10. Suitability maps (C₁₅₋₁₇)



Figure 11. Suitability maps (C₁₈₋₂₁; C₂₂₋₂₅)



Figure 12. Suitability maps (C₂₆₋₂₉)



Figure 13. Suitability maps (C₃₀₋₃₄)



Figure 14. Decision maps

6. RESULTS

The findings section comprises three separate parts where the results obtained from the AHP, EWM, and Game Theory methodologies are compared and evaluated. Thus, by highlighting the differences between the methods, it is demonstrated that the Game Theory method, which minimizes the differences between the methods, should be actively used in the decision-making processes of municipalities. In addition, this section emphasizes the facilitative effect of the developed model on urban planning and site selection studies. Furthermore, using the data from the decision maps in the TOPSIS method, areas in the study area where investments can be made to achieve livability and sustainability have been identified.

The study concludes that, although the suitability values of each criterion differ according to its sub-criteria, the suitable areas vary within a hierarchy where AHP, EWM, Game Theory, and WLC methods are utilized.

6.1. Evaluation of MGIS Solution Model with AHP

The decision map (Figure 14a) resulting from the application of the AHP methodology based on urban planning criteria within the MGIS model was examined. The AHP decision map identifies that the most suitable areas (Score: 5) are concentrated in the north, west, and southwest sections of the Konak district. The parts where the most suitable areas are concentrated are close to the central residential areas, transportation lines, parking spaces, culture, arts and entertainment areas, sports facilities, the sea, and green areas of the Konak district. It has also been determined that these areas have less slope.

Very suitable areas (Score: 4) are densely located in the northern part of the study area and partially in the west and southwest. Suitable areas (Score: 3) are mainly found in the north and northeast, with some in the south and southwest. Conversely, when the less suitable areas (Score: 2) are examined, it is seen that albeit they are more prevalent especially in the south and southeast parts, there are also comparatively less suitable areas in the north and northeast. Finally, upon examining the unsuitable areas (Score: 1), they are found to be in the south and southeast regions.

The findings show that the lack of other forms of transportation infrastructure than buses, the area's slope, the scarcity of green areas, the distance from parking areas, being remote from sports facilities, culture, arts and entertainment areas, the risk of landslides, and the lack of an effective local settlement plan are all significant factors. Additionally, the AHP method revealed that the criteria for Green Spaces, Landslides, and Roads had the highest weights. The results obtained demonstrate that these three criteria have played a significant role.

6.2. Evaluation of MGIS Solution Model with EWM

In the EWM decision map (Figure 14b), it has been determined that the most suitable areas (Score: 5) are located in the north, west, and southwest sections of the study area. Particularly in the north and southwest sections, it has been identified that the most suitable areas cover a large spread. The parts where the most suitable areas are concentrated are close to the central residential areas, transportation lines, the sea, parking spaces, culture, arts and entertainment areas, and green areas of the Konak district. It has also been determined that these areas have less slope.

Very suitable areas (Score: 4) are densely located in the northern part of the study area and partially in the west and southwest. The difference between these areas compared to the most suitable ones is primarily their slightly greater distance from transportation lines. Suitable areas (Score: 3) are mainly found in the north, northeast, and central sections of the study area, with some also in the south and southwest. However, upon examining the less suitable areas (Score: 2), it is observed that these areas are especially located in the central, south, and east sections. The southerly section of these sections has been found to have a higher concentration of less suitable areas. Also, when the unsuitable areas are examined (Score: 1), they are found to be in the south and southeast regions. The results indicate that the absence of a subway, railway, cycling path, subway station, railway station, bike sharing station areas, being a sloped region, the scarcity of green areas, the distance from culture, arts and entertainment areas, the absence of parking and sports facilities areas, landslide risk, and not having a good local settlement plan are significant factors. Furthermore, the criteria with the highest weights according to the EWM were Subway, Railway, and LST. The outcomes indicate that these three criteria have had a significant impact, and the weighted results of the criteria are different from those obtained by the AHP method.

6.3. Evaluation of MGIS Solution Model with Game Theory

In the Game Theory decision map (Fig 14c), it has been determined that the most suitable areas (Score: 5) are located in the north, west, and southwest sections of the study area. Particularly in the north and west sections, it has been identified that the most suitable areas cover a large spread. The parts where the most suitable areas are concentrated are close to the central residential areas, transportation lines, the sea, parking spaces, culture, arts and entertainment areas, sports facilities, and green areas of the Konak district. It has also been determined that these areas have less slope.

Very suitable areas (Score: 4) are densely located in the northern part of the study area and partially in the west and southwest. The difference between these areas compared to the most suitable ones is primarily the impact of the transportation factor. Suitable areas (Score: 3) are mainly found in the north, northeast, and central sections of the study area, with some also in the south and southwest. Conversely, when the less suitable areas (Score: 2) are examined, it is observed that these areas are especially located in the central, south, and southeast sections. Additionally, it has been identified that less suitable areas also partially occur in the north and northeast. Among these sections, a higher concentration of less suitable areas has been identified in the southeastern part. Finally, when the unsuitable areas are examined (Score: 1), these areas are found in the south and southeast regions. The results indicate that the absence of transportation diversity and the lack of stations for these modes of transport, the scarcity of green areas, the distance from culture, arts and entertainment areas, the absence of parking and sports facilities areas, the presence of sloped areas with a high landslide risk, and not having a good local settlement plan are significant factors. In addition, according to the Game Theory method, the criteria of Precipitation, SO2, and CO have been assigned the highest weights. These findings also display variations from the results obtained through the AHP and EWM.

6.4. Comparison of AHP and EWM Methods in the MGIS Solution Model

When comparing the decision maps produced using AHP and EWM methodologies (Figure 14a, 14b), it has been determined that the most suitable areas (Score: 5) located in the northern section of the AHP decision map are less extensive than the same region in the EWM decision map. The most suitable areas in the western part of the AHP decision map are more extensive than the same region in the EWM decision map. It has been found that the most suitable areas in the southwestern parts of both decision maps are approximately of the same extent.

It has been identified that the very suitable areas (Score: 4) in the north and central sections of the AHP decision map cover less area compared to the same region in the EWM decision map; especially in this region, there is an increase in the most suitable areas (Score: 5) in the EWM decision map. Additionally, it has been observed that the very suitable areas (Score: 4) in the west and southwest sections of the AHP decision map have decreased as a result of the application of the EWM methodology (Figure 14b), while suitable areas (Score: 3) have increased in these regions. Moreover, it has been determined that the most suitable areas (Score: 5) in the application of the EWM method, and there has been an increase in very suitable (Score: 4) areas (Figure 14b).

The suitable areas (Score: 3) located in the north of the AHP decision map cover less area compared to the same region in the EWM decision map. When the suitable areas in the northeast and east regions of the AHP decision map were examined, it was found that

these areas also covered less area compared to the EWM decision map; especially in these areas, an increase in very suitable (Score: 4) and less suitable areas (Score: 2) was observed. Additionally, it has been determined that the suitable areas in the southwest region of the AHP decision map cover more area compared to the same region in the EWM decision map. This area has seen an increase in very suitable areas (Score: 4) due to the effect of the EWM methodology.

The less suitable areas (Score: 2) located in the north and northeast of the AHP decision map were not found in the EWM decision map, where an increase in suitable areas (Score: 3) has been identified. While the less suitable areas (Score: 2) in the eastern part of the AHP decision map have shown an increase in the same region with the application of the EWM methodology (Figure 14b), the less suitable areas (Score: 2) in the southeast part of the AHP decision map have significantly decreased in the EWM decision map. Contrarily, it has been determined that there is a substantial increase in unsuitable areas (Score: 1) in these regions. Moreover, when the southern parts of the study area were examined, it was observed that the less suitable areas (Score: 2) in the AHP decision map showed a partial increase in the EWM decision map; especially in these areas, a decrease in suitable areas (Score: 3) was noticed.

The unsuitable areas (Score: 1) in the southeast part of the AHP decision map have shown a significant increase in the EWM decision map. Similarly, a partial increase has been observed in the unsuitable areas in the southern part of the AHP decision map. Thus, it has been determined that the unsuitable areas have replaced the less suitable areas (Score: 2).

The changes in the suitability values obtained as a result of the application of the AHP and EWM methods across the study area are presented in Table 35.

Suitability Index	AHP (ha)	Percentage (%)	EWM (ha)	Percentage (%)	Percentage Difference
1	349.65	15.86	492.35	22.33	- 6.47
2	436.79	19.81	371.44	16.85	+ 2.96
3	453.32	20.56	383.64	17.40	+ 3.16
4	569.91	25.85	519.62	23.57	+ 2.28
5	395.23	17.93	437.86	19.86	- 1.93
Total	2204.91	100	2204.91	100	

Table 35. Area analysis of AHP and EWM decision maps according to their suitable values

The application of the EWM methodology has increased in the most suitable areas (Score: 5), whereas decreases have been observed in the very suitable (Score: 4), suitable (Score: 3), and less suitable (Score: 2) areas when the changes in the suitability values across the study area are examined. The unsuitable areas, on the other hand, have shown an increase of 6.47% when the EWM methodology was applied. These results stem from the mathematical model of the EWM method being simpler compared to the AHP method.

6.5. Comparison of AHP and Game Theory Methods in the MGIS Solution Model

The most suitable areas (Score: 5) in the northeast section of the Game Theory decision map have increased when compared to the same region in the AHP decision map, according to a comparison of the decision maps created using the AHP and Game Theory methodologies (Figure 14a, 14c). However, the distribution and extent of the most suitable areas located in the west and southwest regions are found to be almost the same in the results obtained from both methodologies.

Despite the very suitable areas (Score: 4) in the northeast section of the AHP decision map covering less area compared to the same region in the Game Theory decision map, an increase in this ratio has been observed in the north and northwest sections. Similarly, an increase in very suitable areas has been determined in the central, south, and southwest sections with the application of the Game Theory methodology.

Furthermore, it has been determined that the suitable areas (Score: 3) located in the north and northeast regions of the AHP decision map cover less area compared to the same region in the Game Theory decision map. A decrease in suitable areas has been observed in the eastern and southern sections with the application of the Game Theory methodology. Additionally, an increase in suitable areas has been observed in the southwest section of the Game Theory decision map.

Findings from the analysis of the study area's less suitable areas (Score: 2) indicate that areas located in the north and northeast of the AHP decision map have decreased in the Game Theory decision map. Contrarily, an increase in these areas has been observed in the eastern part. Overall, partial decreases and increases have been seen regionally in the southern sections with the application of the Game Theory methodology. Although there have been some minor regional decreases and increases, the analysis of the unsuitable areas (Score: 1) has not revealed any significant changes in either of the decision maps.

The changes in the suitability values obtained as a result of the application of the AHP and Game Theory methods across the study area are presented in Table 36.

Suitability Index	AHP (ha)	Percentage (%)	Game Theory (ha)	Percentage (%)	Percentage Difference
1	349.65	15.86	356.55	16.17	- 0.31
2	436.79	19.81	445.94	20.22	- 0.41
3	453.32	20.56	459.66	20.85	- 0.29
4	569.91	25.85	531.03	24.08	+ 1.77
5	395.23	17.93	411.73	18.67	- 0.74
Total	2204.91	100	2204.91	100	

Table 36. Area analysis of AHP and Game Theory decision maps according to their suitable values

In summary, after a thorough analysis of these changes, it was found that the application of the Game Theory methodology led to decreases in all areas except for the very suitable areas (Score: 4). However, these decreases have not been significant, indicating that the AHP methodology produces similar results to the Game Theory method.

6.6. Comparison of EWM and Game Theory Methods in the MGIS Solution Model

When the decision maps produced using EWM and Game Theory methodologies (Fig 14b, 14c) were compared, it was observed that the most suitable areas (Score: 5) located in the northeastern and western sections of the Game Theory decision map had decreased compared to the same regions in the EWM decision map. Similarly, by applying the Game Theory methodology, a partial regional decrease was detected in the most suitable areas located in the southwest section.

Furthermore, it has been determined that the very suitable areas (Score: 4) in the northeastern section of the EWM decision map also increased in the same region in the Game Theory decision map. This increase has also been observed in the northwest, southwest, and central sections of the study area. However, according to both methods, no significant change was identified in the western region.

With regards to the suitable areas (Score: 3), it has been determined that the suitable areas in the northern region of the EWM decision map cover a larger area than the same region in the Game Theory decision map. Additionally, regional decreases and increases have been observed in the east and northeast regions. However, no significant changes have been noticed in other regions.

Upon examination of the less suitable areas (Score: 2) in the study area, a significant increase has been found in the areas located in the southeast of the EWM decision map in the Game Theory decision map. Contrarily, no significant changes have been found in other regions.

The examination of unsuitable areas (Score: 1) has determined a significant decrease in areas located in the southeast of the EWM decision map in the Game Theory decision map. Although no significant changes have been found in other regions, partial decreases have been observed.

The changes in the suitability values obtained as a result of applying the EWM and Game Theory methods across the study area are presented in Table 37.

Suitability Index	EWM (ha)	Percentage (%)	Game Theory (ha)	Percentage (%)	Percentage Difference
1	492.35	22.33	356.55	16.17	+ 6.16
2	371.44	16.85	445.94	20.22	- 3.37
3	383.64	17.40	459.66	20.85	- 3.45
4	519.62	23.57	531.03	24.08	- 0.51
5	437.86	19.86	411.73	18.67	+ 1.19
Total	2204.91	100	2204.91	100	

Table 37. Area analysis of EWM and Game Theory decision maps according to their suitable values

The analyses have shown that the application of the Game Theory methodology resulted in decreases in the most suitable (Score: 5) and unsuitable areas (Score: 1), while increases occurred in other areas. In particular, a significant decrease has been observed in unsuitable areas following the application of the Game Theory methodology. In effect, the formation of these results has been influenced by the Game Theory method, which balances the AHP and EWM methods with the "Nash Equilibrium", and this equilibrium point creates differences with the EWM mathematical model.

6.7. Ranking of Investment Sites with TOPSIS

The study results identify unsuitable areas (Figure 14) that demonstrate where investments can be made to enhance livability and create sustainable cities. However, the challenge arises in deciding which of these areas should be prioritized when making investment plans. Thus, the TOPSIS method was used to solve this problem. Before applying the TOPSIS method, planning and suitability index domains were evaluated, and the unsuitable areas were divided into 15 alternative areas (Figure 15-17). Afterwards, the identified alternative areas were compared with each other based on the pixel values of each criterion (Table 38-52).



Figure 15. Alternative investment sites map (AHP)



Figure 16. Alternative investment sites map (EWM)



Figure 17. Alternative investment sites map (Game Theory)

Site Index	C_1	C_2	C ₃	C ₄	C5	C ₆	C ₇	C_8	C ₉	C_{10}	C ₁₁	C ₁₂	C ₁₃	C_{14}
I_1	4	2	5	2	1	1	3	5	5	5	5	4	5	1
I_2	5	1	5	3	1	1	2	5	5	5	5	3	5	1
I_3	4	1	5	1	1	1	3	5	4	5	5	4	4	1
I_4	2	1	5	1	1	1	3	4	4	5	5	4	2	1
I_5	5	1	5	3	1	1	1	5	5	5	4	2	4	1
I_6	3	1	5	4	1	1	1	5	4	5	5	2	3	1
I_7	5	1	5	2	1	1	2	4	4	5	5	4	2	1
I_8	5	1	5	1	1	1	3	5	4	5	5	4	1	1
I_9	5	1	5	1	1	1	1	5	4	5	5	4	1	1
I_10	4	1	5	1	1	1	4	5	4	5	5	5	1	1
I_11	4	1	5	1	1	1	4	5	4	5	4	4	2	1
I_12	2	1	5	2	1	1	4	4	4	4	4	3	2	3
I_13	5	1	4	4	1	1	2	5	4	5	5	4	3	1
I_14	4	1	5	2	1	1	4	5	5	5	5	5	2	1
I_15	4	1	5	1	1	1	4	5	5	5	5	4	2	1

Table 38. Alternative investment sites' values according to pixel values with AHP (Walkability)

Table 39. Alternative investment sites' values according to pixel values with AHP (Environment)

Site Index	C ₁₅	C ₁₆	C ₁₇
I_1	4	3	1
I_2	5	3	1
I_3	4	4	1
I_4	2	3	2
I_5	5	3	1
I_6	3	4	2
I_7	5	4	2
I_8	5	4	1
I_9	5	3	2
I_10	4	4	2
I_11	4	4	2
I_12	2	5	5
I_13	5	3	2
I_14	4	4	2
I_15	4	3	1

Site Index	C ₁₈	C ₁₉	C ₂₀	C ₂₁
I_1	3	2	3	1
I_2	2	1	3	1
I_3	2	2	2	1
I_4	3	1	2	1
I_5	2	1	5	1
I_6	3	1	4	1
I_7	3	1	2	1
I_8	4	1	1	1
I_9	3	1	1	1
I_10	4	1	1	1
I_11	3	1	1	1
I_12	3	1	2	1
I_13	2	1	4	1
I_14	4	1	2	1
I_15	4	1	2	1

Table 40. Alternative investment sites' values according to pixel values with AHP (Connectivity)

Table 41. Alternative investment sites' values according to pixel values with AHP (Transportation)

Site Index	C ₂₂	C ₂₃	C ₂₄	C ₂₅	C ₂₆	C ₂₇	C ₂₈	C ₂₉
I_1	3	2	3	1	2	5	2	1
I_2	2	1	3	1	1	5	3	1
I_3	2	2	2	1	1	5	1	1
I_4	3	1	2	1	1	5	1	1
I_5	2	1	5	1	1	5	3	1
I_6	3	1	4	1	1	5	4	1
I_7	3	1	2	1	1	5	2	1
I_8	4	1	1	1	1	5	1	1
I_9	3	1	1	1	1	5	1	1
I_10	4	1	1	1	1	5	1	1

Site Index	C ₂₂	C ₂₃	C ₂₄	C ₂₅	C ₂₆	C ₂₇	C ₂₈	C ₂₉
I_11	3	1	1	1	1	5	1	1
I_12	3	1	2	1	1	5	2	1
I_13	2	1	4	1	1	4	4	1
I_14	4	1	2	1	1	5	2	1
I_15	4	1	2	1	1	5	1	1

Table 41. Alternative investment sites' values according to pixel values with AHP (Transportation) (continue)

Table 42. Alternative investment sites' values according to pixel values with AHP

Site Index	C ₃₀	C ₃₁	C ₃₂	C ₃₃	C ₃₄
I_1	3	1	2	3	3
I_2	3	1	2	3	3
I_3	3	1	2	3	2
I_4	3	1	2	3	2
I_5	3	1	2	3	2
I_6	3	1	2	3	2
I_7	3	1	2	3	2
I_8	3	1	2	3	2
I_9	3	1	2	4	2
I_10	3	1	2	4	2
I_11	3	1	2	4	2
I_12	3	1	2	4	3
I_13	3	1	2	3	2
I_14	3	1	2	3	2
I_15	3	1	2	3	2

(Climate Change)

Site Index	C_1	C ₂	C ₃	C ₄	C5	C_6	C ₇	C ₈	C9	C ₁₀	C ₁₁	C ₁₂	C ₁₃	C ₁₄
I_1	4	2	5	2	1	1	3	5	5	5	5	4	5	1
I_2	5	1	5	2	1	1	2	5	5	5	5	3	5	1
I_3	4	1	5	1	1	1	3	5	4	5	5	4	4	1
I_4	3	1	5	1	1	1	3	4	4	5	5	4	2	1
I_5	5	1	5	3	1	1	1	5	5	5	4	2	4	1
I_6	3	1	5	4	1	1	1	5	4	5	5	3	3	1
I_7	5	1	5	2	1	1	2	5	4	5	5	4	2	1
I_8	5	1	5	1	1	1	3	5	4	5	5	4	1	1
I_9	5	1	5	1	1	1	1	5	3	5	5	4	1	1
I_10	4	1	5	1	1	1	3	5	4	5	5	5	1	1
I_11	4	1	5	1	1	3	4	5	4	5	5	4	3	1
I_12	2	1	5	2	1	1	4	4	4	4	4	3	2	3
I_13	5	1	5	4	1	1	2	5	4	5	5	4	3	1
I_14	4	1	5	2	1	1	4	5	5	5	5	5	3	1
I_15	4	1	5	1	1	1	4	5	5	5	5	4	2	1

Table 43. Alternative investment sites' values according to pixel values with EWM (Walkability)

Table 44. Alternative investment sites' values according to pixel values with EWM (Environment)

Site Index	C ₁₅	C ₁₆	C ₁₇
I_1	4	3	1
I_2	5	3	1
I_3	4	4	1
I_4	3	3	2
I_5	5	3	2
I_6	3	4	2
I_7	5	4	2
I_8	5	4	1
I_9	5	3	2
I_10	4	4	2

Site Index	C ₁₅	C ₁₆	C ₁₇
I_11	4	4	3
I_12	2	5	5
I_13	5	4	2
I_14	4	4	3
I_15	4	4	2

Table 44. Alternative investment sites' values according to pixel values with EWM (Environment) (continue)

Table 45. Alternative investment sites' values according to pixel values with EWM (Connectivity)

Site Index	C ₁₈	C ₁₉	C ₂₀	C ₂₁
I_1	3	2	3	1
I_2	2	1	3	1
I_3	2	2	3	1
I_4	3	1	1	1
I_5	2	1	5	1
I_6	3	1	4	1
I_7	3	1	2	1
I_8	4	1	1	1
I_9	4	1	1	1
I_10	4	1	1	1
I_11	4	1	1	1
I_12	2	1	2	1
I_13	2	1	4	1
I_14	4	1	2	1
I_15	4	1	2	1

Site Index	C ₂₂	C ₂₃	C ₂₄	C ₂₅	C ₂₆	C ₂₇	C ₂₈	C ₂₉
I_1	3	2	3	1	2	5	2	1
I_2	2	1	3	1	1	5	2	1
I_3	2	2	3	1	1	5	1	1
I_4	3	1	1	1	1	5	1	1
I_5	2	1	5	1	1	5	3	1
I_6	3	1	4	1	1	5	4	1
I_7	3	1	2	1	1	5	2	1
I_8	4	1	1	1	1	5	1	1
I_9	4	1	1	1	1	5	1	1
I_10	4	1	1	1	1	5	1	1
I_11	4	1	1	1	1	5	1	1
I_12	2	1	2	1	1	5	2	1
I_13	2	1	4	1	1	5	4	1
I_14	4	1	2	1	1	5	2	1
I_15	4	1	2	1	1	5	1	1

Table 46. Alternative investment sites' values according to pixel values with EWM (Transportation)

Table 47. Alternative investment sites' values according to pixel values with EWM

Site Index	C ₃₀	C ₃₁	C ₃₂	C ₃₃	C ₃₄
I_1	3	1	2	3	3
I_2	3	1	2	3	3
I_3	3	1	2	3	2
I_4	3	1	2	3	2
I_5	3	1	2	3	2
I_6	3	1	2	3	2
I_7	3	1	2	3	2
I_8	3	1	2	3	2
I_9	3	1	2	4	2
I_10	3	1	2	4	2

(Climate Change)

Table 47. Alternative investment sites' values according to pixel values with EWM

Site Index	C ₃₀	C ₃₁	C ₃₂	C ₃₃	C ₃₄
I_11	3	1	2	4	2
I_12	3	1	2	4	3
I_13	3	1	2	3	2
I_14	3	1	2	3	2
I_15	3	1	2	3	2

(Climate Change) (continue)

Table 48. Alternative investment sites' values according to pixel values with Game Theory (Walkability)

Site Index	C_1	C_2	C ₃	C_4	C ₅	C ₆	C ₇	C_8	C ₉	C_{10}	C ₁₁	C ₁₂	C ₁₃	C ₁₄
I_1	4	2	5	2	1	1	3	5	5	5	5	4	5	1
I_2	5	1	5	2	1	1	2	4	5	5	5	3	5	1
I_3	4	1	5	1	1	1	3	5	4	5	5	4	4	1
I_4	2	1	5	1	1	1	3	4	4	5	5	4	2	1
I_5	5	1	5	3	1	1	1	5	5	5	4	2	4	1
I_6	4	1	5	4	1	1	1	5	4	5	5	2	3	1
I_7	5	1	5	2	1	1	2	4	4	5	5	4	2	1
I_8	5	1	5	1	1	1	3	5	4	5	5	4	1	1
I_9	5	1	5	1	1	1	1	5	4	5	5	4	1	1
I_10	4	1	5	1	1	1	3	5	4	5	5	5	1	1
I_11	4	1	5	1	1	1	4	5	4	5	5	4	3	1
I_12	2	1	5	2	1	1	4	4	4	4	4	3	2	3
I_13	5	1	4	4	1	1	2	5	4	5	5	4	3	1
I_14	3	1	5	1	1	1	4	5	5	5	5	5	2	1
I_15	4	1	5	1	1	1	4	5	5	5	5	4	2	1

Site Index	C ₁₅	C ₁₆	C ₁₇
I_1	4	3	1
I_2	5	3	1
I_3	4	4	1
I_4	2	3	2
I_5	5	3	1
I_6	4	4	2
I_7	5	4	1
I_8	5	4	1
I_9	5	3	2
I_10	4	4	2
I_11	4	4	2
I_12	2	5	5
I_13	5	3	2
I_14	3	4	2
I_15	4	3	1

Table 49. Alternative investment sites' values according to pixel values with Game Theory (Environment)

Table 50. Alternative investment sites' values according to pixel values with Game Theory (Connectivity)

Site Index	C ₁₈	C19	C ₂₀	C ₂₁
I_1	3	2	3	1
I_2	2	1	3	1
I_3	2	2	3	1
I_4	3	1	2	1
I_5	2	1	5	1
I_6	3	1	4	1
I_7	3	1	2	1
I_8	4	1	1	1
I_9	3	1	1	1
I_10	4	1	1	1
I_11	3	1	1	1
I_12	2	1	2	1

Site Index	C ₁₈	C19	C ₂₀	C ₂₁
I_13	2	1	4	1
I_14	5	1	2	1
I_15	4	1	2	1

Table 50. Alternative investment sites' values according to pixel values with GameTheory (Connectivity) (continue)

Table 51. Alternative investment sites' values according to pixel values with Game Theory (Transportation)

Site Index	C ₂₂	C ₂₃	C ₂₄	C ₂₅	C ₂₆	C ₂₇	C ₂₈	C ₂₉
I_1	3	2	3	1	2	5	2	1
I_2	2	1	3	1	1	5	2	1
I_3	2	2	3	1	1	5	1	1
I_4	3	1	2	1	1	5	1	1
I_5	2	1	5	1	1	5	3	1
I_6	3	1	4	1	1	5	4	1
I_7	3	1	2	1	1	5	2	1
I_8	4	1	1	1	1	5	1	1
I_9	3	1	1	1	1	5	1	1
I_10	4	1	1	1	1	5	1	1
I_11	3	1	1	1	1	5	1	1
I_12	2	1	2	1	1	5	2	1
I_13	2	1	4	1	1	4	4	1
I_14	5	1	2	1	1	5	1	1
I_15	4	1	2	1	1	5	1	1

C ₃₀	C ₃₁	C ₃₂	C ₃₃	C ₃₄
3	1	2	3	3
3	1	2	3	3
3	1	2	3	2
3	1	2	3	2
3	1	2	3	2
3	1	2	3	2
3	1	2	3	2
3	1	2	3	2
3	1	2	4	2
3	1	2	4	2
3	1	2	4	2
3	1	2	4	3
3	1	2	3	2
3	1	2	3	2
3	1	2	3	2
	C ₃₀ 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	$\begin{array}{c ccc} C_{30} & C_{31} \\ \hline 3 & 1$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$

 Table 52. Alternative investment sites' values according to pixel values with Game

 Theory (Climate Change)

Investment areas were ranked according to their priorities using the pixel values of the criteria, the weights obtained through AHP, EWM and Game Theory methods, and the mathematical model of the TOPSIS method (Table 53-58). In conducting these priority rankings, the weighted criteria recommended by the MGIS model for evaluating the criteria were utilized. Additionally, results have been obtained in the study for scenarios where equal-weighted criteria are used instead of the weighted criteria, and these two data sets have been compared (Table 59). The purpose of this comparison is to highlight the significance of identifying priority criteria for livable cities, given that each criterion has a different impact level on the study.
Site Index	Si+	Si-	Ci	Rank
I_9	0.0149	0.0072	0.3277	15
I_4	0.0141	0.0070	0.3331	14
I_3	0.0131	0.0079	0.3764	13
I_8	0.0130	0.0089	0.4065	12
I_12	0.0122	0.0088	0.4194	11
I_5	0.0125	0.0092	0.4234	10
I_7	0.0114	0.0084	0.4261	9
I_11	0.0129	0.0096	0.4271	8
I_15	0.0127	0.0099	0.4383	7
I_10	0.0127	0.0107	0.4582	6
I_6	0.0126	0.0108	0.4618	5
I_2	0.0101	0.0099	0.4947	4
I_14	0.0099	0.0114	0.5344	3
I_13	0.0092	0.0128	0.5827	2
I_1	0.0078	0.0112	0.5887	1

Table 53. Alternative investment sites' values according to equal weights (AHP)

Table 54. Alternative investment sites' values according to AHP weights

Site Index	Si+	Si-	Ci	Rank
I_12	0.0053	0.0012	0.1787	15
I_4	0.0055	0.0013	0.1861	14
I_11	0.0046	0.0024	0.3446	13
I_3	0.0046	0.0025	0.3516	12
I_15	0.0046	0.0025	0.3541	11
I_10	0.0046	0.0026	0.3612	10
I_6	0.0044	0.0028	0.3903	9
I_14	0.0042	0.0027	0.3919	8
I_9	0.0045	0.0034	0.4351	7
I_8	0.0045	0.0035	0.4366	6
I_7	0.0041	0.0035	0.4636	5
I_5	0.0040	0.0037	0.4814	4

Site Index	Si+	Si-	Ci	Rank
I_2	0.0039	0.0038	0.4925	3
I_13	0.0038	0.0041	0.5193	2
I_1	0.0019	0.0046	0.7015	1

Table 54. Alternative investment sites' values according to AHP weights (continue)

Table 55. Alternative investment sites' values according to equal weights (EWM)

Site Index	Si+	Si-	Ci	Rank
I_9	0.0198	0.0070	0.2616	15
I_4	0.0184	0.0074	0.2858	14
I_3	0.0182	0.0080	0.3058	13
I_2	0.0171	0.0084	0.3282	12
I_8	0.0181	0.0090	0.3313	11
I_7	0.0169	0.0085	0.3348	10
I_10	0.0181	0.0091	0.3357	9
I_12	0.0174	0.0091	0.3433	8
I_5	0.0176	0.0097	0.3556	7
I_15	0.0179	0.0104	0.3678	6
I_6	0.0171	0.0114	0.3994	5
I_14	0.0159	0.0118	0.4270	4
I_1	0.0147	0.0116	0.4411	3
I_13	0.0153	0.0132	0.4632	2
I_11	0.0131	0.0158	0.5458	1

Table 56. Alternative investment sites' values according to EWM weights

Site Index	Si+	Si-	Ci	Rank
I_9	0.0034	0.0010	0.2235	15
I_4	0.0033	0.0010	0.2285	14
I_3	0.0033	0.0010	0.2358	13
I_12	0.0031	0.0010	0.2360	12
I_8	0.0033	0.0011	0.2465	11
I_15	0.0033	0.0012	0.2651	10
I_2	0.0031	0.0011	0.2655	9

Site Index	Si+	Si-	Ci	Rank
I_10	0.0033	0.0013	0.2789	8
I_7	0.0030	0.0012	0.2830	7
I_5	0.0030	0.0014	0.3231	6
I_14	0.0030	0.0015	0.3415	5
I_6	0.0029	0.0020	0.4070	4
I_1	0.0026	0.0019	0.4174	3
I_13	0.0028	0.0021	0.4344	2
I_11	0.0024	0.0026	0.5181	1

Table 56. Alternative investment sites' values according to EWM weights (continue)

Table 57. Alternative investment sites' values according to equal weights (Game Theory)

Site Index	Si+	Si-	Ci	Rank
I_9	0.0154	0.0072	0.3197	15
I_4	0.0145	0.0071	0.3289	14
I_3	0.0136	0.0080	0.3702	13
I_2	0.0120	0.0080	0.3992	12
I_8	0.0135	0.0090	0.3994	11
I_10	0.0135	0.0091	0.4045	10
I_12	0.0124	0.0091	0.4221	9
I_7	0.0117	0.0085	0.4223	8
I_11	0.0133	0.0099	0.4269	7
I_5	0.0127	0.0095	0.4279	6
I_15	0.0132	0.0101	0.4327	5
I_14	0.0135	0.0106	0.4399	4
I_6	0.0124	0.0118	0.4893	3
I_1	0.0082	0.0113	0.5798	2
I_13	0.0092	0.0133	0.5902	1

Site Index	Si+	Si-	Ci	Rank
I_12	0.0038	0.0009	0.1873	15
I_4	0.0039	0.0009	0.1884	14
I_14	0.0036	0.0013	0.2685	13
I_3	0.0033	0.0018	0.3449	12
I_11	0.0033	0.0018	0.3471	11
I_15	0.0033	0.0018	0.3480	10
I_10	0.0033	0.0018	0.3537	9
I_9	0.0033	0.0024	0.4253	8
I_8	0.0032	0.0024	0.4274	7
I_2	0.0030	0.0025	0.4535	6
I_7	0.0029	0.0025	0.4576	5
I_6	0.0029	0.0025	0.4643	4
I_5	0.0029	0.0026	0.4794	3
I_13	0.0027	0.0030	0.5225	2
I_1	0.0014	0.0032	0.6918	1

Table 58. Alternative investment sites' values according to Game Theory weights

Table 59. Comparison of rankings of investment sites with AHP, EWM, and Game Theory

Site Index	EW	W	EW	W	EW	W
	(AHP)	(AHP)	(EWM)	(EWM)	(Game Theory)	(Game Theory)
I_1	1	1	3	3	2	1
I_2	4	3	12	9	12	6
I_3	13	12	13	13	13	12
I_4	14	14	14	14	14	14
I_5	10	4	7	6	6	3
I_6	5	9	5	4	3	4
I_7	9	5	10	7	8	5
I_8	12	6	11	11	11	7
I_9	15	7	15	15	15	8
I_10	6	10	9	8	10	9

Site Index	EW (AHP)	W (AHP)	EW (EWM)	W (EWM)	EW (Game Theory)	W (Game Theory)
I_11	8	13	1	1	7	11
I_12	11	15	8	12	9	15
I_13	2	2	2	2	1	2
I_14	3	8	4	5	4	13
I_15	7	11	6	10	5	10

Table 59. Comparison of rankings of investment sites with AHP, EWM, and Game Theory (continue)

In the TOPSIS methodology applied with AHP weights, the area determined as the highest priority for investment (Rank: 15) was identified as I_12. In the scenario where all criteria were considered equal-weighted, the highest priority investment area was found to be I_9. Additionally, it was determined that the area with the lowest investment priority (Rank: 1) was similar in both equal-weighted and AHP-weighted results and was identified as I_1. Except for the I_13 region, it was found that the outcomes for investment areas differed in other areas when weighted criteria were applied.

In the TOPSIS methodology applied with EWM weights, the highest priority area for investment was identified as I_9. Similarly, in the equal-weight scenario, the highest priority investment area was determined to be I_9 again. Moreover, the area with the lowest investment priority (Rank: 1) was found to be I_11 in both equal-weighted and EWM-weighted results. It was observed that the outcomes for investment areas remained unchanged in 7 regions, while differences occurred in the remaining 8 regions when weighted criteria were applied. This occurrence was influenced by the simpler mathematical model of the EWM method compared to the AHP method.

On the other hand, in the TOPSIS methodology applied with Game Theory weights, the highest priority area for investment was identified as I_12. In the equal-weight scenario, the highest priority investment area was determined to be I_9 again. Additionally, the area with the lowest investment priority (Rank: 1) was determined as I_13 in the equal-weighted results, while it was identified as I_1 in the Game Theory-weighted results.

Except for the I_4 region, it was found that the outcomes for investment areas differed in other areas when weighted criteria were applied.

In a nutshell, after employing equal-weighted methods to compare all methods, the analysis identified that the I_9 region had the highest priority investment area (Rank: 15) across all methods, while the area with the lowest investment priority (Rank: 1) varied depending on the method used. Furthermore, following the application of method weights in the analysis, the highest priority investment areas were identified to be I_9 (EWM) and I_12 (AHP and Game Theory), whereas the lowest priority investment areas were determined to be I_1 (AHP and Game Theory) and I_11 (EWM) (Rank: 1).

These results indicate that the use of weighted criteria in the study leads to variations in the outcomes (Figure 18). Additionally, it was found that the Game Theory method proposed in the MGIS model creates a balance point among the other methods, thus providing results that are comparable to those obtained with the AHP method.



Figure 18. Compare of investment sites' rankings with different methods

7. CONCLUSIONS

Türkiye's increasing urban population, especially in cities, underscores the importance of planning and sustainability. In light of this, cities, which are significant hubs for human activity, need to be accurately planned and developed into livable areas. Thereupon, by using the proposed MGIS model to conduct current analyses of cities, this study proposes a decision support system for improving living spaces and determining investment areas.

The study presents an approach that integrates GIS and MCDM methods. Since the determination of livable areas in cities and the creation of sustainable urban models depend on the evaluation of many factors, MCDM methods have been preferred to determine the priorities of criteria. Three different method weights and equal weights according to these methods have been used to show that criterion weights directly affect the planning of cities. As the identification process of livable areas differs based on the assigned weights, the significance of determining the criteria weights has been underscored in the study. In this regard, interrelationships were created by integrating the criterion weights derived from the AHP, EWM, and Game Theory methods with Hierarchy B and Hierarchy C structures. Additionally, one of the strengths of the study is that it demonstrates the applicability of the MGIS model, created by amalgamating AHP, EWM, Game Theory, WLC, and TOPSIS methods under the analytical tools of GIS, across various domains of urban planning. Another contribution of the study is that it can rank investment areas differently according to equal-weights, AHP, EWM, Game Theory weights, and pixel values based on the TOPSIS method.

It has been found in the application area that 17.92% of livable areas according to the AHP method, 19.86% according to the EWM method, and 18.67% according to the Game Theory method are in the most suitable region with five index values, indicating that criteria-based scientific evaluations are not conducted in city planning. Furthermore, the current state in the study area necessitates actions to improve life quality.

In the study area, regions with unsuitable areas (Score: 1) have been observed to be influenced by deficiencies in certain criteria due to methodological variations. Particularly, the criteria of the subway, railway, cycling path, subway station, railway station, and bike-sharing station have been identified as playing a significant role in the formation of these areas. Furthermore, the presence of steep topography, scarcity of green spaces, remoteness to cultural, arts, and entertainment areas, lack of parking and sports facilities, landslide risk, and absence of a well-planned local settlement have also been highlighted as negative aspects of these unsuitable areas (Score: 1).

A comparison of the AHP and EWM methods suggested by the MGIS model has revealed significant differences in the results due to the differences in their mathematical models. However, the Game Theory method has reduced these differences to a balance point, thereby positively influencing decision-makers' processes.

Furthermore, the TOPSIS method has been applied to determine areas for investment. As a result, while the I_12 investment area was identified as the highest priority area for investment in both AHP and Game Theory weighted rankings, this area was determined as I_9 in the EWM method. However, based on equal-weighted analyses, I_9 was determined as the highest priority investment area across all methods. The ranking of other alternative areas has shown significant variations in both weighted and equalweighted rankings.

Creating a livable environment for people living in urban areas is one of the most critical challenges of the present and the future. Therefore, it is vital to either improve the current situation or conduct a process in city planning that is based on objective criteria. GIS is a powerful tool for decision-makers in site selection, urban planning processes, solving urban problems, creating livable spaces, and determining investment areas.

Based on the robust efficacy of GIS, the proposed MGIS model is a significant factor in the processes of planning cities and improving existing living areas by local governments. While the study focuses on evaluating living spaces based on existing urban design criteria, it also analyzes the economic, social, and cultural aspects of local governments to identify the deficiencies of cities. The use of the MGIS model is crucial for accelerating policy makers' decision processes in creating sustainable and livable cities, especially in efficiently managing limited resources.

Within the scope of the study conducted by local governments, it is of great importance to initiate investments aimed at enhancing and strengthening the transportation infrastructure, increasing the number of green spaces, augmenting parking and sports facilities, and creating spaces where people can spend time for the improvement of identified unsuitable areas (Score: 1). Additionally, the development of settlement plans is imperative for the creation of a sustainable city on a local scale and for the planning of livable spaces.

The innovative approach presented in this study is the applicability of the MGIS model across all urban areas, thereby enhancing the quality and sustainable structures of urban areas and creating better living spaces for people.

8. COMMENT

This document makes several significant contributions to academic literature, particularly in the areas of GIS, MCDM methods, Game Theory methods, and urban design.

Firstly, the introduction of a new MGIS approach in the processes of urban design and the creation of sustainable urban models is fostering the development of livable spaces. This new approach addresses issues that complicate living conditions in cities. For instance, it allows for the consideration of various geographical, topological, and climate change-related factors along with urban design criteria specific to cities. Consequently, it contributes to the creation of more livable and sustainable urban areas for policymakers and local governments. This contribution expands the current understanding of urban planning and provides city managers with practical and evidence-based solution tools.

Secondly, this study presents a model capable of utilizing multiple MCDM techniques concurrently. Furthermore, it facilitates the creation of connections between primary criteria and secondary criteria. By demonstrating that numerous criteria may have varying impact values under various primary criteria, it thereby contributes to academic literature. Additionally, the Game Theory method employed contributes to the determination of optimal weights by harmonizing the differences between MCDM approaches. This, thus, allows policymakers to independently evaluate both methods and optimal values.

Thirdly, the developed model facilitates the integration of GIS and MCDM methods. This integration significantly contributes to policymakers' decision processes by merging location analyses with decision-making techniques to unify criterion priorities. The applicability of the created model across all urban areas and its developmental potential are critically important as they contribute to solving numerous urban problems.

Fourthly, the application of the TOPSIS method on decision maps generated by the model introduces a new approach to the MGIS model for identifying investment areas in cities. It offers an objective-based solution, especially for local administrators to utilize their

limited financial resources in the most beneficial way. The implementation of this model will yield both time and cost savings in the creation of livable cities.

Fifth, this document emphasizes the importance of the climate change factor in urban planning processes. The proposed approaches, which include the creation of climate data and maps for entire cities, offer the potential to enhance the quality of life of residents in these areas. Additionally, the development of sustainable urban models and the governance of cities provide significant benefits to policymakers.

Finally, this research demonstrates the effectiveness of a technology-focused approach in the planning and management of cities. This method can contribute to enhancing the livability of cities by enabling rapid and effective analysis of large data sets. Consequently, this approach can play an active role in enhancing data-driven decision-making processes in cities, while also facilitating the development of programs aimed at reducing potential problems.

In conclusion, this document significantly contributes to academic literature by proposing an MGIS method that integrates GIS, MCDM techniques, Game Theory, and urban design criteria. These contributions address critical challenges in the management and future preparedness of cities. Thus, the research sets a new direction for future MGIS studies.

9. REFERENCES

- [1] United Nations, World Population Dashboard, United Nations Population Fund, https://www.unfpa.org/data/world-population-dashboard (Last Access: December 1, 2023).
- [2] United Nations, World Population Prospects Population Division United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs Population Division, https://population.un.org/wpp/?_gl=1*1nmwehz*_ga*NTA4OTU3MzY0LjE2NjkyOT M4ODM.*_ga_TK9BQL5X7Z*MTcwMTQzNzY2OC4xLjEuMTcwMTQzODMyMC4 wLjAuMA.. (Last Access: December 1, 2023).
- [3] S. Angel, J. Parent, D.L. Civco, A.M. Blei, Making room for a planet of cities, (2011).
- [4] M. Spaliviero, L. Boerboom, M. Gibert, G. Spaliviero, M. Bajaj, The Spatial Development Framework to facilitate urban management in countries with weak planning systems, Int Plan Stud 24 (2019) 235–254.
- [5] B. Fu, D. Yu, Y. Zhang, The livable urban landscape: GIS and remote sensing extracted land use assessment for urban livability in Changchun Proper, China, Land Use Policy 87 (2019) 104048.
- [6] C. Fang, H. Liu, G. Li, International progress and evaluation on interactive coupling effects between urbanization and the eco-environment, Journal of Geographical Sciences 26 (2016) 1081–1116.
- [7] B. Jessop, N. Brenner, M. Jones, Theorizing sociospatial relations, Environ Plan D 26 (2008) 389–401.
- [8] United Nations Human Settlements Programme (UN-HABITAT), Situation Analysis of Informal Settlements in Addis Ababa A, Nairobi, Kenya, file:///C:/Users/Murat%20BASEGMEZ/Downloads/2332_alt.pdf (Last Access: February 7, 2024).
- [9] M. Freire, Urban planning: Challenges in developing countries, in: International Congress on Human Development, Madrid, 2006.
- [10] United Nations (Department of Economic and Social Affairs (DESA)), The SustainableDevelopment Goals Report,

https://unstats.un.org/sdgs/?aspxerrorSecure;%20HttpOnly;%20path=/sdgs/report/2019/ The-Sustainable%20Development-Goals-Report-2019.pdfx. (Last Access: **February 7**, 2024).

- [11] Turkish Statisticial Institute (TSI), The result of address basef population registration system, https://data.tuik.gov.tr/Bulten/Index?p=Adrese-Dayali-Nufus-Kayit-Sistemi-Sonuclari-2023-49684 (Last Access: February 7, 2024).
- Y. Bayazıt, C. Koç, R. Bakış, Urbanization impacts on flash urban floods in Bodrum Province, Turkey, Hydrological Sciences Journal 66 (2021) 118–133. https://doi.org/10.1080/02626667.2020.1851031.
- [13] O. Soydan, Effects of landscape composition and patterns on land surface temperature: Urban heat island case study for Nigde, Turkey, Urban Clim 34 (2020) 100688.
- [14] A. Gülten, H.F. Öztop, Analysis of the natural ventilation performance of residential areas considering different urban configurations in Elazığ, Turkey, Urban Clim 34 (2020) 100709.
- [15] C. Korkmaz, O. Balaban, Sustainability of urban regeneration in Turkey: Assessing the performance of the North Ankara Urban Regeneration Project, Habitat Int 95 (2020) 102081.
- [16] S.S. Turk, S. Tarakci, N. Gürsoy, A large-scale urban renewal project in a vicious cycle of commons and anticommons: The Fikirtepe case (Istanbul, Turkey), Habitat Int 102 (2020) 102209.
- [17] M.Ö. Balta, H.Ü. Yenil, Multi criteria decision making methods for urban greenway: The case of Aksaray, Turkey, Land Use Policy 89 (2019) 104224.
- [18] MoEUaCC, Yerel yönetimler için kentsel tasarım rehberi hazırlama el kitabı, Ankara, https://webdosya.csb.gov.tr/db/mpgm/icerikler/kt-rehber--hazirlama-el k-tabi-kasim-2017-20180322122217.pdf. (Last Access: February 7, 2024).
- [19] N. Ekin Erkan, Urban planning in Turkey as a process of translation, Translation Studies 3 (2010) 188–200. https://doi.org/10.1080/14781701003647442.
- [20] Presidency of Republic of Türkiye, Decision on the approval of the twelfth development plan (2024-2028), Presidency of Republic of Türkiye (2023) 1–253.

https://www.sbb.gov.tr/wp-content/uploads/2023/12/On-Ikinci-Kalkinma-Plani_2024-2028_11122023.pdf (Last Access: January 16, 2024).

- [21] C. Girling, K. Zheng, A. Monti, M. Ebneshahidi, Walkability vs. walking: assessing outcomes of walkability at Southeast False Creek, Vancouver, Canada, Journal of Urbanism: International Research on Placemaking and Urban Sustainability (2019).
- [22] S.H. Rogers, J.M. Halstead, K.H. Gardner, C.H. Carlson, Examining walkability and social capital as indicators of quality of life at the municipal and neighborhood scales, Appl Res Qual Life 6 (2011) 201–213. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11482- 010-9132-4.
- [23] E. Talen, Pedestrian access as a measure of urban quality, Planning Practice and Research
 17 (2002) 257–278. https://doi.org/10.1080/026974502200005634.
- [24] J.A. Dutton, New American urbanism: re-forming the suburban metropolis, (2000).
- [25] R.B. Gratz, N. Mintz, Cities back from the edge: New life for downtown, John Wiley & Sons, 2000.
- [26] A. Duany, E. Plater-Zyberck, A. Krieger, Towns and town-making principles, National Geographic Books, 1991.
- [27] Homes and Communities Agency, Urban Design Compendium, 2013.
- [28] F. Kazemi, L. Abolhassani, E.A. Rahmati, P. Sayyad-Amin, Strategic planning for cultivation of fruit trees and shrubs in urban landscapes using the SWOT method: A case study for the city of Mashhad, Iran, Land Use Policy 70 (2018) 1–9.
- [29] Y. Liu, F. Fang, Y. Li, Key issues of land use in China and implications for policy making, Land Use Policy 40 (2014) 6–12.
- [30] M. Asgarzadeh, A. Lusk, T. Koga, K. Hirate, Measuring oppressiveness of streetscapes, Landsc Urban Plan 107 (2012) 1–11.
- [31] A. Flores, S.T.A. Pickett, W.C. Zipperer, R. V Pouyat, R. Pirani, Adopting a modern ecological view of the metropolitan landscape: the case of a greenspace system for the New York City region, Landsc Urban Plan 39 (1998) 295–308.
- [32] M. Van Maarseveen, J. Martinez, J. Flacke, GIS in sustainable urban planning and management: a global perspective, Taylor & Francis, 2019.

- [33] R.L. Church, Geographical information systems and location science, Comput Oper Res 29 (2002) 541–562.
- [34] T. Yomralıoğlu, Coğrafi bilgi sistemleri temel kavramlar ve uygulamalar, Seçil Ofset, İstanbul, 2009.
- [35] Z.M. Baskurt, C.C. Aydin, Nuclear power plant site selection by Weighted Linear Combination in GIS environment, Edirne, Turkey, Progress in Nuclear Energy 104 (2018) 85–101.
- [36] M. Başeğmez, V. Yıldırım, Ş. Bediroğlu, CBS ve AHP yöntemiyle en uygun okul yer seçimi analizi: Uşak-Merkez örneği, TMMOB 6. Coğrafi Bilgi Sistemleri Kongresi, October (2019).
- [37] United Nations Human Settlements Programme (UN-Habitat), GIS Handbook for Municipalities, Nairobi, 2016.
- [38] P. Fernández Moniz, J.S. Almeida, A.T. Pino, J.P. Suárez Rivero, A GIS-based solution for urban water management, Water Int 45 (2020) 660–677.
- [39] G. D'Orso, M. Migliore, A GIS-based method for evaluating the walkability of a pedestrian environment and prioritised investments, J Transp Geogr 82 (2020) 102555.
- [40] X. Song, Q. Feng, F. Xia, X. Li, J. Scheffran, Impacts of changing urban land-use structure on sustainable city growth in China: A population-density dynamics perspective, Habitat Int 107 (2021) 102296.
- [41] T.K. Dhar, L. Khirfan, Climate change adaptation in the urban planning and design research: missing links and research agenda, Journal of Environmental Planning and Management 60 (2017) 602–627. https://doi.org/10.1080/09640568.2016.1178107.
- [42] Y. Gao, Y. Zhang, H. Alsulaiman, Spatial structure system of land use along urban rail transit based on GIS spatial clustering, Eur J Remote Sens 54 (2021) 438–445. https://doi.org/10.1080/22797254.2020.1801356.
- [43] T. Stojanovski, Urban design and public transportation–public spaces, visual proximity and Transit-Oriented Development (TOD), J Urban Des (Abingdon) 25 (2020) 134–154. https://doi.org/10.1080/13574809.2019.1592665.

- [44] J. Huang, J. He, D. Liu, C. Li, J. Qian, An ex-post evaluation approach to assess the impacts of accomplished urban structure shift on landscape connectivity, Science of the Total Environment 622 (2018) 1143–1152.
- [45] AnkaraBüyükşehirBelediyesi,BaşkentRehberi,https://gis.ankara.bel.tr/baskentkentrehberi/ (Last Access: February 12, 2024).
- [46] Trabzon Büyükşehir Belediyesi, Kent Rehberi, http://kbs.trabzon.bel.tr/KentRehberi/ (Last Access: February 12, 2024).
- [47] Konya Büyükşehir Belediyesi, Şehir Rehberi, https://kentrehberi.konya.bel.tr/#/rehber/ (Last Access: February 12, 2024).
- [48] İstanbul Büyük Şehir Beldiyesi, Şehir Haritası, https://sehirharitasi.ibb.gov.tr/ (Last Access: February 12, 2024).
- [49] Gov.UK, Urban design in the planning system: towards better practice by design, London, http://www.detr.gov.uk/ (Last Access: February 12, 2024).
- [50] S. Cozzolino, J. Polívka, R. Fox-Kämper, M. Reimer, O. Kummel, What is urban design?A proposal for a common understanding, J Urban Des (Abingdon) 25 (2020) 35–49.
- [51] M. Dobbins, Urban design and people, John Wiley & Sons, 2011.
- [52] J. Lang, Urban design, Routledge, **2006**.
- [53] L.D. Yeang, Urban design compendium, English Partnerships/Housing Corporation, London (2000).
- [54] A. Friedman, Fundamentals of sustainable urban design, Springer Nature, 2020.
- [55] A. von Richthofen, K. Knecht, Y. Miao, R. König, The 'Urban Elements' method for teaching parametric urban design to professionals, Frontiers of Architectural Research 7 (2018) 573–587.
- [56] P. Puchol-Salort, J. O'Keeffe, M. van Reeuwijk, A. Mijic, An urban planning sustainability framework: Systems approach to blue green urban design, Sustain Cities Soc 66 (2021) 102677.
- [57] T. Alizadeh, Urban digital strategies: planning in the face of information technology?, Journal of Urban Technology 24 (2017) 35–49.

- [58] L. Yin, Street level urban design qualities for walkability: Combining 2D and 3D GIS measures, Comput Environ Urban Syst 64 (2017) 288–296.
- [59] R. Sánchez-Corcuera, A. Nuñez-Marcos, J. Sesma-Solance, A. Bilbao-Jayo, R. Mulero, U. Zulaika, G. Azkune, A. Almeida, Smart cities survey: Technologies, application domains and challenges for the cities of the future, Int J Distrib Sens Netw 15 (2019) 1550147719853984.
- [60] S. Barns, Smart cities and urban data platforms: Designing interfaces for smart governance, City, Culture and Society 12 (2018) 5–12.
- [61] J. Wu, Urban sustainability: an inevitable goal of landscape research, Landsc Ecol 25 (2010) 1–4.
- [62] C.C. Aydin, Designing building façades for the urban rebuilt environment with integration of digital close-range photogrammetry and geographical information systems, Autom Constr 43 (2014) 38–48.
- [63] K. Al-Kodmany, The vertical farm: A review of developments and implications for the vertical city, Buildings 8 (2018) 24.
- [64] Turkish Standart Institution, Statistics, https://Www.Tuik.Gov.Tr/ (Last Access: February 12, 2024).
- [65] OpenStreetMap,OpenStreetMapData,https://www.openstreetmap.org/#map=7/39.031/35.252 (Last Access: March 19, 2024).
- [66] Ministry of National Education (MoNE), Schools, https://www.meb.gov.tr/ (Last Access: March 19, 2024).
- [67] National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA), EARTHDATA, https://search.earthdata.nasa.gov/search?fst0=Land+Surface (Last Access: March 19, 2024).
- [68] European Space Agency (ESA), EO Browser, https://apps.sentinel-hub.com/eobrowser/?zoom=6&lat=33.5&lng=41.24&themeId=DEFAULT-THEME&toTime=2022-12-28T12%3A44%3A57.545Z (Last Access: March 19, 2024).

- [69] University of East Anglia, Climatic Research Unit, https://crudata.uea.ac.uk/cru/data/hrg/cru_ts_4.06/cruts.2205201912.v4.06/pre/ (Last Access: March 19, 2024).
- [70] European Space Agency (ESA), Global air monitoring for Copernicus (Sentinel 5p), https://www.esa.int/Applications/Observing_the_Earth/Copernicus/Sentinel-5P (Last Access: March 19, 2024).
- [71] European Space Agency (ESA), Copernicus Land Monitoring Service, https://land.copernicus.eu/en (Last Access: March 19, 2024).
- [72] ESRI, Land Cover Map, https://www.arcgis.com/apps/instant/media/index.html?appid=fc92d38533d440078f176
 78ebc20e8e2 (Last Access: March 19, 2024).
- [73] National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA), ASTER Global Digital Elevation Map Announcement, https://asterweb.jpl.nasa.gov/gdem.asp (Last Access: March 19, 2024).
- [74] MoEUaCC, Landslide Map, https://csb.gov.tr/ (Last Access: March 19, 2024).
- [75] R. Shields, E. Joaquim Gomes da Silva, T. Lima Lima, N. Osorio, Walkability: a review of trends, Journal of Urbanism: International Research on Placemaking and Urban Sustainability 16 (2023) 19–41. https://doi.org/10.1080/17549175.2021.1936601.
- [76] B.P.Y. Loo, Walking towards a happy city, J Transp Geogr 93 (2021) 103078.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2021.103078.
- [77] K. Oka, M.J. Koohsari, Walkable Neighborhoods The Link between Public Health, Urban Design, and Transportation, Int J Environ Res Public Health (2020).
 www.mdpi.com/journal/ijerph (accessed January 16, 2024).
- [78] J. Gehl, Cities for people, Island press, Washington, 2013.
- [79] E. Talen, Planning Practice and Research Pedestrian Access as a Measure of Urban Quality Pedestrian Access as a Measure of Urban Quality, Planning Practice & Research 17 (2002) 257–278. https://doi.org/10.1080/026974502200005634.
- [80] S.H. Rogers, J.M. Halstead, K.H. Gardner, C.H. Carlson, S.H. Rogers, C.H. Carlson, K.H. Gardner, J.M. Halstead, Examining Walkability and Social Capital as Indicators of

Quality of Life at the Municipal and Neighborhood Scales, Applied Research Quality Life 6 (**2011**) 201–213. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11482-010-9132-4.

- [81] I. Blečić, A. Cecchini, T. Congiu, G. Fancello, G.A. Trunfio, Evaluating walkability: a capability-wise planning and design support system, International Journal of Geographical Information Science 29 (2015) 1350–1374. https://doi.org/10.1080/13658816.2015.1026824.
- [82] R.H. Glazier, M.I. Creatore, J.T. Weyman, G. Fazli, F.I. Matheson, P. Gozdyra, R. Moineddin, V.K. Shriqui, G.L. Booth, Density, destinations or both? A comparison of measures of walkability in relation to transportation behaviors, obesity and diabetes in Toronto, Canada, PLoS One 9 (2014) e85295.
- [83] R.H. Lo, Walkability: What is it?, J Urban 2 (2009) 145–166. https://doi.org/10.1080/17549170903092867.
- [84] International Transport Forum, Benchmarking Accessibility in Cities: Measuring the Impact of Proximity and Transport Performance, OECD Publishing, 2019.
- [85] A. Bartzokas-Tsiompras, Utilizing OpenStreetMap data to measure and compare pedestrian street lengths in 992 cities around the world, European Journal of Geography 13 (2022) 127–141.
- [86] A. Bartzokas-Tsiompras, E. Bakogiannis, Quantifying and visualizing the 15-Minute walkable city concept across Europe: a multicriteria approach, J Maps 19 (2023). https://doi.org/10.1080/17445647.2022.2141143.
- [87] G. Mboup, Streets as public spaces and drivers of urban prosperity, United Nations Human Settlements Programme (UN-Habitat), 2013.
- [88] M.E. Wende, M.C. Lohman, D.B. Friedman, A.C. Mclain, M.J. Lamonte, E.A. Whitsel, A.H. Shadyab, L. Garcia, B.W. Chrisinger, K. Pan, C.E. Bird, G.E. Sarto, A.T. Kaczynski, M.E. Wende, Neighborhood Socioeconomic Status, Green Space, and Walkability and Risk for Falls Among Postmenopausal Women: The Women's Health Initiative, Women's Health Issues 33 (2023) 443–458. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.whi.2023.03.009.
- [89] H.-B. Hu, Z.-H. Hou, C.-H. Huang, M.J. Lamonte, M. Wang, B. Lu, Associations of exposure to residential green space and neighborhood walkability with coronary

atherosclerosisinChineseadults \Leftrightarrow ,(2021).https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2021.118347.

- [90] L. Frehlich, T.C. Turin, P.K. Doyle-Baker, J.J. Lang, G.R. Mccormack, Mediation analysis of the associations between neighbourhood walkability and greenness, accelerometer-measured physical activity, and health-related fitness in urban dwelling Canadians, (2023). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2023.107792.
- [91] K. Ko Lwin, Y. Murayama, Modelling of urban green space walkability: Eco-friendly walk score calculator, (**2011**). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compenvurbsys.2011.05.002.
- [92] N.L. Stoia, M. R^{*}, N. Nit,^{*}, A.M. Popa, C. Ioj^{*}, The green walk—An analysis for evaluating the accessibility of urban green spaces, Urban For Urban Green 75 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2022.127685.
- [93] D. Han, S. Wu, The capitalization and urbanization effect of subway stations: A network centrality perspective, Transportation Research Part A 176 (2023). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tra.2023.103815.
- [94] X. Yang, W. Dai, Y. Li, X. Yang, An efficient evacuation path optimization for passengers in subway stations under floods, Tunnelling and Underground Space Technology 143 (2023) 886–7798. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tust.2023.105473.
- [95] W. Wu, Y. Yao, R. Wang, Green space exposure at subway stations, transportation mode choice and travel satisfaction, Transportation Research Part D 122 (2023). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2023.103862.
- [96] D. Huang, Y. Yang, X. Peng, J. Huang, P. Mo, Z. Liu, S. Wang, Modelling the pedestrian's willingness to walk on the subway platform: A novel approach to analyze invehicle crowd congestion, Transportation Research Part E 181 (2023) 1366–5545. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tre.2023.103359.
- [97] S. Roy, ; Debasis Basu, An evaluation of in-service infrastructural facilities of walkaccess feeder paths to urban local bus stops, Transportation Research Procedia 48 (2019) 3824–3831. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trpro.2020.08.037.
- [98] C.-Y. Li, B.-Q. Li, D.-X. Huang, L. Chen, Microscopic traffic behavior modeling and safety evaluation in mixed traffic area of bus station, Simul Model Pract Theory 121 (2022) 102646. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.simpat.2022.102646.

- [99] O. Stanesby, M. Morse, L. Magill, K. Ball, L. Blizzard, S. Harpur, K. Jose, D. Lester, E. Marshall, A.J. Palmer, M.J. Sharman, J. Williams, V. Cleland, Characteristics associated with willingness to walk further than necessary to the bus stop: Insights for public transport-related physical activity, J Transp Health 22 (2021) 101139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jth.2021.101139.
- [100] L.E. Ramos-Santiago, Does walkability around feeder bus-stops influence rapid-transit station boardings?, J Public Trans 24 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubtr.2022.100026.
- [101] H. Ozawa, A. Fukuda, S. Malaitham, V. Vichiensan, P. Luathep, H. Numa, Evaluation of walking environments around urban railway stations in Bangkok and consideration of improvement plans, Asian Transport Studies (2021). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eastsj.2021.100038.
- [102] U. Jehle, C. Coetzee, B. Büttner, E. Pajares, G. Wulfhorst, Connecting people and places: Analysis of perceived pedestrian accessibility to railway stations by Bavarian case studies, Journal of Urban Mobility 2 (2022) 100025. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.urbmob.2022.100025.
- [103] M. Fazio, F. Borghetti, N. Giuffrida, M. Le Pira, M. Longo, M. Ignaccolo, G. Inturri, R. Maja, The "15-minutes station": a case study to evaluate the pedestrian accessibility of railway transport in Southern Italy, Transportation Research Procedia 69 (2023) 536–543. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trpro.2023.02.205.
- [104] N. Otsuka, D. Wittowsky, M. Damerau, C. Gerten, Walkability assessment for urban areas around railway stations along the Rhine-Alpine Corridor, J Transp Geogr 93 (2021) 103081. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2021.103081.
- [105] W. Chen, X. Chen, L. Cheng, J. Chen, S. Tao, Locating new docked bike sharing stations considering demand suitability and spatial accessibility, Travel Behav Soc (2023). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tbs.2023.100675.
- [106] A. Robillard, G. Eve Boisjoly, D. Van Lierop, Transit-oriented development and bikeability: Classifying public transport station areas in Montreal, Canada, Transport Policy (2023). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tranpol.2023.12.012.

- [107] Z. Zhang, Y. Yang, S. Yang, Z. Zhang, Can bike-sharing availability improve tourist satisfaction? Evidence in Chicago, Tour Manag Perspect 48 (2023) 101164. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tmp.2023.101164.
- [108] E. Anaya-Boig, A. Cebollada, M. Castelló Bueno, Measuring spatial inequalities in the access to station-based bike-sharing in Barcelona using an Adapted Affordability Index, Journal of Transport Geography (2021). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2021.103267.
- [109] P.J. Troped, P.S. Brenner, J.S. Wilson, P.J. Troped, P.S. Brenner, J.S. Wilson, Associations between the built and social environment and bike share, physical activity, and overall cycling among adults from Boston neighborhoods, J Transp Health 31 (2023) 101629. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jth.2023.101629.
- [110] J. Parmar, P. Das, S.M. Dave, Study on demand and characteristics of parking system in urban areas: A review, Journal of Traffic and Transportation Engineering (English Edition) 7 (2019) 111–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtte.2019.09.003.
- [111] A. Pandhe, A. March, Parking availability influences on travel mode: Melbourne CBD offices, Australian Planner 49 (2012) 161–171. https://doi.org/10.1080/07293682.2011.616177.
- [112] M. Kwon, C. Lee, Y. Xiao, Exploring the role of neighborhood walkability on community currency activities: A case study of the crooked river alliance of TimeBanks, Landsc Urban Plan 167 (2017) 302–314. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2017.07.008.
- [113] M. Kwon, W. Mcintosh, J.H. Kim, W. Luo, Sociospatial Relations: The Role of Neighborhood Walkability on Community Currency Activities, Texas A&M University, 2016.
- [114] P.S. Karthika, V. Kedar, A. Verma, A walk accessibility-based approach to assess crowd management in mass religious gatherings, J Transp Geogr 104 (2022) 103443. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2022.103443.
- [115] A. Verma, M. Verma, T.M. Rahul, S. Khurana, A. Rai, Measuring accessibility of various facilities by walking in world's largest mass religious gathering-Kumbh Mela, Sustain Cities Soc (2018) 79–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scs.2018.11.038.

- [116] T. Stojanovski, Urban design and public transportation–public spaces, visual proximity and Transit-Oriented Development (TOD), J Urban Des (Abingdon) 25 (2020) 134–154. https://doi.org/10.1080/13574809.2019.1592665.
- [117] Y. Guevara-Quinchúa, E. Francel-Delgado, Walk and connect. Measurement of inclusion criteria for people with functional diversity. Ibague, Colombia, Heliyon 9 (2023) 2405–8440. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2023.e20987.
- [118] J. Hou, E. Zhang, Y. Long, Measuring pedestrian flows in public spaces: Inferring walking for transport and recreation using Wi-Fi probes, Build Environ 230 (2023) 109999. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2023.109999.
- [119] N. Darwish, H. Gabr, D. Shehayeb, ScienceDirect Where do Cairene Children Walk to Primary School?, Procedia Environ Sci 34 (2016) 411–422. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.proenv.2016.04.036.
- [120] S. Lee, C. Lee, J. Won Nam, M. Abbey-Lambertz, J.A. Mendoza, School walkability index: Application of environmental audit tool and GIS, J Transp Health 18 (2020) 100880. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jth.2020.100880.
- [121] M. Fallah Zavareh, M. Mehdizadeh, T. Nordfjaern, "If I know when you will arrive, I will let you walk to school:" The role of information technology, J Safety Res (2019) 267– 277. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsr.2019.12.016.
- [122] V. Kunaratnam, N. Schwartz, A. Howard, R. Mitra, N. Saunders, M.-S. Cloutier, A. Macpherson, P. Fuselli, L. Rothman, Equity, walkability, and active school transportation in Toronto, Canada: A cross-sectional study, Transportation Research Part D (2022). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2022.103336.
- [123] M.Y. Akbaba, A. Göktan, M. Başeğmez, C.C. Aydin, Sürdürülebilir bir ulaşım sistemi için bisiklet ve yürüyüş yolu yer seçimi: Ankara ili Mamak ilçesi Ege mahallesi örneği, Geomatik 8 (2023) 136–151.
- [124] M. Başeğmez, V. Yıldırım, Ş. Bediroğlu, CBS ve AHP Yöntemiyle En Uygun Okul Yer Seçimi Analizi: Uşak- Merkez Örneği, TMMOB 6. Coğrafi Bilgi Sistemleri Kongresi 2019.

- [125] Y. Yu, R. Davey, T. Cochrane, V. Learnihan, I.C. Hanigan, N. Bagheri, Neighborhood walkability and hospital treatment costs: A first assessment, Prev Med (Baltim) 99 (2017) 134–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2017.02.008.
- [126] T. Tigerprints, A.D. Dissertations, X. Li, A Mixed-Method Study on the Walkability of Streets in Hospital-Anchored Neighborhoods Anchored Neighborhoods, 2023.
- [127] B.P.Y. Loo, W.W.Y. Lam, Geographic accessibility around health care facilities for elderly residents in Hong Kong: A microscale walkability assessment, Environ Plann B Plann Des 39 (2012) 629–646. https://doi.org/10.1068/b36146.
- [128] S. Fina, C. Gerten, B. Pondi, L. D'arcy, N. O'reilly, D. Sousa Vale, M. Pereira, S. Zilio, OS-WALK-EU: An open-source tool to assess health-promoting residential walkability of European city structures, J Transp Health 27 (2022) 101486. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jth.2022.101486.
- [129] R. Basu, A. Sevtsuk, How do street attributes affect willingness-to-walk? City-wide pedestrian route choice analysis using big data from Boston and San Francisco, Transportation Research Part A 163 (2022) 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tra.2022.06.007.
- [130] M.T. Argan, Eskişehir, Turkey as a crossroads for leisure, travel and entertainment, Cities 56 (2016) 74–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cities.2016.03.006.
- [131] E. Papadopoulos, A. Sdoukopoulos, I. Politis, Measuring compliance with the 15-minute city concept: State-of-the-art, major components and further requirements, Sustainable Cities and Society 99 (2023). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scs.2023.104875.
- [132] C.J.L. Balsas, Exciting walk-only precincts in Asia, Europe and North-America, Cities 112 (2021) 103129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cities.2021.103129.
- [133] B. Caselli, S. Rossetti, M. Ignaccolo, M. Zazzi, V. Torrisi, Towards the definition of a comprehensive walkability index for historical centres, in: International Conference on Computational Science and Its Applications, Springer, 2021: pp. 493–508.
- [134] D. Barrera-Fernández, M. Hernández-Escampa, Walkability in the Historic City of Oaxaca, Mexico, Event Management 23 (2019) 573–598.

- [135] D.L. Gelman, Walkability through Challenging terrain: Connectivity between Frederick Douglass National Historic Site and Anacostia Community Museum, Master Thesis, Virginia Tech, 2018.
- [136] E.E. Erturan-Ogut, U. Kula, Selecting the right location for sports facilities using analytical hierarchy process, Journal of Facilities Management 21 (2023) 733–750.
- [137] M. Jansen, D. Ettema, F. Pierik, M. Dijst, Sports facilities, shopping centers or homes: What locations are important for adults' physical activity? A cross-sectional study, Int J Environ Res Public Health 13 (2016) 287.
- [138] B. Zhang, Y. Dong, K. Kelobonye, R.Z. Zhou, Z. Xu, Delineating Walking Catchment of the Existing and Proposed Public Sports Facilities with Open-Source Data: A Case Study of Nanjing, Appl Spat Anal Policy 16 (2023) 729–749.
- [139] A.S.I. Almselati, R. Rahmat, O. Jaafar, An overview of urban transport in Malaysia, Social Sci 6 (2011) 24–33.
- [140] O. Elmansouri, A. Almhroog, I. Badi, Urban transportation in Libya: An overview, Transp Res Interdiscip Perspect 8 (2020) 100161.
- [141] S. Melkote, M.S. Daskin, An integrated model of facility location and transportation network design, Transp Res Part A Policy Pract 35 (2001) 515–538.
- [142] W.T. Chan, T.F. Fwa, C.Y. Tan, Road-maintenance planning using genetic algorithms. I: Formulation, J Transp Eng 120 (1994) 693–709.
- [143] T.L. Friesz, Transportation network equilibrium, design and aggregation: key developments and research opportunities, Transportation Research Part A: General 19 (1985) 413–427.
- [144] J. Ma, G. Liu, M.-P. Kwan, Y. Chai, Does real-time and perceived environmental exposure to air pollution and noise affect travel satisfaction? evidence from Beijing, China, Travel Behav Soc 24 (2021) 313–324. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tbs.2021.05.004.
- [145] P. Apparicio, J. Gelb, M. Carrier, M.-È. Mathieu, S. Kingham, Exposure to noise and air pollution by mode of transportation during rush hours in Montreal, J Transp Geogr 70 (2018) 182–192. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2018.06.007.

- [146] M.S. Sanchez, N.L. opez-Mosquera, F. Lera-L opez, J. Faulin, An Extended Planned Behavior Model to Explain the Willingness to Pay to Reduce Noise Pollution in Road Transportation, J Clean Prod 177 (2017) 144–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.12.210.
- [147] F. Han, R. Xie, M. Lai, Traffic density, congestion externalities, and urbanization in China, Spat Econ Anal 13 (2018) 400–421.
- [148] S. Mohammed, A. Hasan Alkhereibi, A. Abulibdeh, R.N. Jawarneh, P. Balakrishnan, GIS-based spatiotemporal analysis for road traffic crashes; in support of sustainable transportation Planning, Transp Res Interdiscip Perspect 20 (2023). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trip.2023.100836.
- [149] Y. Wang, N. Roy, B. Zhang, Multi-objective transportation route optimization for hazardous materials based on GIS, J Loss Prev Process Ind 81 (2023) 104954. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlp.2022.104954.
- [150] R.Z. Farahani, E. Miandoabchi, W.Y. Szeto, H. Rashidi, A review of urban transportation network design problems, European Journ AlofOperational Research 229 (2013) 281– 302. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejor.2013.01.001.
- [151] Başeğmez M., Municipal GIS, Ankara, 2020.
 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/341978443_MUNICIPAL_GIS (Last Access: January 22, 2024).
- [152] F. Gerges, H. Nassif, T. Herrington, M.C. Boufadel, A GIS-based approach for estimating community transportation exposure and capacity in the context of disaster resilience, Sustainable Horizons 3 (2022) 100030. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.horiz.2022.100030.
- [153] G. Arampatzis, C.T. Kiranoudis, P. Scaloubacas, D. Assimacopoulos, A GIS-based decision support system for planning urban transportation policies, Eur J Oper Res 152 (2004) 465–475. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0377-2217(03)00037-7.
- [154] M.N. Hussain, Evaluating the impact of air transportation, railway transportation, and trade openness on inbound and outbound tourism in BRI countries, J Air Transp Manag 106 (2023) 102307.
- [155] N. Bešinović, Resilience in railway transport systems: a literature review and research agenda, Transp Rev 40 (2020) 457–478.

- [156] S.A.R. Khan, D. Qianli, W. SongBo, K. Zaman, Y. Zhang, Travel and tourism competitiveness index: The impact of air transportation, railways transportation, travel and transport services on international inbound and outbound tourism, J Air Transp Manag 58 (2017) 125–134.
- [157] M. Carra, F. Botticini, F.C. Pavesi, G. Maternini, M. Pezzagno, B. Barabino, A comparative cycling path selection for sustainable tourism in Franciacorta. An integrated AHP-ELECTRE method, Transportation Research Procedia 69 (2023) 448–455.
- [158] M. Vasilev, R. Pritchard, T. Jonsson, Trialing a road lane to bicycle path redesign changes in travel behavior with a focus on users' route and mode choice, Sustainability 10 (2018) 4768.
- [159] J. Van Cauwenberg, I. De Bourdeaudhuij, P. Clarys, B. De Geus, B. Deforche, Older adults' environmental preferences for transportation cycling, J Transp Health 13 (2019) 185–199.
- [160] H.-G. Sung, T.-H. Kim, A study on categorizing subway station areas in Seoul by rail use pattern, Journal of Korean Society of Transportation 23 (2005) 19–29.
- [161] S. Monajem, F.E. Nosratian, The evaluation of the spatial integration of station areas via the node place model; an application to subway station areas in Tehran, Transp Res D Transp Environ 40 (2015) 14–27.
- [162] Y.T. Oh, T.H. Kim, J.J. Park, J.H. Rho, An empirical analysis of influencing factors toward public transportation demand considering land use type Seoul subway station area in Seoul, KSCE Journal of Civil and Environmental Engineering Research 29 (2009) 467–472.
- [163] S. Voß, G. Mejia, A. Voß, Mystery shopping in public transport: the case of bus station design, in: HCI International 2020-Late Breaking Papers: User Experience Design and Case Studies: 22nd HCI International Conference, HCII 2020, Copenhagen, Denmark, July 19–24, 2020, Proceedings 22, Springer, **2020**: pp. 527–542.
- [164] B. Adhvaryu, Design of bus station: a case study of Brighton, Traffic Engineering and Control 47 (2006) 182.

- [165] C. Sungur, I. Babaoglu, A. Sungur, Smart bus station-passenger information system, in:
 2015 2nd International Conference on Information Science and Control Engineering, IEEE, 2015: pp. 921–925.
- [166] M. Young, S. Blainey, Railway station choice modelling: a review of methods and evidence, Transp Rev 38 (2018) 232–251.
- [167] G. Debrezion, E. Pels, P. Rietveld, Modelling the joint access mode and railway station choice, Transp Res E Logist Transp Rev 45 (2009) 270–283.
- [168] M.J.N. Keijer, P. Rietveld, How do people get to the railway station? The Dutch experience, Transportation Planning and Technology 23 (2000) 215–235.
- [169] E. Macioszek, P. Świerk, A. Kurek, The bike-sharing system as an element of enhancing sustainable mobility—A case study based on a city in Poland, Sustainability 12 (2020) 3285.
- [170] M. Lu, S.-C. Hsu, P.-C. Chen, W.-Y. Lee, Improving the sustainability of integrated transportation system with bike-sharing: A spatial agent-based approach, Sustain Cities Soc 41 (2018) 44–51.
- [171] I. Frade, A. Ribeiro, Bike-sharing stations: A maximal covering location approach, Transp Res Part A Policy Pract 82 (2015) 216–227.
- [172] E. Eren, V.E. Uz, A review on bike-sharing: The factors affecting bike-sharing demand, Sustain Cities Soc 54 (2020) 101882.
- [173] J. Gil, Building a multimodal urban network model using OpenStreetMap data for the analysis of sustainable accessibility, OpenStreetMap in GIScience: Experiences, Research, and Applications (2015) 229–251.
- [174] P. Stangl, J.M. Guinn, Neighborhood design, connectivity assessment and obstruction, Urban Design International 16 (2011) 285–296.
- [175] M. Grochulska-Salak, Re-urbanization in a model of sustainable development of an ecocity, Acta Scientiarum Polonorum Architectura 20 (2021) 3–12.
- [176] A. Duany, E. Plater-Zyberk, J. Speck, Suburban nation: The rise of sprawl and the decline of the American dream, Macmillan, 2000.

- [177] K. Alawadi, A. Khanal, S. Al Hinai, Rethinking suburban design: streets v/s alleys in improving network connectivity, J Urban Des (Abingdon) 26 (2021) 725–745.
- [178] A. Ozbil, J. Peponis, B. Stone, Understanding the link between street connectivity, land use and pedestrian flows, Urban Design International 16 (2011) 125–141.
- [179] C. Feng, J. Peponis, Pathways to creating differentiated grids: Types, benefits and costs, Environ Plan B Urban Anal City Sci 49 (2022) 535–548.
- [180] S. Marshall, Streets and patterns, Routledge, 2004.
- [181] J. Peponis, D. Allen, D. Haynie, M. Scoppa, Z. Zhang, Measuring the configuration of street networks: the spatial profiles of 118 urban areas in the 12 most populated metropolitan regions in the US, in: 6th International Space Syntax Symposium Proceedings, Art and Design Faculty Publications, Georgia State University, Istanbul, 2007. http://www.spacesyntaxistanbul.itu.edu.tr/papers/longpapers/ 002%20-%20Peponis%20Allen%20Haynie%20Scoppa%20Zhang.pdf. (Last Access: January 24, 2024).
- [182] A. Açık, C. Atacan, Analyzing the Convergence of Transport Network Connectivity: Case for Türkiye and its Neighbors., OASIS-Observatorio de Análisis de Los Sistemas Internacionales, 2024.
- [183] Ebru. Gürler, Bütünleşik kentsel koruma-geliştirme sürecinin analitik planlaması ve stratejik yönetimi: performans ölçme-değerlendirme-programlama modeli, Doktora, Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü, İTÜ, 2013.
- [184] A. Kaplan, "Green Infrastructure" Concept as an Effective Medium to Manipulating Sustainable Urban Development, in: Green and Ecological Technologies for Urban Planning: Creating Smart Cities, IGI Global, 2012: pp. 234–254.
- [185] Y. Song, B. Popkin, P. Gordon-Larsen, A national-level analysis of neighborhood form metrics, Landsc Urban Plan 116 (2013) 73–85.
- [186] K.J. Krizek, Residential relocation and changes in urban travel: Does neighborhood-scale urban form matter?, Journal of the American Planning Association 69 (2003) 265–281.
- [187] N. Dempsey, Quality of the built environment in urban neighbourhoods, Planning, Practice & Research 23 (2008) 249–264.

- [188] M.J. Koohsari, N. Owen, R. Cole, S. Mavoa, K. Oka, T. Hanibuchi, T. Sugiyama, Built environmental factors and adults' travel behaviors: role of street layout and local destinations, Prev Med (Baltim) 96 (2017) 124–128.
- [189] A. Forsyth, M. Hearst, J.M. Oakes, K.H. Schmitz, Design and destinations: factors influencing walking and total physical activity, Urban Studies 45 (2008) 1973–1996.
- [190] Y.-S. Qian, M. Wang, H.-X. Kang, J.-W. Zeng, Y.-F. Liu, Study on the road network connectivity reliability of valley city based on complex network, Math Probl Eng 2012, 2012.
- [191] S. Labi, A. Faiz, T.U. Saeed, B.N.T. Alabi, W. Woldemariam, Connectivity, accessibility, and mobility relationships in the context of low-volume road networks, Transp Res Rec 2673 (2019) 717–727.
- [192] M.G. Sreelekha, K. Krishnamurthy, M. Anjaneyulu, Interaction between road network connectivity and spatial pattern, Procedia Technology 24 (2016) 131–139.
- [193] J. Liu, Q. Peng, J. Chen, Y. Yin, Connectivity reliability on an urban rail transit network from the perspective of passenger travel, Urban Rail Transit 6 (2020) 1–14.
- [194] J. Zhang, X. Xu, L. Hong, S. Wang, Q. Fei, Networked analysis of the Shanghai subway network, in China, Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and Its Applications 390 (2011) 4562–4570.
- [195] S. Derrible, C. Kennedy, Network analysis of world subway systems using updated graph theory, Transp Res Rec 2112 (2009) 17–25.
- [196] J. Song, A. Abuduwayiti, Z. Gou, The role of subway network in urban spatial structure optimization–Wuhan city as an example, Tunnelling and Underground Space Technology 131 (2023) 104842.
- [197] L. Calzada-Infante, B. Adenso-Díaz, S.G. Carbajal, Analysis of the European international railway network and passenger transfers, Chaos Solitons Fractals 141 (2020) 110357.
- [198] J. Liu, P.M. Schonfeld, S. Zhan, Q. Peng, Y. Liu, Measuring and enhancing the connectivity reliability of a rail transit network, Transportmetrica A: Transport Science 18 (2022) 1699–1733.

- [199] J. Fan, Y. Li, Y. Zhang, X. Luo, C. Ma, Connectivity and accessibility of the railway network in China: Guidance for spatial balanced development, Sustainability 11 (2019) 7099.
- [200] Z. Xu, Q. Zhang, D. Chen, Y. He, Characterizing the connectivity of railway networks, IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems 21 (2019) 1491–1502.
- [201] T. Zuo, H. Wei, Bikeway prioritization to increase bicycle network connectivity and bicycle-transit connection: A multi-criteria decision analysis approach, Transp Res Part A Policy Pract 129 (2019) 52–71.
- [202] M. Lowry, T.H. Loh, Quantifying bicycle network connectivity, Prev Med (Baltim) 95 (2017) S134–S140.
- [203] S.R. Gehrke, A. Akhavan, P.G. Furth, Q. Wang, T.G. Reardon, A cycling-focused accessibility tool to support regional bike network connectivity, Transp Res D Transp Environ 85 (2020) 102388.
- [204] P.G. Furth, M.C. Mekuria, H. Nixon, Network connectivity for low-stress bicycling, Transp Res Rec 2587 (2016) 41–49.
- [205] R. Magnano San Lio, G. Favara, A. Maugeri, M. Barchitta, A. Agodi, How antimicrobial resistance is linked to climate change: an overview of two intertwined global challenges, Int J Environ Res Public Health 20 (2023) 1681.
- [206] D. Chaudhry, Climate change and health of the urban poor: The role of environmental justice, The Journal of Climate Change and Health (2023) 100277.
- [207] V. Mishra, A. Sadhu, Towards the effect of climate change in structural loads of urban infrastructure: A review, Sustain Cities Soc 89 (2023) 104352.
- [208] G. Alimonti, L. Mariani, F. Prodi, R.A. Ricci, A critical assessment of extreme events trends in times of global warming, The European Physical Journal Plus 137 (2022) 1–20.
- [209] L.A. Yarzábal, L.M.B. Salazar, R.A. Batista-García, Climate change, melting cryosphere and frozen pathogens: Should we worry...?, Environmental Sustainability 4 (2021) 489– 501.
- [210] N.J. Abram, B.J. Henley, A. Sen Gupta, T.J.R. Lippmann, H. Clarke, A.J. Dowdy, J.J. Sharples, R.H. Nolan, T. Zhang, M.J. Wooster, Connections of climate change and

variability to large and extreme forest fires in southeast Australia, Commun Earth Environ 2 (**2021**) 8.

- [211] R. Anderson, P.E. Bayer, D. Edwards, Climate change and the need for agricultural adaptation, Curr Opin Plant Biol 56 (2020) 197–202.
- [212] S.I. Zandalinas, F.B. Fritschi, R. Mittler, Global warming, climate change, and environmental pollution: recipe for a multifactorial stress combination disaster, Trends Plant Sci 26 (2021) 588–599.
- [213] Z. Kearl, J. Vogel, Urban extreme heat, climate change, and saving lives: lessons from Washington state, Urban Clim 47 (2023) 101392.
- [214] P.B. Cobbinah, B.M. Finn, Planning and climate change in African cities: Informal urbanization and 'Just'Urban transformations, J Plan Lit 38 (**2023**) 361–379.
- [215] S. Chapman, J.E.M. Watson, A. Salazar, M. Thatcher, C.A. McAlpine, The impact of urbanization and climate change on urban temperatures: a systematic review, Landsc Ecol 32 (2017) 1921–1935.
- [216] R. Leichenko, Climate change and urban resilience, Curr Opin Environ Sustain 3 (2011) 164–168.
- [217] V.C. Broto, H. Bulkeley, A survey of urban climate change experiments in 100 cities, Global Environmental Change 23 (2013) 92–102.
- [218] D. Satterthwaite, D. Archer, S. Colenbrander, D. Dodman, J. Hardoy, D. Mitlin, S. Patel, One Earth Review Building Resilience to Climate Change in Informal Settlements, One Earth 2 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oneear.2020.02.002.
- [219] A. Raihan, A review of the global climate change impacts, adaptation strategies, and mitigation options in the socio-economic and environmental sectors, Journal of Environmental Science and Economics 2 (2023) 36–58.
- [220] P. Kassomenos, P. Begou, The Impact of Urban Overheating on Heat-Related Morbidity, Urban Overheating: Heat Mitigation and the Impact on Health (2022) 39–80.
- [221] M. Santamouris, Heat island research in Europe: the state of the art, Advances in Building Energy Research 1 (2007) 123–150.

- [222] A. Sharifi, A.R. Khavarian-Garmsir, Z. Allam, A. Asadzadeh, Progress and prospects in planning: A bibliometric review of literature in Urban Studies and Regional and Urban Planning, 1956–2022, Prog Plann (2023) 100740.
- [223] D. Gu, Exposure and vulnerability tonatural disasters for world'scities, 2019.
- [224] J.R. Short, A. Farmer, Cities and climate change, Earth 2 (2021) 1038–1045.
- [225] World Economic Forum (WEF), More people living in cities will double global consumption | World Economic Forum, World Economic Forum 2022, https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2022/04/global-urbanization-material-consumption/ (Last Access: January 26, 2024).
- [226] M. Michetti, M. Gualtieri, A. Anav, M. Adani, B. Benassi, C. Dalmastri, I. D'Elia, A. Piersanti, G. Sannino, G. Zanini, Climate change and air pollution: Translating their interplay into present and future mortality risk for Rome and Milan municipalities, Science of The Total Environment 830 (2022) 154680.
- [227] M. Avand, H.R. Moradi, M. Ramazanzadeh Lasboyee, Spatial prediction of future flood risk: an approach to the effects of climate change, Geosciences (Basel) 11 (2021) 25.
- [228] B. Ozarisoy, Energy effectiveness of passive cooling design strategies to reduce the impact of long-term heatwaves on occupants' thermal comfort in Europe: Climate change and mitigation, J Clean Prod 330 (2022) 129675.
- [229] I. Zeren Cetin, T. Varol, H.B. Ozel, A geographic information systems and remote sensing–based approach to assess urban micro-climate change and its impact on human health in Bartin, Turkey, Environ Monit Assess 195 (2023) 540.
- [230] M.D. Setiawati, M.P. Jarzebski, M. Gomez-Garcia, K. Fukushi, Accelerating urban heating under land-cover and climate change scenarios in Indonesia: application of the universal thermal climate index, Front Built Environ 7 (2021) 622382.
- [231] C. Kiliç, Küresel İklim Değişikliği Çerçevesinde Sürdürülebilir Kalkınma Çabaları ve Türkiye., Cumhuriyet Universitesi Journal of Economics & Administrative Sciences (JEAS) 10 (2009).
- [232] M. Türkeş, Türkiye'de gözlenen ve öngörülen iklim değişikliği, kuraklık ve çölleşme, Ankara Üniversitesi Çevrebilimleri Dergisi 4 (2012) 1–32.

- [233] N.H. Bayraç, E. Doğan, Türkiye'de iklim değişikliğinin tarım sektörü üzerine etkileri, 2016.
- [234] B. Sevim, Ö. Zeydan, İklim değişikliğinin Türkiye turizmine etkileri, Çeşme Ulusal Turizm Sempozyumu 21 (2007) 23.
- [235] A. Joy, F.R. Dunshea, B.J. Leury, I.J. Clarke, K. DiGiacomo, S.S. Chauhan, Resilience of small ruminants to climate change and increased environmental temperature: A review, Animals 10 (2020) 867.
- [236] D. Araya-Osses, A. Casanueva, C. Román-Figueroa, J.M. Uribe, M. Paneque, Climate change projections of temperature and precipitation in Chile based on statistical downscaling, Clim Dyn 54 (2020) 4309–4330.
- [237] V. Todaro, M. D'Oria, D. Secci, A. Zanini, M.G. Tanda, Climate change over the Mediterranean region: Local temperature and precipitation variations at five pilot sites, Water (Basel) 14 (2022) 2499.
- [238] F. V Davenport, N.S. Diffenbaugh, Using machine learning to analyze physical causes of climate change: A case study of US Midwest extreme precipitation, Geophys Res Lett 48 (2021).
- [239] P. Hosseinzadehtalaei, H. Tabari, P. Willems, Climate change impact on short-duration extreme precipitation and intensity-duration-frequency curves over Europe, J Hydrol (Amst) 590 (2020) 125249.
- [240] H. Tabari, Climate change impact on flood and extreme precipitation increases with water availability, Sci Rep 10 (2020) 13768.
- [241] O. Soydan, Effects of landscape composition and patterns on land surface temperature: Urban heat island case study for Nigde, Turkey, Urban Clim 34 (2020) 100688.
- [242] F. Mukherjee, D. Singh, Assessing land use–land cover change and its impact on land surface temperature using LANDSAT data: A comparison of two urban areas in India, Earth Systems and Environment 4 (2020) 385–407.
- [243] J. Yang, J. Ren, D. Sun, X. Xiao, J.C. Xia, C. Jin, X. Li, Understanding land surface temperature impact factors based on local climate zones, Sustain Cities Soc 69 (2021) 102818.

- [244] Y. Qian, L. Scherer, A. Tukker, P. Behrens, China's potential SO2 emissions from coal by 2050, Energy Policy 147 (2020) 111856.
- [245] Y. Hu, R. Li, L. Du, S. Ren, J. Chevallier, Could SO2 and CO2 emissions trading schemes achieve co-benefits of emissions reduction?, Energy Policy 170 (2022) 113252.
- [246] G. Capasso, G. Gianfrate, M. Spinelli, Climate change and credit risk, J Clean Prod 266 (2020) 121634.
- [247] C. Brand, E. Dons, E. Anaya-Boig, I. Avila-Palencia, A. Clark, A. de Nazelle, M. Gascon, M. Gaupp-Berghausen, R. Gerike, T. Götschi, The climate change mitigation effects of daily active travel in cities, Transp Res D Transp Environ 93 (2021) 102764.
- [248] United Nations (UN), World urbanization prospects, New York, https://population.un.org/wup/default.aspx?aspxerrorpath=/wup/Publications/Files/WU P2018-Report.pdf. (Last Access: February 6, 2024).
- [249] Y. Du, Q. Wan, H. Liu, H. Liu, K. Kapsar, J. Peng, How does urbanization influence PM2. 5 concentrations? Perspective of spillover effect of multi-dimensional urbanization impact, J Clean Prod 220 (2019) 974–983.
- [250] Q. Xie, Z. Zhou, IMPACT OF URBANIZATION ON URBAN HEAT ISLAND EFFECT BASED ON TM IMAGERY IN WUHAN, CHINA., Environmental Engineering & Management Journal (EEMJ) 14 (2015).
- [251] I. Kowarik, L.K. Fischer, D. Kendal, Biodiversity conservation and sustainable urban development, Sustainability 12 (2020) 4964.
- [252] M.L. McKinney, Urbanization, biodiversity, and conservation: the impacts of urbanization on native species are poorly studied, but educating a highly urbanized human population about these impacts can greatly improve species conservation in all ecosystems, Bioscience 52 (2002) 883–890.
- [253] J. Wu, Z. Feng, Y. Peng, Q. Liu, Q. He, Neglected green street landscapes: A reevaluation method of green justice, Urban For Urban Green 41 (2019) 344–353.
- [254] D.J. Nowak, S. Hirabayashi, M. Doyle, M. McGovern, J. Pasher, Air pollution removal by urban forests in Canada and its effect on air quality and human health, Urban For Urban Green 29 (2018) 40–48.

- [255] D.D. Dimitrova, A.M. Dzhambov, Perceived access to recreational/green areas as an effect modifier of the relationship between health and neighbourhood noise/air quality: Results from the 3rd European Quality of Life Survey (EQLS, 2011–2012), Urban For Urban Green 23 (2017) 54–60.
- [256] J. Maas, R.A. Verheij, S. de Vries, P. Spreeuwenberg, F.G. Schellevis, P.P. Groenewegen, Morbidity is related to a green living environment, J Epidemiol Community Health 1978 (2009).
- [257] P. Carrión-Mero, J. Briones-Bitar, F. Morante-Carballo, D. Stay-Coello, R. Blanco-Torrens, E. Berrezueta, Evaluation of slope stability in an urban area as a basis for territorial planning: A case study, Applied Sciences 11 (2021) 5013.
- [258] J. Sun, M. Walters, N. Svensson, D. Lloyd, The influence of surface slope on human gait characteristics: a study of urban pedestrians walking on an inclined surface, Ergonomics 39 (1996) 677–692.
- [259] S. Dai, S. Jin, C. Qian, N. Yang, Y. Ma, C. Liang, Interception efficiency of grate inlets for sustainable urban drainage systems design under different road slopes and approaching discharges, Urban Water J 18 (2021) 650–661.
- [260] R. Tomás, A. Abellán, M. Cano, A. Riquelme, A.J. Tenza-Abril, F. Baeza-Brotons, J.M. Saval, M. Jaboyedoff, A multidisciplinary approach for the investigation of a rock spreading on an urban slope, Landslides 15 (2018) 199–217.
- [261] A.U. Hamurcu, M. Yılmaz, Geostatistical assessment of the built environment and spatiotemporal distribution patterns of COVID-19 cases in Istanbul, Türkiye, Build Environ 243 (2023) 110666.
- [262] F. Şenol, S.P. Öztürk, İ. Atay Kaya, An urban plan evaluation for park accessibility: a case in Izmir (Türkiye), URBAN DESIGN International (2023) 1–14.
- [263] E. Ustaoglu, A.C. Aydınoglu, Site suitability analysis for green space development of Pendik district (Turkey), Urban For Urban Green 47 (2020) 126542.
- [264] G.F.Y. Caymaz, S. Hamameh, Evaluation of aesthetic, functional, and environmental effects on the design of urban open spaces: a case study of Istanbul Sishane Park, Turkey, Journal of Contemporary Urban Affairs 4 (2020) 67–86.
- [265] F. Puente-Sotomayor, A. Egas, J. Teller, Land policies for landslide risk reduction in Andean cities, Habitat Int 107 (2021) 102298.
- [266] R.W.M. Cheung, Landslide risk management in Hong Kong, Landslides 18 (2021) 3457– 3473.
- [267] R.M. Mateos, J. López-Vinielles, E. Poyiadji, D. Tsagkas, M. Sheehy, K. Hadjicharalambous, P. Liscák, L. Podolski, I. Laskowicz, C. Iadanza, Integration of landslide hazard into urban planning across Europe, Landsc Urban Plan 196 (2020) 103740.
- [268] V. Yıldırım, Doğalgaz iletim hatlarının belirlenmesi için coğrafi bilgi sistemleri ile raster tabanlı dinamik bir modelin geliştirilmesi, Doktora Tezi, Karadeniz Teknik Üniversitesi Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Trabzon (2009).
- [269] E. Triantaphyllou, Multi-criteria decision making methods, Springer, 2000.
- [270] S. Drobne, A. Lisec, Multi-attribute decision analysis in GIS: weighted linear combination and ordered weighted averaging, Informatica 33 (**2009**).
- [271] K.P. Yoon, C.-L. Hwang, Multiple attribute decision making: an introduction, Sage publications, 1995.
- [272] J. Malczewski, GIS and multicriteria decision analysis, John Wiley & Sons, 1999.
- [273] B.H. Massam, Spatial search: applications to planning problems in the public sector, Elsevier, 2013.
- [274] T.L. Saaty, Decision making with the analytic hierarchy process, International Journal of Services Sciences 1 (2008) 83–98.
- [275] T. Memişoğlu, H.E. Çolak, Alt Havzaların Çevresel Kirlilik Risk Alanlarının Tespitinde CBS Tabanlı Çok Kriterli Karar Verme Yöntemlerin Uygulanması: Trabzon İli Akçaabat-Düzköy Vadisi Örneği [Application of GIS Based Multi-Criteria Decision Making Methods in Determining Environmental Pollution Risk Areas of Lower Basins: The Case of Trabzon Province Akçaabat-Düzköy Valley], TMMOB Harita ve Kadastro Mühendisleri Odası, 2017.
- [276] T.L. Saaty, L.G. Vargas, Models, methods, concepts & applications of the analytic hierarchy process, Springer Science & Business Media, 2012.

- [277] V. Yıldırım, T. Yomralıoğlu, Coğrafi bilgi sistemleri ile çizgisel mühendislik yapılarında güzergâh optimizasyonu: Doğalgaz iletim hattı örneği, Afyon Kocatepe Üniversitesi Fen ve Mühendislik Bilimleri Dergisi 13 (2013) 1–10.
- [278] D. Guler, T. Yomralioglu, Suitable location selection for the electric vehicle fast charging station with AHP and fuzzy AHP methods using GIS, Ann GIS 26 (**2020**) 169–189.
- [279] J. Ma, N.R. Scott, S.D. DeGloria, A.J. Lembo, Siting analysis of farm-based centralized anaerobic digester systems for distributed generation using GIS, Biomass Bioenergy 28 (2005) 591–600.
- [280] S. Eskandari, A new approach for forest fire risk modeling using fuzzy AHP and GIS in Hyrcanian forests of Iran, Arabian Journal of Geosciences 10 (2017) 1–13.
- [281] X.-G. Li, X. Wei, Q. Huang, Comprehensive entropy weight observability-controllability risk analysis and its application to water resource decision-making, Water SA 38 (2012) 573–580.
- [282] C.E. Shannon, A mathematical theory of communication, The Bell System Technical Journal 27 (1948) 379–423.
- [283] H.-W. Wu, E. Li, Y. Sun, B. Dong, Research on the operation safety evaluation of urban rail stations based on the improved TOPSIS method and entropy weight method, Journal of Rail Transport Planning & Management 20 (2021) 100262.
- [284] Z. Feng, G. Li, W. Wang, L. Zhang, W. Xiang, X. He, M. Zhang, N. Wei, Emergency logistics centers site selection by multi-criteria decision-making and GIS, International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction 96 (2023) 103921.
- [285] Z. Li, Z. Luo, Y. Wang, G. Fan, J. Zhang, Suitability evaluation system for the shallow geothermal energy implementation in region by Entropy Weight Method and TOPSIS method, Renew Energy 184 (2022) 564–576.
- [286] P. Neelakanta, J. Kapur, H. Kesavan, Entropy Optimization Principles with Applications, (1992).
- [287] C. Çetinkaya, M. Erbaş, M. Kabak, E. Özceylan, A mass vaccination site selection problem: An application of GIS and entropy-based MAUT approach, Socioecon Plann Sci 85 (2023) 101376.

- [288] Y. Qin, K. Guan, J. Kou, Y. Ma, H. Zhou, X. Zhang, Durability evaluation and life prediction of fiber concrete with fly ash based on entropy weight method and grey theory, Constr Build Mater 327 (2022) 126918.
- [289] M.D. Davis, Game theory: a nontechnical introduction, Courier Corporation, 2012.
- [290] P. Nagy, GIS in the army of the 21th century, AARMS 3 (2004) 58–600.
- [291] M.N. DeMers, Fundamentals of geographic information systems, John Wiley & Sons, 2008.
- [292] A. Kelly, Decision making using game theory: an introduction for managers, Cambridge University Press, 2003.
- [293] Q. Zou, L. Liao, H. Qin, Fast comprehensive flood risk assessment based on game theory and cloud model under parallel computation (P-GT-CM), Water Resources Management 34 (2020) 1625–1648.
- [294] C. Lai, X. Chen, X. Chen, Z. Wang, X. Wu, S. Zhao, A fuzzy comprehensive evaluation model for flood risk based on the combination weight of game theory, Natural Hazards 77 (2015) 1243–1259.
- [295] J. Peng, J. Zhang, Urban flooding risk assessment based on GIS-game theory combination weight: A case study of Zhengzhou City, International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction 77 (2022) 103080.
- [296] D. Zhu, R. Wang, J. Duan, W. Cheng, Comprehensive weight method based on game theory for identify critical transmission lines in power system, International Journal of Electrical Power & Energy Systems 124 (2021) 106362.
- [297] L. Fu, M. Ding, Q. Zhang, Flood risk assessment of urban cultural heritage based on PSR conceptual model with game theory and cloud model–A case study of Nanjing, J Cult Herit 58 (2022) 1–11.
- [298] G.-H. Tzeng, J.-J. Huang, Multiple attribute decision making: methods and applications, CRC press, 2011.
- [299] J. Malczewski, On the use of weighted linear combination method in GIS: common and best practice approaches, Transactions in GIS 4 (2000) 5–22.

- [300] I.P. Stanimirovic, M.L. Zlatanovic, M.D. Petkovic, On the linear weighted sum method for multi-objective optimization, Facta Acta Univ 26 (2011) 49–63.
- [301] I.Y. Kim, O.L. de Weck, Adaptive weighted sum method for multiobjective optimization: a new method for Pareto front generation, Structural and Multidisciplinary Optimization 31 (2006) 105–116.
- [302] K. Yoon, C.L. Hwang, TOPSIS (technique for order preference by similarity to ideal solution)-a multiple attribute decision making, w: Multiple attribute decision makingmethods and applications, a state-of-the-at survey, Berlin: Springer Verlag, 1981.
- [303] M. Behzadian, S.K. Otaghsara, M. Yazdani, J. Ignatius, A state-of the-art survey of TOPSIS applications, Expert Syst Appl 39 (2012) 13051–13069.
- [304] N. Tüysüz, C. Kahraman, An integrated picture fuzzy Z-AHP & TOPSIS methodology: Application to solar panel selection, Applied Soft Computing Journal 149 (2023) 1568– 4946. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.asoc.2023.110951.
- [305] A. Raha, M. Biswas, S. Mukherjee, Application of TOPSIS model in active tectonic prioritization: Madeira watershed, South America, J South Am Earth Sci 129 (2023) 895– 9811. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsames.2023.104502.
- [306] Y. An, X. Tan, B. Gu, K. Zhu, L. Shi, Z.D.-E. Reports, undefined 2023, An assessment of renewable energy development in Belt and Road Initiative countries: An entropy and TOPSIS approach, Elsevier, https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2352484723001385 (Last Access: December 1, 2023).
- [307] F. Zoma, M.S.- Heliyon, undefined 2023, A multicriteria approach for biomass availability assessment and selection for energy production in Burkina Faso: A hybrid AHP-TOPSIS approach, Cell.ComF Zoma, M SawadogoHeliyon, 2023•cell.Com 9 (2023) 2405–8440. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2023.e20999.
- [308] T.-C. Chu, Selecting plant location via a fuzzy TOPSIS approach, The International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology 20 (2002) 859–864.
- [309] F. Ye, Y. Li, An extended TOPSIS model based on the possibility theory under fuzzy environment, Knowl Based Syst 67 (2014) 263–269.

- [310] Z. Yue, An extended TOPSIS for determining weights of decision makers with interval numbers, Knowl Based Syst 24 (2011) 146–153.
- [311] S. Ramya, V. Devadas, Integration of GIS, AHP and TOPSIS in evaluating suitable locations for industrial development: A case of Tehri Garhwal district, Uttarakhand, India, J Clean Prod 238 (2019) 117872.
- [312] H. Aliani, M. Ghanbari Motlagh, G. Danesh, H. Aliani, Land suitability analysis for urban development using TOPSIS, WLC and ANP techniques (Eastern cities of Gilan-Iran), Arabian Journal of Geosciences 14 (2021) 1–20.
- [313] N. Liladhar Rane, A. Achari, A. Saha, I. Poddar, J. Rane, C.B. Pande, R. Roy, An integrated GIS, MIF, and TOPSIS approach for appraising electric vehicle charging station suitability zones in Mumbai, India, (2023). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scs.2023.104717.
- [314] P. Longley, Geographic information systems and science, John Wiley & Sons, 2005.
- [315] S. Hong, J. Heo, A.P. Vonderohe, Simulation-based approach for uncertainty assessment: Integrating GPS and GIS, Transp Res Part C Emerg Technol 36 (2013) 125–137.
- [316] D.J. Grimshaw, Bringing geographical information systems into business, John Wiley & Sons, 1999.
- [317] M. Başeğmez, Çok Kriterli Karar Verme Yöntemi ve Coğrafi Bilgi Sistemleri Kullanılarak En Uygun Okul Yerlerinin Belirlenmesi: Uşak İli Örneği, Yüksek Lisans Tezi, Karadeniz Teknik Üniversitesi Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü, 2019.
- [318] M. Başeğmez, İ. Taşdemir, Ç. Gül, Eğitim alanlarının yer seçim kriterlerinin belirlenmesinde yaşanan problemler ve çözüm önerileri, TMMOB Harita ve Kadastro Mühendisleri Odası 16 (2017) 188–194.
- [319] H.I. Caner, C.C. Aydin, Shipyard site selection by raster calculation method and AHP in GIS environment, İskenderun, Turkey, Mar Policy 127 (2021) 104439.
- [320] A. Marupov, Application of GIS technologies to implement environmental monitoring of laboratory studies of soils under power transmission lines in the Southern foothills of Fergana region, in: E3S Web of Conferences, EDP Sciences, 2023: p. 04023.

- [321] M. Marzouk, A. Othman, Planning utility infrastructure requirements for smart cities using the integration between BIM and GIS, Sustain Cities Soc 57 (2020) 102120.
- [322] B. Tomaszewski, Geographic information systems (GIS) for disaster management, Routledge, 2020.
- [323] S. Alwedyan, Monitoring Urban Growth and Land Use Change Detection with GIS Techniques In Irbid City, Jordan, International Review for Spatial Planning and Sustainable Development 11 (2023) 253–275.
- [324] A. Faisal, H. Khan, Application of GIS and remote sensing in disaster management: A critical review of flood management, in: International Conference on Disaster Risk Mitigation, 2018.
- [325] V. Gonçalves, A. Albuquerque, P. Carvalho, P. Almeida, V. Cavaleiro, Groundwater vulnerability assessment to cemeteries pollution through GIS-Based DRASTIC index, Water (Basel) 15 (2023) 812.
- [326] J.J. McCarthy, Climate change 2001: impacts, adaptation, and vulnerability: contribution of Working Group II to the third assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge University Press, 2001.
- [327] S. Gavriliev, T. Petrova, P. Miklyaev, E. Karfidova, Predicting radon flux density from soil surface using machine learning and GIS data, Science of The Total Environment 903 (2023) 166348.
- [328] Başeğmez M., Municipal GIS (MGIS), https://www.researchgate.net/publication/341978443_MUNICIPAL_GIS#fullTextFileC ontent (Last Access: February 14, 2024).
- [329] ESRI, What is GIS?, https://www.esri.com/en-us/what-is-gis/overview?rsource=%2Fwhat-is-gis%2Foverview#overview_panel (Last Access: February 14, 2024).
- [330] K. Mouratidis, Bike-sharing, car-sharing, e-scooters, and Uber: Who are the shared mobility users and where do they live?, Sustain Cities Soc 86 (2022) 104161.
- [331] H. Hao, Y. Wang, Disentangling relations between urban form and urban accessibility for resilience to extreme weather and climate events, Landsc Urban Plan 220 (2022) 104352.

[332] T. Campisi, B. Caselli, S. Rossetti, V. Torrisi, The evolution of sustainable mobility and urban space planning: exploring the factors contributing to the regeneration of car parking in living spaces, Transportation Research Procedia 60 (2022) 76–83.

ATTACHMENTS

APPENDIX 1 – SURVEYS

Within the Framework of a Doctoral Thesis Study at the Department of Geomatics Engineering at Hacettepe University, the Impact of Urban Design Criteria on Urban Design is Being Investigated in the Konak District of İzmir

Your Affiliated Institution/Department:

1) Do you find the criteria listed below acceptable?

Criteria	Yes	No		
Climate Change				
Connectivity				
Environment				
Walkability				
Transportation				

2) According to importance, what other criteria not mentioned in the first question would you like to add?

a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)

RATING URBAN DESIGN	FACTORS IN	KONAK	DISTRICT	r													
Note: During the survey evaluation, if criteria such as connectivity and walkability are deemed equally important, they are rated as 1. If connectivity is considered more important than walkability, the importance level is marked on the side of connectivity.																	
Conversely, if walkability is Increasing Importance	s seen as more in	nportant	than con	nectivity, t	the import	ance leve	l is marke	d on the s	side of walkal	bility.	.)						Increasing Importance
Main Criteria	9	8	7	6	5	4	3	2	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9 Evaluation Criteria
Climate Change											•						Connectivity
Climate Change										1							Environment
Climate Change												1					Walkability
Climate Change										2							Transportation
Connectivity								2									Environment
Connectivity									2								Walkability
Connectivity																	Transportation
Enivironment											~						Walkability
Environment												1					Transportation
Walkability							2										Transportation

APPENDIX 2 - PUBLICATIONS DERIVED FROM THE DISSERTATION

Başeğmez, M., & Aydın, C. C. (2021). The Covid-19 pandemic teaching modalities in Turkey: An evaluation of school gardens and classes. Health Policy and Technology, 10(3), 100546. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hlpt.2021.100546